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Plaintiffs,
vs.

Case No. BC649863
[CLASS ACTION]
CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT

NESTLE USA, INC., FERRARA CANDY
CO. and DOES 2 through 10, inclusive,
Defendants.
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This Class Action Settlement Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated the date last signed
below, is made and entered into by and between Class Representatives Jade Thomas, Carey
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1

Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime

2

Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter, and Patrick Ferguson, on behalf of themselves and

3

the Settlement Class, and Defendants Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A.

4

Inc. Subject to the Court’s approval, the Parties hereby stipulate and agree that, in consideration

5

for the promises and covenants set forth in the Agreement and upon the entry by the Court of a

6

Final Approval Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Action shall be settled and

7

compromised upon the terms and conditions contained herein.

8

1.

9
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RECITALS
1.1

On February 9, 2017, Plaintiff Jade Thomas filed the above-captioned class action

10

lawsuit against Defendants Nestle USA, Inc. entitled Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et. al.,

11

Los Angeles Superior Court of California, Case No. BC649863 (“Thomas”). Carey Hoffman was

12

added as a Plaintiff to the litigation on August 17, 2017. Ferrara Candy Co. was added as a

13

Defendant to the litigation on May 15, 2018. Plaintiffs contend, among other things, that

14

Defendants engaged in deceptive and unlawful conduct in packaging the Covered Products in non-

15

transparent, cardboard containers (“theater boxes”), which contain non-functional slack-fill.

16

Plaintiffs contend that Defendants’ misrepresentations give rise to claims for violation of

17

consumer protection law, fraud, breach of warranty, and unjust enrichment.

18

1.2

As of March 2018, Ferrara Candy Co., Ferrero USA, Inc., and certain of their

19

affiliates, acquired the Covered Products from Nestlé USA, Inc. and, as of that date, manufacture

20

and sell the Covered Products.

21

1.3

In addition to Thomas, on May 15, 2020, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim

22

Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter, and Patrick

23

Ferguson filed a similar class action lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of

24

New Jersey against Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A. Inc. entitled Iglesia,

25

et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al., Case No. 3:20-cv-05971-BRM-DEA (“Iglesia”). It is the Parties’

26

intention that subsequent to the entry of the Final Approval Order, Iglesia will be dismissed with

27

prejudice.

28
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1.4







The Parties participated in a mediation on December 1, 2020 in Los Angeles,

California before the Honorable Peter D. Lichtman (Ret.) of Signature Resolution.
1.5

Defendants, while continuing to deny all allegations of wrongdoing and disclaiming

4

any liability with respect to any and all claims, and without admitting the truth of any allegations

5

made in the either the Thomas or Iglesia cases, consider it desirable to resolve the Action on the

6

terms stated herein, in order to avoid the further expense, inconvenience, and interference with

7

ongoing business operations and to dispose of burdensome litigation. Therefore, Defendants have

8

determined that the Settlement of the Action on the terms set forth in this Agreement is in their

9

best interests.

10

1.6

Class Counsel has analyzed and evaluated the merits of all Parties’ contentions and

11

this Agreement as it affects all Parties and the Settlement Class Members. Among the risks of

12

continued litigation is the possibility that Class Representatives will be unable to prove liability,

13

damages, or entitlement to injunctive relief at trial on a class wide or individual basis.

14

1.7

Class Representatives and Class Counsel, after taking into account the foregoing,

15

along with the risks and costs of further litigation, are satisfied that the terms and conditions of

16

this Agreement are fair, reasonable, adequate, and equitable, and that a settlement of the litigation

17

and the prompt provision of effective relief to the Settlement Class are in the best interests of the

18

Settlement Class Members.

19

1.8

Defendants hereby consent, solely for the purposes of the Settlement set forth below

20

to the certification of the Settlement Class and the appointment of Class Counsel and Class

21

Representatives; provided, however, that if this Agreement fails to receive Court approval or

22

otherwise fails to be executed, including but not limited to, the judgment not becoming final as

23

provided in Section 8 of this Agreement, then Defendants retain all rights they had immediately

24

preceding the execution of this Agreement to object to the propriety of class certification in all

25

other contexts and for all other purposes, and Thomas and Iglesia will continue as if the

26

Settlement Class had never been certified. The fact that Defendants conditionally consent herein to

27

certification of the Settlement Class shall not be used against Defendants by any Party or non-

28
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party for any purpose in this litigation or any other action, lawsuit, or proceeding of any kind

2

whatsoever.
1.9

This Agreement is contingent upon the issuance by the Court of both preliminary

4

approval and final approval. Should the Court not issue preliminary approval and final approval,

5

Defendants do not waive, and instead expressly reserve, all rights to defend Thomas and Iglesia.

6
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1.10 This Agreement reflects a compromise between the Parties and shall in no event be

7

construed as or be deemed an admission or concession by any Party of the truth, or lack thereof, of

8

any allegation or the validity, or lack thereof, of any purported claim or defense asserted in any of

9

the pleadings or filings in Thomas or Iglesia, or any fault on the part of Defendants, and all such

10

allegations are expressly denied. Nothing in this Agreement, shall constitute an admission of

11

liability or be used as evidence of liability by or against any Party hereto.

12

2.

DEFINITIONS

13

As used in this Agreement and the related documents attached hereto as exhibits (which are

14

an integral part of the Agreement and are incorporated in their entirety by reference), the terms set

15

forth below shall have the meanings set forth below. Other capitalized terms in this Agreement not

16

defined in this section shall have the meanings ascribed to them elsewhere in this Agreement.

17
18
19

2.1

“Action” means the civil action entitled Thomas, et al. v. Nestle, et al., Case No.

BC649863, currently pending in the Los Angeles County Superior Court.
2.2

“Administrative Costs” means reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Claims

20

Administrator in administering the Settlement as set forth in this Agreement and providing Notice

21

in accordance with the Preliminary Approval Order, not to exceed Five Hundred Thousand

22

Dollars ($500,000), which will be paid out of the Settlement Fund.

23

2.3

“Agreement,” “Class Action Settlement Agreement,” “Settlement Agreement,” or

24

“Settlement,” means this agreement containing all terms, conditions, and exhibits which constitute

25

the entire agreement between the Parties.

26

2.4

“Claim” or “Settlement Claim” means a claim for payment submitted by a

27

Settlement Class Member on a Claim Form to the Claims Administrator as provided in this

28

Agreement.
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“Claim Form” or “Settlement Claim Form” means a claim form, substantially in the

2

form of Exhibit A attached hereto, to be submitted by Settlement Class Members seeking payment

3

pursuant to this Agreement to the Claims Administrator, which form is to be approved by the

4

Court.

5

2.6

“Claimant” means a Settlement Class Member who submits a Claim.

6

2.7

“Claims Administrator” refers to Digital Settlement Group (“DSG”) or other Court

7

approved administrator of Settlement Class Counsel’s choosing retained to administer the

8

Settlement as set forth in this Agreement and providing Notice in accordance with the Preliminary

9

Approval Order.

10

2.8

“Claims Deadline” means the date by which a Claim Form must be received by the

11

Claims Administrator via mail or electronically by 11:59 p.m. pacific standard time to be

12

considered timely and shall be a date no later than thirty (30) days after entry of the Final

13

Approval Order.

14
15
16
17

2.9

“Class Counsel” means Ryan J. Clarkson, Shireen M. Clarkson, Bahar Sodaify, and

Benjamin Heikali, and the law firms of Clarkson Law Firm, P.C. and Faruqi & Faruqi, LLP.
2.10 “Class Period” means the time period between February 9, 2013 through the date the
Preliminary Approval Order is entered.

18

2.11 “Class Representatives” means Jade Thomas, Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry

19

Fertel, Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Maeredith

20

Barter, and Patrick Ferguson.

21

2.12 “Court” means the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles, California.

22

2.13 “Covered Products,” “Products,” or “Settlement Class Products” means all “theater-

23

box” candy products identified in the Action that are manufactured by Defendants and packaged

24

in an opaque cardboard box within the following product lines: Raisinets®, Buncha Crunch®,

25

Butterfinger Bites®, Rainbow Nerds®, SweeTarts®, Spree®, Runts®, Gobstopper®, Sno-Caps®,

26

and Nestlé Toll House® Candy Shop Semi-Sweet Chocolate Morsels. A list providing

27

corresponding UPC codes is attached as Exhibit G.

28
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2.14 “Defendants” mean Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A., Inc.,
as well as their past, present, and future officers, directors, shareholders, employees, predecessors,

3

affiliates, parents, subsidiaries, partners, distributors, principals, insurers, administrators, agents,

4

servants, successors, trustees, vendors, subcontractors, coconspirators, buyers, independent

5

contractors, attorneys, representatives, heirs, executors, experts, consultants, and assigns of all of

6

the foregoing persons and entities.

8
9
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2.15 “Defendants’ Counsel” means Defendants’ counsel of record in the Action, Dale J.
Giali, Keri E. Borders, and the law firm of Mayer Brown LLP.
2.16 “Effective Date” means the first date by which all of the following events shall have

10

occurred: the Court has entered the Final Approval Order and Judgment on the docket in the

11

Action, and (a) the time to appeal from such order has expired and no appeal has been timely filed,

12

(b) if such an appeal has been filed, it has finally been resolved and has resulted in an affirmation

13

of the Final Approval Order and Judgment, or (c) the Court, following the resolution of the appeal,

14

enters a further order or orders approving settlement on the terms set forth therein, and either no

15

further appeal is taken from such order(s) or any such appeal results in affirmation of such order(s)

16

on appeal. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Effective Date shall not occur

17

prior to final resolution of the Fee and Cost Application and any appeals regarding the Fee and

18

Cost Application.

19

2.17 “Fee and Cost Application” means the written motion or application by which the

20

Class Representatives and/or Class Counsel request that the Court approve attorneys’ fees, costs,

21

expenses, and incentive awards to be paid in accordance with the Total Cash Settlement Amount

22

defined below. Neither the pendency of the Fee and Cost Application, nor any appeal pertaining

23

solely to a decision on the Fee and Cost Application, shall in any way delay or preclude the Final

24

Approval Order and Judgment from becoming final.

25

2.18 “Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants” means Ferrara Candy Company, Ferrero USA, Inc., as

26

well as their past, present, and future officers, directors, shareholders, employees, predecessors,

27

affiliates, parents, subsidiaries, partners, distributors, principals, insurers, administrators, agents,

28

servants, successors, trustees, vendors, subcontractors, coconspirators, buyers, independent
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contractors, attorneys, representatives, heirs, executors, experts, consultants, and assigns of all of

2

the foregoing persons and entities.
2.19 “Final Approval Hearing” means the hearing scheduled to take place after the date

4

of entry of the Preliminary Approval Order at which the Court shall: (a) determine whether to

5

grant final approval to this Class Action Settlement Agreement and to certify the Settlement Class;

6

(b) consider any timely objections to this Settlement and all responses thereto; and (c) rule on the

7

Fee and Cost Application.

8
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2.20 “Final Approval Order” means the order in which the Court grants final approval of

9

this Agreement, certifies the Settlement Class, provides for and gives effect to the release of all

10

claims by the Releasing Parties against the Released Parties, and authorizes the entry of a final

11

judgment and dismissal of the Action with prejudice.

12

2.21

“Notice” means the long-form notice substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto,

13

and “Summary Notice,” meaning a document substantially in the form of Exhibit D hereto, to be

14

disseminated in accordance with the Preliminary Approval Order, informing persons who fall

15

within the Settlement Class definition of, among other things, the pendency of the Action, the

16

material terms of the Proposed Settlement, and their options with respect thereto.

17

2.22 “Notice Date” means the date on which the Claims Administrator disseminates the

18

Settlement Notice and Publication Notice consistent with the Preliminary Approval Order. The

19

Notice Date shall be not later than thirty (30) days after the Court’s entry of the Preliminary

20

Approval Order.

21
22
23

2.23 “Notice Plan” means the notice plan developed by the Claims Administrator to
notify the Settlement Class of the Settlement Notice, as approved by the Court.
2.24 “Objection” means an objection properly filed with the Court in conformance with

24

the terms of the Preliminary Approval Order by a member of the Settlement Class, objecting to

25

any aspect of the Settlement.

26

2.25 “Objection Deadline” means sixty (60) days after the Notice Date.

27
28
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“Opt-Out” means a request by a member of the Settlement Class to be excluded

2

from the Settlement Class by following the procedures set forth in the Preliminary Approval Order

3

and the Class Notice.

4

2.27 “Opt-Out Deadline” means sixty (60) days after the Notice Date.

5

2.28 “Parties” means Class Representatives Jade Thomas, Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia,

6

Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso,

7

Maeredith Barter, Patrick Ferguson and Defendants Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and

8

Ferrero U.S.A., Inc. “Party” shall refer to each of them individually.

9
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2.29 “Plaintiffs” means Jade Thomas, Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel,

10

Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Maeredith Barter,

11

and Patrick Ferguson.

12

2.30 “Preliminary Approval Order” means the order in which the Court grants its

13

preliminary approval to this Agreement, preliminarily certifies the Settlement Class, authorizes

14

dissemination of Notice to the Settlement Class, and appoints the Claims Administrator.

15
16
17

2.31 “Proposed Preliminary Approval Order” means the proposed order attached hereto
as Exhibit H.
2.32

“Released Claims” means any and all actual, potential, filed, known or unknown,

18

fixed or contingent, claimed or unclaimed, suspected or unsuspected, asserted or unasserted,

19

claims, demands, liabilities, rights, debts, obligations, liens, contracts, judgments, actions, or

20

causes, whether in law or equity, whether seeking restitution, damages or any other relief

21

(including attorneys’ fees), of any kind or character, known or unknown, that are now recognized

22

by law or that may be created or recognized in the future by statute, regulation, judicial decision,

23

or in any other manner, based upon any federal or state statutory or common law, including,

24

without limitation, claims sounding in tort, contract, and the consumer protection laws of the

25

United States or of any other state, territory or jurisdiction within the United States, as well as

26

under the unfair or deceptive trade practices, trade regulation, consumer fraud, misrepresentation,

27

and false advertising law of the United States or any state, territory or other jurisdiction within the

28

United States that relate to any conduct prior to the date of the Settlement and arise out of the facts
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1

alleged in the Action, including the marketing, advertising, labeling, packaging, or and filling of

2

the Covered Products. Excluded from the Released Claims are any and all claims for personal

3

injury, wrongful death, and/or emotional distress arising from personal injury. With respect to the

4

claims released pursuant to this paragraph, Releasing Parties shall be deemed to have waived and

5

relinquished, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the provisions, rights and benefits of

6

California Civil Code section 1542 (and equivalent, comparable, or analogous provisions of the

7

laws of the United States of America or any state or territory thereof, or of the common law or

8

civil law). Section 1542 provides that:

9
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10
11

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE
CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER
FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF
KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR
HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.

12

The Releasing Parties understand and acknowledge the significant of these waivers of California

13

Civil Code Section 1542 and any other applicable federal or state statute, case law, rule, or

14

regulation relating to limitations on releases. In connection with such waivers and relinquishment,

15

the Releasing Parties acknowledge that they are aware that they may hereafter discover facts in

16

addition to, or different from, those facts that they now know or believe to be true with respect to

17

the subject matter of the Settlement, but that it is their intention to release fully, finally, and

18

forever all Released Claims with respect to the Released Parties, and in furtherance of such

19

intention, the release of the Released Claims will be and remain in effect notwithstanding the

20

discovery or existence of any such additional or different facts. Each and every term of this

21

paragraph shall inure to the benefit of each and all of the Released Parties and Released Persons,

22

and each and all of their respective successors and personal representatives, which persons and

23

entities are intended to be beneficiaries of this paragraph.

24

2.33 “Released Parties” means Defendants, its past, present, and future parent companies,

25

subsidiary companies, affiliated companies, officers, directors, shareholders, employees,

26

predecessors, affiliates, parents, subsidiaries, joint partners, distributors, principals, insurers,

27

administrators, agents, servants, successors, trustees, vendors, subcontractors, coconspirators,

28

buyers, independent contractors, attorneys, representatives, heirs, executors, experts, consultants,
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1

and assigns of all of the foregoing persons and entities, and all suppliers, wholesalers, distributors,

2

and retailers of any Covered Products.

3

2.34 “Releasing Parties” means Plaintiffs and all Settlement Class Members.

4

2.35 “Settlement Class” or “Settlement Class Member” means all persons in the United

5

States of America who purchased one or more of the Covered Products at any time during the

6

Class Period. Excluded from the Settlement Class are any officers, directors, or employees of

7

Defendants, and the immediate family members of any such person. Also excluded is any judge

8

who may preside over the Actions.

9
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2.36 “Settlement Fund” means an amount not to exceed Three Million Seven Hundred

10

Thousand Dollars ($3,700,000) that Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants will pay pursuant to the timelines

11

set forth herein, and that will be used for the payment of (a) Valid Claims; (b) Administrative

12

Costs, not to exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000); (c) any incentive awards to the

13

Class Representatives approved by the Court, not to exceed Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000);

14

(d) attorneys’ fees approved by the Court, not to exceed One Million One Hundred Sixty-Six

15

Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven Dollars ($1,166,667); and (e) litigation costs and expenses

16

approved by the Court. The Settlement Fund represents Defendants’ total financial commitment to

17

the Settlement and they have no other additional financial obligations.

18

2.37 “Settlement Website” means the website to be created for this Settlement that will

19

include information about the Action, the Settlement, and relevant documents and electronic and

20

printable forms relating to the Settlement, including the Claim Form which can be submitted

21

online or printed and mailed, and which Settlement Class Members can visit to read or request

22

additional information regarding the Settlement. The Settlement website URL will be

23

FerraraCandyBoxClassAction.com

24

2.38 “Undertaking” means an undertaking signed by (a) Clarkson Law Firm, P.C.; (b)

25

Ryan J. Clarkson, Esq.; (c) Shireen Clarkson, Esq.; and (d) any attorneys of Clarkson Law Firm,

26

P.C. in their individual capacity who receive a share of such payments, substantially in the form of

27

Exhibit F.

28
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2.39 “Valid Claim” means a claim submitted by a Settlement Class Member that is (a)

2

submitted in accordance with the directions accompanying the Claim Form and the provisions of

3

the Settlement; (b) on the initial submission, accurately, fully, and truthfully completed and

4

executed, with all of the information requested in the Claim Form, by a Settlement Class Member;

5

(c) signed physically or by e-signature by a Settlement Class Member personally, subject to the

6

penalty of perjury; (d) returned via mail and post-marked by the Claims Deadline or, if submitted

7

online, is received by 11:59 p.m., Pacific Standard Time, on the Claims Deadline; and (e)

8

determined to be valid by the Claims Administrator.

9

3.

10
11

CONDITIONAL CERTIFICATION OF SETTLEMENT CLASS AND FILING OF

FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT
3.1

Defendants have denied and continue to deny the material factual allegations and

12

legal claims asserted by Plaintiffs, including any and all charges of wrongdoing or liability arising

13

out of any of the conduct, statements, acts or omissions alleged, or that could have been alleged, in

14

the Action. Defendants also deny that Plaintiffs or any Settlement Class Members were harmed or

15

damaged in any way by the conduct alleged in the Actions. This Agreement is for settlement

16

purposes only, and neither the fact of, nor any provision contained in this Agreement, or any

17

action taken hereunder, shall constitute or be construed as an admission of: (a) the validity of any

18

claim or allegation by Plaintiffs or any defense asserted by Defendants in the Action; or (b) any

19

wrongdoing, fault, violation of law, or liability on the part of any Party, Released Party,

20

Settlement Class Member, or their respective counsel.

21

3.2

Solely for the purpose of effectuating the Settlement set forth in this Class Action

22

Settlement Agreement and subject to Court approval, the Parties stipulate that a Settlement Class

23

shall be certified in accordance with the definition set forth in this Agreement, that the Class

24

Representatives shall represent the Settlement Class for settlement purposes and that Class

25

Counsel shall be appointed as counsel for the Settlement Class. In conjunction with the execution

26

of this Agreement by the Parties, the Parties shall stipulate to file a fourth amended complaint in

27

Thomas in the form attached as Exhibit E.

28
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In the event that the Court declines to enter the Preliminary Approval Order or to

2

grant Final Approval (or enters any order that increases the cost or burden of the Settlement to

3

Defendants beyond what is set forth in this Agreement), the Parties may, but are not required to,

4

modify this Agreement. Such modification shall be binding only if it is in writing and executed by

5

Plaintiffs’ Counsel and Defendants’ Counsel.

6
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3.4

In the event that this Agreement (including the Settlement provided for herein) is not

7

finally approved, or is terminated or cancelled or fails to become effective for any reason

8

whatsoever, the conditional class certification and fourth amended complaint, to which the Parties

9

have stipulated solely for the purpose of the Settlement of the Action, shall be null and void, and

10

the Action shall revert to its status as it existed prior to the date of this Agreement. In such event,

11

neither this Agreement nor any document filed or created in connection with this Settlement may

12

be used as an admission or as evidence for any purpose.

13

4.

14
15

SETTLEMENT CONSIDERATION
4.1

Injunctive Relief
4.1.1 While Defendants maintain that the Covered Products comply with all

16

Federal and State packaging regulations, the Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants will provide injunctive

17

relief designed to provide consumers with objective information regarding the amount of candy

18

contained in the package or with a larger percentage of the package filled with candy. Each of the

19

Ferrara and Ferrero Defendants may choose, in their sole discretion, the specific measures to take

20

to achieve these aims, which may include, for example: (i) including an actual size depiction of an

21

individual piece of the Covered Product’s candy accompanied by the term “actual size” on the

22

product label, (ii) providing a fill line on the product label, (iii) targeting a fill level for the

23

packaging that, measured from the top of the candy, with carton sides held rigid, would be higher

24

than the current fill level, provided that such fill level does not interfere with the functioning of

25

any container reseal mechanism; or (iv) including any other label statement or image, in addition

26

to the net quantity of contents statement, that provides a piece count, volume or amount. For

27

purposes of clarity, each of the Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants may, in their sole discretion,

28

implement different measures to conform with the above. Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants shall
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1

commence manufacture of Covered Products conforming with the above within twelve (12)

2

months after the Effective Date. No later than eighteen (18) months after the Effective Date,

3

Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants will cease manufacturing Covered Products not conforming with the

4

above. In no event shall Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants be required to remove or destroy any non-

5

conforming Covered Products either from their inventory or from the stream of commerce and

6

Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants are expressly entitled to sell-through any existing non-conforming

7

Covered Products and packaging for Covered Products (whether in market or in inventory) during

8

and after this time period. Nothing in this provision shall prevent Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants

9

from taking necessary action to comply with current or future governmental or regulatory

10

requirements.

11

4.1.2 The Parties acknowledge that because (i) Nestlé USA, Inc. no longer

12

manufactures or distributes any of the Covered Products and (ii) Nestlé Toll House® Candy Shop

13

Semi-Sweet Chocolate Morsels have been discontinued and are no longer manufactured or sold,

14

the injunctive relief provided for in Section 4.1.1 is not applicable to Nestlé USA, Inc. and Nestlé

15

USA, Inc. has no future obligations with respect to the packaging of any of the Covered Products.

16

4.1.3 The terms of the injunctive relief set forth herein shall not operate to

17

preclude and/or deprive Defendants of the benefit of changes in applicable statutes, regulations,

18

and binding standards. To the extent that any state and/or federal statute, regulation, policy, and/or

19

code may at any future time impose other, further, different and/or conflicting obligations or

20

duties on Defendants with respect to the Covered Products, this Agreement and any Judgment

21

which may be entered pursuant thereto, as well as the Court’s continuing jurisdiction with respect

22

to implementation and enforcement of the terms of this Agreement, shall be subject to such

23

statute, regulation and/or code as of the effective date of such statute, regulation, and/or code.

24

4.2

Monetary Relief To Settlement Class Members

25

4.2.1 Subject to the rights, terms, and conditions of this Agreement,

26

Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants shall make available the Settlement Fund for payment of: (i) all costs

27

and payments associated with the Notice Plan and administration of the Settlement, including all

28

payments to the Claims Administrator, not to exceed $500,000; (ii) any award of attorneys’ fees
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1

made by the Court to Class Counsel under this Agreement, not to exceed $1,166,667; (iii) any

2

class representative incentive award to the Plaintiffs approved by the Court, not to exceed

3

$20,000; (iv) litigation costs and expenses approved by the Court, and (v) Valid Claims. Under no

4

circumstance shall Defendants total combined financial commitment and obligation under this

5

Agreement exceed Three Million Seven Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,700,000.00). Settlement

6

Class Members, the Class Representatives, and Class Counsel shall be responsible for paying any

7

and all federal, state, and local taxes due on any payments made to them pursuant to the

8

Agreement, if any.

9
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4.2.2 Every Settlement Class Member shall have the right to submit a Claim. A

10

claim shall be a Valid Claim only if submitted on the Claim Form pursuant to, and in compliance

11

with, the procedures set forth herein.

12

4.2.3 At the election of the Settlement Class Member, Claim Forms may be

13

submitted in paper via first class mail or online at the Settlement Website. Claim Forms must be

14

submitted no later than thirty (30) days after Final Approval, and Claim Forms submitted after that

15

date will not be Valid Claims. On the Claim Form and Settlement Website, the Settlement Class

16

Member must certify the truth and accuracy of the following under penalty of perjury:

17

(a)

The Settlement Class Member’s name and physical address;

18

(b)

The Settlement Class Member’s email address, if the Settlement Class Member

19
20

elects to provide that information;
(c)

For each Covered Product purchase on which a claim is submitted:

21

1.

The name of the Covered Product purchased;

22

2.

The quantity purchased;

23

3.

The price paid;

24

4.

The place of purchase;

25

5.

The approximate month and year of purchase; and

26

6.

That the claimed purchases were not made for the purposes of resale.

27

A Claim not complying with all of the elements listed in (c)(1)-(6) above is not a Valid Claim.

28

Only Valid Claims will be paid.
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4.2.4 Settlement Class Members who submit a Valid Claim shall receive Fifty

2

Cents ($0.50) per unit of Covered Product purchased up to a maximum of sixteen units or Eight

3

Dollars ($8.00). If the amount in the Settlement Fund is either less or more than the aggregate

4

amount of the total Valid Claims submitted by Settlement Class Members, the amount of the

5

claims of each Settlement Class Member will be increased or decreased, respectively, pro rata in

6

the event of under-subscription or over-subscription, respectively, of the Settlement Fund. Pro rata

7

upward adjustment of cash claims shall be capped at a multiple of five (5) times a given

8

Settlement Class Member’s claimed amount or $40.00, whichever is lower. A maximum of $40.00

9

shall be paid to any Household for claimed purchases. Checks for Valid Claims will have a 180-

10

day expiration from the time of issuance. Funds for uncashed checks for Valid Claims will remain

11

in an interest-bearing account within the custody of the Claims Administrator. Any unused

12

amounts from the Settlement Fund after checks for Valid Claims are issued and cashed shall be

13

disbursed cy pres to St. Jude, Make-A-Wish Foundation, No Kid Hungry, and America’s Grow A

14

Row. Any residuary remaining within the settlement fund due to uncashed checks shall be

15

allocated with all accumulated interest to the cy pres designees in compliance with Cal. Code of

16

Civ. Proc. Section 384. All signatories to this Agreement declare under penalty of perjury that

17

they do not have and/or are unaware of any financial interest in, or involvement in the governance

18

of, the cy pres recipients, St. Jude, Make-A-Wish Foundation, No Kid Hungry, and America’s

19

Grow A Row, by Class Counsel and Class Representatives.

20
21
22

4.2.5 Valid Claims shall be paid from the Settlement Fund as soon as practicable
but in no event later than ninety (90) days after the Effective Date.
4.2.6 Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants shall not be required to make any part of the

23

Settlement Fund available to the Claims Administrator for payment of Valid Claims until forty-

24

five (45) days after the Effective Date.

25

4.2.7 Adequate and customary procedures and standards will be used by the

26

Claims Administrator to prevent the payment of fraudulent claims and to pay only legitimate

27

claims including requesting additional information from Settlement Class Members (beyond the

28

online claim form), if necessary. The Claims Administrator will follow its ordinary course of
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1

practice regarding approval of claims, subject to all Parties’ right to audit claims and challenge the

2

Claims Administrator’s decision. If the Parties and the Claims Administrator cannot collectively

3

agree how to resolve disputed claims, then such disputes shall be resolved by the Court. Within

4

thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, the Claims Administrator shall email all Settlement Class

5

Members whose claims are denied to state the reasons for denial, at the email address (if any)

6

provided by the Settlement Class Member on the Claim Form. If no email address is provided by

7

the Settlement Class Member on the Claim Form, the Claims Administrator shall not have an

8

obligation to provide the class member any notification of the reasons for denial of the claim. The

9

Claims Administrator’s determination of whether a claim is a Valid Claim, if not disputed by the

10

Parties, shall be final and not subject to further review. No person shall have any claim against

11

Plaintiffs, Defendants, Class Counsel, Defendants’ Counsel or the Claims Administrator based on

12

any determination of a Valid Claim, distributions or awards made in accordance with this

13

Agreement and the Exhibits hereto.

14
15
16

4.2.8 There will be no reversion from the Settlement Fund to Defendants.
5.

ADMINISTRATION OF THE SETTLEMENT
5.1

The Parties shall jointly ask the Court to approve Digital Settlement Group (“DSG”)

17

as a Claims Administrator. The Claims Administrator shall, subject to the supervision of the

18

Court, administer the relief provided by this Agreement by processing Claim Forms in a rational,

19

responsive, cost effective, and timely manner. The Claims Administrator shall maintain

20

reasonably detailed records of its activities under the Agreement. The Claims Administrator shall

21

maintain all such records as are required by applicable law in accordance with its normal business

22

practices and such records will be made available to Class Counsel, Defendants’ Counsel, the

23

Parties, and their representatives promptly upon request.

24

5.2

At the election of the Settlement Class Member, the Claims Administrator shall

25

accept Claim Forms submitted in paper via first class mail or online at the Class Settlement

26

Website. Claim Forms must be received by the Claims Administrator or submitted online no later

27

than the Claims Deadline. Claim Forms received or submitted online after that date will not be

28

Valid Claims. The Claims Administrator will track Claim Forms with unique security identifiers
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1

or control numbers issued to persons who seek to file a Claim. For Claim Forms that are submitted

2

online, the Settlement Class Member shall have the opportunity to preview and confirm

3

information entered into the Claim Form prior to submitting the Claim, and to access a page

4

immediately after the Claim Form has been submitted showing the information entered, and the

5

date and time the Claim Form was received.

6
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5.3

On the Claim Form, the Claims Administrator shall validate that the Settlement

7

Class Member provided and certified the truth and accuracy of the following information under

8

the penalty of perjury, including by signing the Claim Form physically or by e-signature, or the

9

Claim will not be considered a Valid Claim by the Claims Administrator: (a) the Settlement Class

10

Member’s name and mailing address; (b) complete all section of the Claim Form completely,

11

truthfully, and accurately; (c) the Settlement Class Member’s email address (unless the Settlement

12

Class Member requests a claim form by mail, in which case an email address is optional); (d) the

13

name of the Covered Product purchased, the number of units purchased during the Class Period;

14

and the approximate date(s) of purchases; and (e) the claimed purchases were not made for

15

purposes of resale.

16

5.4

The Claims Administrator shall be responsible for, among other things, providing

17

notice as set forth in the Notice Plan (including purchasing print notice and other forms of notice),

18

processing Claim Forms, and administering the Settlement Website, Opt-Out process, and the

19

Settlement claims process described herein (including receiving and maintaining on behalf of the

20

Court and the Parties any Settlement Class Member correspondence regarding requests for Opt-

21

Out from the Settlement Class).

22

5.5

The Claims Administrator will create and maintain the Settlement Website. The

23

Settlement Website will contain the complaint in the Action, the Motion for Preliminary

24

Approval, the Preliminary Approval Order, the Agreement, Settlement Notice, Publication Notice,

25

and Claim Forms. In addition, the Settlement Website will include procedural information

26

regarding the status of the Court-approval process, such as an announcement of the Final

27

Approval Hearing Date, when the Final Approval Order and Judgment have been entered, and

28
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when the Effective Date has been reached. Settlement Class Members will be able to submit their

2

claims electronically via the Class Settlement Website.
5.6

The Claims Administrator shall also provide reports and other information to the

4

Court as the Court may require. The Claims Administrator shall promptly provide Class Counsel

5

and Defendants’ Counsel with information concerning notice, administration, and implementation

6

of the Agreement. Should the Court request, or should it be reasonably advisable to do so, the

7

Parties, in conjunction with the Claims Administrator, shall submit a timely report to the Court

8

summarizing the work performed by the Claims Administrator.

9
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All Administrative Costs, including the costs of Notice and postage, shall be paid out of

10

the Settlement Fund, and shall not exceed $500,000. Administrative Costs shall be inclusive of the

11

costs of the Notice Plan, the Settlement Website, and administering Claim Forms and issuing and

12

delivering cash payments the Settlement Class. Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants shall pay, or cause to

13

be paid, the Administrative Costs to the Claims Administrator as follows: Two Hundred Fifty

14

Thousand Dollars ($250,000) within fourteen (14) days after entry of the Preliminary Approval

15

Order and Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) not later than fourteen (14) days after

16

the Effective Date. The payments shall be subject to the Claims Administrator providing

17

applicable tax I.D. number(s), payment routing information, and invoices for the charges no later

18

than thirty (30) days in advance of the required payments. If the settlement does not receive final

19

approval or does not become effective for any reason, Defendants shall have no obligation to pay

20

the second installment of the Administrative Costs which are due after the Effective Date.

21

6.

22

NOTICE TO THE SETTLEMENT CLASS
6.1

The Parties agree that the Notice shall otherwise be in the manner and form agreed

23

upon by the Parties and approved by the Court. The Notice shall conform to all applicable

24

requirements of the California Code of Civil Procedure and the Constitution of the State of

25

California, and any other applicable Federal and State laws, and shall otherwise be in the manner

26

and form agreed upon by the Parties and approved by the Court. The Notice shall constitute the

27

best notice that is practicable under the circumstances and satisfies due process. The Parties will

28

request the Court to approve the Notice and Notice Plan in the Preliminary Approval Order.
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The Notice Plan will include internet and print notice. The Notice Plan will have a

2

calculated reach of seventy percent (70%) or greater. A true and correct copy of the initial

3

proposal for the Notice Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit B. The Claims Administrator shall

4

prepare a declaration attesting to compliance with the Notice Plan requirements and a statement of

5

the number of persons the Notice Plan reached. Such declaration shall be provided to Defendants’

6

Counsel and Class Counsel and filed with the Court no later than seven (7) days prior to the Final

7

Approval Hearing.

8

6.3

9
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10

No later than thirty (30) days after the Court’s entry of the Preliminary Approval

Order, the Claims Administrator shall provide Notice to the Settlement Class according to the
Notice Plan.

11

6.4

The Settlement Website will terminate (be removed from the internet) and no longer

12

be maintained by the Claims Administrator thirty (30) days after the later of (a) the Effective Date

13

or (b) the date on which the Agreement is terminated or otherwise rejected by a court. The Claims

14

Administrator will then transfer ownership of the URL to Defendants.

15

7.

16

RELEASES
7.1

By executing this Agreement, the Parties acknowledge that, upon the entry of the

17

Final Approval Order by the Court, the passing of the Effective Date, and the Settlement Amount

18

being fully funded, the Action shall be dismissed with prejudice, an order of dismissal with

19

prejudice shall be entered, and all Released Claims shall there-by be conclusively settled,

20

compromised, satisfied, and released as to the Released Parties. Upon the Settlement Amount

21

being fully funded, the Final Approval Order shall provide for and effect the full and final release,

22

by the Releasing Parties of all Released Claims, consistent with the terms of this Agreement.

23

8.

24

PROCEDURES FOR SETTLEMENT APPROVAL
8.1

Promptly after execution of this Agreement, Plaintiffs shall move the Court for entry

25

of the Preliminary Approval Order, subject to changes agreed to by the Parties for accuracy,

26

formatting, or clarity.

27
28
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No fewer than seven (7) days prior to the date set by the Court for the Final

2

Approval Hearing, Plaintiffs shall apply to the Court for entry of the Final Approval Order,

3

subject to changes agreed to by the Parties for accuracy, formatting, or clarity.

4
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8.3

At the Final Approval Hearing, the Parties will jointly request the Court to enter the

5

Final Approval Order, which: (a) grants final approval of the certification of the Settlement Class;

6

(b) designates the Class Representatives; (c) designates Class Counsel conditionally approved in

7

the Preliminary Approval Order; (d) grants final approval to the Settlement and establishes this

8

Agreement as fair, reasonable, and adequate to the Settlement Class; (e) provides for the release of

9

all Released Claims and enjoins the Settlement Class Members from asserting, filing, maintaining

10

or prosecuting any of the Released Claims, (f) orders the entry of judgment for Defendants on all

11

claims, causes of action, and counts alleged in the Action, and incorporates the Releases stated in

12

this Agreement, with each of the Parties to bear its or his own costs and attorneys’ fees, except as

13

provided in Section 10 below; (g) authorizes the payment by Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants of Class

14

Counsel’s Fee Award and Class Representative Award in accordance with Section 10 below and

15

the terms of the Agreement; and (h) preserves the Court’s continuing jurisdiction over the

16

administration of the Settlement and the enforcement of the Agreement.

17

8.4

Objections To The Settlement Agreement

18

8.4.1 Settlement Class Members shall have the right to appear and show cause, if

19

they have any reason why the terms of this Agreement should not be given Final Approval. Any

20

objection to this Agreement, including any of its terms or provisions, must be in writing, with a

21

copy sent to the Claims Administrator at the addresses set forth in the Class Notice, and

22

postmarked no later than the Objection Deadline. Settlement Class Members may object either on

23

their own or through an attorney hired at their own expense. The Court will hear from any Class

24

Member who attends the Final Approval Hearing and asks to speak regarding his or her objection,

25

which shall be stated in the Class Notice.

26
27

8.4.2 If a Settlement Class Member hires an attorney to represent him or her at the
Final Approval Hearing, he or she must do so at his or her own expense.

28
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1

8.4.3 Any objection regarding or related to the Agreement shall contain a caption

2

or title that identifies it as “Objection to Class Settlement in Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et

3

al.” and also shall contain the following information: (i) the objector’s name, address, and

4

telephone number, (ii) the name, address, and telephone number of any attorney for the objector

5

with respect to the objection; (iii) the factual basis and legal grounds for the objection, including

6

any documents sufficient to establish the basis for their standing as a Settlement Class Member,

7

e.g., verification under oath as to the approximate date(s) and location(s) of their purchase(s) of

8

the Covered Products; and (iv) identification of the case name, case number, and court for any

9

prior class action lawsuit in which the objector and the objector’s attorney (if applicable) has

10

objected to a proposed class action Settlement, the general nature of such prior objection(s), and

11

the outcome of said prior objection(s). If an objecting party chooses to appear at the hearing, no

12

later than the Objection Deadline, a notice of intention to appear, either in person or through an

13

attorney, must be filed with the Court and list the name, address, telephone number, facsimile

14

number, and email address of the attorney, if any, who will appear.

15

8.4.4 If a Settlement Class Member wishes to present witnesses or evidence at the

16

Final Approval Hearing in support of a timely and validly submitted objection, all witnesses must

17

be identified in the objection, and true and correct copies of all supporting evidence must be

18

appended to, or filed and served with, the objection. Failure to identify witnesses or provide

19

copies of supporting evidence in this manner waives any right to introduce such testimony or

20

evidence at the Final Approval Hearing. While the declaration described above is prima facie

21

evidence that the objector is a member of the Settlement Class, Class Representative or Defendant

22

or both may take discovery regarding the matter, subject to Court approval.

23

8.4.5 Class Counsel and Defendants shall have the right, but not the obligation, to

24

respond to any timely-filed objection no later than seven (7) days prior to the Final Approval

25

Hearing. The Settling Party so responding shall file a copy of the response with the Court, and

26

shall serve a copy, by regular mail, hand or overnight delivery, to the objector (or counsel for the

27

objector) and to counsel for Class Representative and Defendants.

28
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Opt-Outs
8.5.1 Any Settlement Class Member who does not wish to participate in this

3

Agreement must make a Request for Exclusion in writing to the Claims Administrator stating an

4

intention to be “excluded” from this Class Action Settlement Agreement by the Opt-Out Deadline.

5

This written Request for Exclusion must be sent via first class United States mail to the Claims

6

Administrator at the address set forth in the Class Notice and postmarked no later than the Opt-

7

Out Deadline. The Request for Exclusion must be personally signed by the Settlement Class

8

Member. So-called “mass” or “class” opt-outs shall not be allowed. A Settlement Class Member

9

who timely submits a valid Request for Exclusion pursuant to this paragraph shall not be a

10

Settlement Class Member and shall not be considered a party to this Action for any purpose.

11

8.5.2 Any Settlement Class Member, including a Settlement Class Member who

12

has objected to the Settlement as set forth in Paragraphs 8.4.1 to 8.4.5.5 above, who has not timely

13

requested exclusion from the Settlement will be bound by the terms of the Agreement and by all

14

proceedings, orders and judgments in the Action.

15

8.5.3 At least seven (7) calendar days prior to the Final Approval Hearing, Class

16

Counsel shall prepare or cause the Claims Administrator to prepare a list of the persons who have

17

excluded themselves in a valid and timely manner from the Settlement Class (the “Opt-Outs”),

18

and Class Counsel shall file that list with the Court.

19

8.5.4 Defendants shall have the right to withdraw from this Settlement if the total

20

number of Opt-Outs exceeds One Thousand (1,000) Settlement Class Members. Defendants agree

21

not to make or cause to be made any statements or pronouncements to discourage Settlement

22

Class Member participation in the Settlement.

23

9.

24

ATTORNEYS’ FEES, COSTS, AND EXPENSES, AND SERVICE AWARDS
9.1

No later than fourteen (14) days before the deadline for objection to the Settlement,

25

Class Counsel may apply to the Court for award of attorneys’ fees not to exceed One Million One

26

Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven Dollars ($1,166,667), plus litigation costs

27

and expenses. This amount will be paid out of the Settlement Fund and Defendants shall have no

28

obligation otherwise to pay any portion of Plaintiffs’ or Class Counsel’s fees, costs, or expenses.
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1

Such attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses, if approved by the Court, shall be payable within thirty

2

(30) days following the Court’s entry of the Final Approval Order and fee award, notwithstanding

3

any appeal, subject to Class Counsel providing applicable tax I.D. number(s), W-9 forms, and

4

providing payment routing information.

5
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9.2

If the Final Approval Order and Judgment or any part of it is vacated, overturned,

6

reversed, or rendered void as a result of an appeal, or the Settlement Agreement is voided,

7

rescinded, or otherwise terminated for any other reason, or the Court’s award of attorney fees,

8

costs or expenses is reduced on appeal or otherwise prior to the Effective Date, then within forty-

9

five (45) days of such event, Class Counsel shall return to Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants all

10

attorneys’ fees, costs, and other payments received by Class Counsel under this paragraph and this

11

Agreement, in amounts proportionate to payments received from Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants,

12

respectively. The following persons and/or entities shall be jointly and severally liable for the

13

return of such payments to Ferrara/Ferrero Defendants : (a) Clarkson Law Firm, P.C.; (b) Ryan J.

14

Clarkson, Esq.; (c) Shireen Clarkson, Esq.; and (d) any attorneys of Clarkson Law Firm, P.C. in

15

their individual capacity who receive a share of such payments. To effectuate this provision,

16

Clarkson Law Firm, P.C. and each individual attorney or other law firm who receives a share of

17

payments made under this paragraph shall execute an Undertaking in the form attached as Exhibit

18

F hereto prior to receiving such funds. The Undertaking described under this paragraph shall

19

expire upon the Effective Date.

20

9.3

Class Counsel and Plaintiffs agree that the denial of, reduction or downward

21

modification of, or failure to grant any application for attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses or

22

incentive awards shall not constitute grounds for modification or termination of this Agreement,

23

including the Settlement and releases provided for herein.

24

9.4

Plaintiffs may apply to the Court for a total incentive award of Twenty Thousand

25

Dollars ($20,000) for their service as named Plaintiffs and putative class representatives, as

26

follows: $5,000 each for Plaintiffs Thomas and Hoffman; $2,000 for Plaintiff Iglesia; and $1,000

27

each for the remaining Plaintiffs. The amount of the incentive award ordered by the Court shall be

28

paid by the Claims Administrator out of the Settlement Fund within forty-five (45) days after the
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Effective Date, subject to the prior delivery to Defendants of tax I.D. number(s), W-9 forms, and

2

address for delivery for each individual receiving such award.

3

10.

5

CONDITIONS FOR EFFECTIVE DATE; EFFECT OF TERMINATION
10.1 The Effective Date of this Class Action Settlement Agreement shall be the date as

defined in Paragraph 1.18.

6
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10.2 If this Agreement is not approved by the Court or the Settlement is terminated or

7

fails to become effective in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Parties will be

8

restored to their respective positions in the Actions as of the date the Motion for Preliminary

9

Approval of this Agreement is filed. In such event, the terms and provisions of this Agreement

10

will have no further force and effect with respect to the Parties and will not be used in either

11

Action or in any other proceeding for any purpose, and any Judgment or order entered by the

12

Court in accordance with the terms of this Agreement will be treated as vacated. Court Approval

13

of Class Counsel’s Fee Award will not be a condition of the Settlement. If the Court denies, in

14

whole or part, Class Counsel’s Application for a Fee Award, the remainder of the terms of this

15

Agreement shall remain in effect.

16

11.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

17

11.1 The Parties acknowledge that it is their intent to consummate this Agreement, and

18

they agree to cooperate to the extent reasonably necessary to effectuate and implement all terms

19

and conditions of this Agreement and to exercise their best efforts to accomplish the foregoing

20

terms and conditions of this Agreement.

21

11.2 The Parties intend the Settlement to be a final and complete resolution of all disputes

22

between them with respect to the Action. The Settlement compromises claims that are contested

23

and will not be deemed an admission by any Party as to the merits of any claim or defense. The

24

Parties agree that the consideration provided to the Settlement Class and the other terms of the

25

Settlement were negotiated in good faith by the Parties, and reflect a Settlement that was reached

26

voluntarily after consultation with competent legal counsel.

27
28

11.3 Neither this Agreement nor the Settlement, nor any act performed or document
executed pursuant to or in furtherance of this Agreement or the Settlement, or any fees or costs
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1

approved or awarded by the Court is or may be deemed to be or may be used as an admission of,

2

or evidence of, the validity of any Released Claims, or of any wrongdoing or liability of

3

Defendants; or is or may be deemed to be or may be used as an admission of, or evidence of, any

4

fault or omission of Defendants in any civil, criminal, or administrative proceeding in any court,

5

administrative agency or other tribunal. Any party to this Action may file this Agreement and/or

6

the Final Approval Order and Judgment in any action that may be brought against it in order to

7

support any defense or counterclaim, including without limitation those based on principles of res

8

judicata, collateral estoppel, release, good faith settlement, judgment bar or reduction, or any other

9

theory of claim preclusion or issue preclusion or similar defense or counterclaim.

10

11.4 All orders, agreements and designations regarding the confidentiality of documents

11

and information (“Protective Orders”) remain in effect, and all Parties and counsel remain bound

12

to comply with the Protective Orders, including the provisions to certify the destruction of

13

“Confidential” documents.

14
15
16

11.5 Any and all Exhibits to this Agreement are material and integral parts hereof and are
fully incorporated herein by this reference.
11.6 This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed

17

by or on behalf of all Parties or their respective successors-in-interest. The Agreement and any

18

Exhibits attached hereto constitute the entire agreement among the Parties, and no representations,

19

warranties, or inducements have been made to any Party concerning this Agreement or its Exhibits

20

other than the representations, warranties, and covenants covered and memorialized in such

21

documents. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Parties will bear their own respective costs.

22

11.7 Class Counsel, on behalf of the Settlement Class, are expressly authorized by the

23

Class Representative to take all appropriate actions required or permitted to be taken by the

24

Settlement Class pursuant to this Agreement to effectuate its terms, and are expressly authorized

25

to enter into any modifications or amendments to this Agreement on behalf of the Settlement

26

Class that Class Counsel deem appropriate.

27
28

11.8 Each counsel or other Person executing this Agreement or any of its Exhibits on
behalf of any Party hereby warrants that such Person has the full authority to do so.
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11.9 This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and may be executed

2

using electronic signatures. All executed counterparts will be deemed to be one and the same

3

instrument. The parties further agree that electronic signatures and signatures provided by portable

4

document format (PDF) or other electronic transmission shall have the same force and effect as

5

original signatures.

6

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
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11.10 This Agreement will be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the Parties and

7

their respective direct and indirect parent companies, predecessor entities, successor entities,

8

related companies, direct and indirect subsidiaries, holding entities, past and present affiliates,

9

franchisees, distributors, wholesalers, retailers, advertising and production agencies, licensors and

10

agents, including all current and former officers, directors, managers, members, partners, owners,

11

employees, shareholders, consultants, attorneys’ legal representative, insurers, agents, assigns, or

12

other equity interest holders of any of the foregoing, and their heirs, executors, administrators and

13

assigns. All Released Parties other than Defendants, which are a Party, are intended to be third-

14

party beneficiaries of this Agreement.

15

11.11 Except as provided herein, the Court will retain jurisdiction with respect to

16

implementation and enforcement of the terms of this Agreement, and all parties hereto submit to

17

the jurisdiction of the Court for purposes of implementing and enforcing the Settlement.

18

11.12 None of the Parties, or their respective counsel, will be deemed the drafter of this

19

Agreement or its Exhibits for purposes of construing the provisions thereof. The language in all

20

parts of this Agreement and its Exhibits will be interpreted according to its plain meaning, and

21

will not be interpreted for or against any of the Parties as the drafter thereof.

22

11.13 This Agreement and any Exhibits hereto will be construed and enforced in

23

accordance with, and governed by, the internal, substantive laws of the State of California without

24

giving effect to that State’s choice-of-law principles.

25

11.14 The time periods and/or dates described in this Agreement with respect to the giving

26

of notices and hearings are subject to approval and change by the Court or by the written

27

agreement of Class Counsel and Defendants’ Counsel, without notice to Settlement Class

28

Members. The Parties reserve the right, by agreement and subject to the Court’s approval, to
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1

grant any reasonable extension of time that might be needed to carry out any of the provisions of

2

this Agreement. If the date for performance of any act required by or under this Agreement falls

3

on a Saturday, Sunday, or court holiday, that act may be performed on the next business day with

4

the same effect as if it had been performed on the day or time specified by this Agreement.

5
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Malibu, CA 90265



11.15 Neither Party will release any public statements regarding this Agreement or its

6

terms, nor contact any member of the Settlement Class in an effort to induce them to file claims

7

or not to file claims. None of Plaintiffs, Class Counsel, or the Claims Administrator shall make

8

any public statements or disclose to anyone the total number of claims made or the total payout of

9

Claims in dollars or any other measure.

10

11.16 Class Counsel and Defendants’ Counsel agree to stay all proceedings, other than

11

those proceedings necessary to carry out or enforce the Settlement, until the Effective Date. If,

12

despite the Parties’ best efforts, this Agreement should fail to become effective, the Parties will

13

return to their prior positions in the Action. The Parties also agree to seek the delay and dismissal

14

with prejudice of, and to oppose entry of any interim or final relief in favor of any Settlement

15

Class Member in, any other proceedings against the Released Parties, which challenges the

16

Settlement or otherwise asserts or involves, directly or indirectly, a Released Claim.

17

11.17 Neither party shall be held liable or responsible to the other party or to the Class, nor

18

be deemed to have defaulted under or breached this Agreement for failure or delay in fulfilling or

19

performing any obligation under this Agreement if it is altogether prevented or delayed in

20

performing those obligations by an event of force majeure. An event of force majeure, as used in

21

this paragraph, is an event or circumstance which is beyond the control and without the fault or

22

negligence of the party affected and which by the exercise of reasonable diligence the party

23

affected was unable to foresee and prevent provided that event or circumstance is limited to the

24

following: war (whether declared or not), armed conflict or the serious threat of the same

25

(including but not limited to hostile attack, blockade, military embargo), hostilities, invasion, act

26

of a foreign enemy, extensive military mobilization; civil war, riot, rebellion, revolution, military

27

or usurped power, insurrection, civil commotion or disorder, mob violence, act of civil

28

disobedience; act of terrorism, sabotage or piracy; plague, epidemic, pandemic, outbreaks of
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1

infectious disease or any other public health crisis, including quarantine or other restrictions;

2

compliance with any law or governmental order, rule, regulation or direction, curfew restriction,

3

expropriation, compulsory acquisition, seizure of works, requisition, nationalization; act of God or

4

natural disaster such as but not limited to cyclone, typhoon, hurricane, tornado, blizzard,

5

earthquake, volcanic activity, landslide, tidal wave, tsunami, flood, damage or destruction by

6

lightning, drought; explosion, fire, destruction of machines, equipment, factories and of any kind

7

of installation, prolonged break-down of transport, telecommunication or electric current; general

8

labor disturbance such as but not limited to boycott, strike and lock-out, go-slow, occupation of

9

factories and premises; shortage or inability to obtain critical material or supplies to the extent not

10

subject to the reasonable control of the subject Party (“Force Majeure Event”). This provision

11

shall become effective only if the Party failing to perform notifies the other party within a

12

reasonable time of the extent and nature of the Force Majeure Event, limits delay in performance

13

to that required by the Force Majeure Event, and takes all reasonable steps to minimize damages

14

and resume performance. Performance delayed or impossible to perform due to the Force Majeure

15

Event shall resume as soon as that aspect of the Force Majeure Event as subsided. The Parties

16

agree that the circumstances of the COVID19 pandemic as presently known to exist will not delay

17

or make impossible performance under this Agreement.

18
19



DATED: August ___, 2021

20
21
22
23
24



DATED: August ___, 2021

27

____________________________
Carey Hoffman



DATED: August ___, 2021

25
26

____________________________
Jade Thomas

____________________________
Regan Iglesia



DATED: August ___, 2021

____________________________
Larry Fertel

28
Page 27 of 30

CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

    









1
2
3

DATED: August ___, 2021


DATED: August ___, 2021

4
5
6
7
8

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

9
10
11

____________________________
Nosson Chaim Rosenberg
____________________________
Suzanne Tatkow



DATED: August ___, 2021


DATED: August ___, 2021

____________________________
Jaime Maxwell
____________________________
Lauren Debeliso



DATED: August ___, 2021

____________________________
Meredith Barter



DATED: August ___, 2021

____________________________
Patrick Ferguson

DATED: August ___, 2021

____________________________
Nestle USA, Inc.

12
13
14
15
16

By:_________________________

17

Its:_________________________

18
19
20
21

DATED: August ___, 2021

____________________________
Ferrara Candy Company

22
23
24

By:_________________________
Its:_________________________

25
26
27
28
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DATED: August ___, 2021



____________________________
Ferrara Candy Company

2
3

By:_________________________

4

Its:_________________________

5
6
7

DATED: August ___, 2021

8

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

9

____________________________
Ferrero U.S.A., Inc.
By:_________________________

10

Its:_________________________

11
12
13
14

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

15
16



DATED: August __, 2021

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

17
18

__________________________
Ryan J. Clarkson, Esq.
Shireen M. Clarkson, Esq.
Bahar Sodaify, Esq.
Zach Chrzan, Esq.

19
20
21


22

DATED: August __, 2021

FARUQI & FARUQI, LLP

23
24
25
26

__________________________
Benjamin Heikali, Esq.
10866 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1470
Los Angeles, CA 90024
Tel: (424) 256-2884
Fax: (424) 256-2885

27
28

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed
Settlement Class
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2

DATED: August __, 2021

MAYER BROWN LLP

3

5

___________________________
Dale J. Giali, Esq.
Keri E. Borders, Esq.

6

Attorneys for Defendants

4

7
8

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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EXHIBIT $
&ODLP)RUP

,QVWUXFWLRQV

6HWWOHPHQW$JUHHPHQW
7KRPDVHWDOY1HVWOH86$,QFHWDO
&DVH1R%&

Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al. Case No. BC649863
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGLES
Settlement Proof of Claim Form

If you purchased a cardboard box of Raisinets®, Buncha Crunch®, Butterfinger Bites®, Tollhouse Semi-Sweet Chocolate Morsels®,
Rainbow Nerds®, SweeTarts®, Spree®, Gobstopper®, Sno-Caps®, and Runts® candy, in any flavor or variety (the “Class Products”),
you may be eligible to participate in the benefits of the proposed settlement in Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al. To participate,
you must fill this claim form out completely and either (i) mail it to the address given below, or (ii) submit it online through the Settlement
website below. This Claim form must be postmarked or electronically filed no later than ______ 2021. If you provide incomplete or
inaccurate information, your claim may be denied.

•
•

•
•

Please read the full notice of this settlement (available at www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com) carefully before filling out this
Form.
To be eligible to receive any benefits from the settlement obtained in this class action lawsuit, you must complete or submit your claim
form online or by mail:
ONLINE: Visit www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com and submit your claim online; or
MAIL: Ferrara Boxed Candy Class Action Settlement Claims Administrator, 8001 Broadway, Suite 200, Merrillville, IN 46410.
Keep a copy of your completed Claim Form for your records. Any documents you submit with your Claim Form cannot be returned.
If your claim is rejected for any reason, the Claims Administrator will notify you of the rejection and the reasons for such rejection.
PART A: CLAIMANT INFORMATION

FIRST NAME

LAST NAME

STREET ADDRESS

STREET ADDRESS 2

CITY

EMAIL ADDRESS

STATE

ZIP CODE

PHONE NUMBER

PART B: PURCHASE INFORMATION
•

To be eligible for a payment you must not have previously received a refund for your purchase of the Class Product.
a. If you complete this Claim Form under penalty of perjury, you will receive Fifty Cents ($0.50) per unit of Covered Product purchased
up to a maximum of sixteen units or Eight Dollars ($8.00).
b. If the amount in the Settlement Fund is either less or more than the aggregate amount of the total Valid Claims submitted by Settlement
Class Members, the amount of the claims of each Settlement Class Member will be increased or decreased, respectively, pro rata in the
event of under-subscription or over-subscription, respectively, of the Settlement Fund. Pro rata upward adjustment of cash claims shall
be capped at a multiple of five (5) times a given Settlement Class Member’s claimed amount or $40.00, whichever is lower. A maximum
of $40.00 shall be paid to any Household for claimed purchases. Any unused amounts from the Settlement Fund after checks for Valid
Claims are issued and cashed shall be disbursed cy pres to St. Jude, Make-A-Wish Foundation, No Kid Hungry, and America’s Grow
A Row.

•

Please fill out the chart below identifying the purchase transaction(s) for which you are making a claim:

Identify Class Products you purchased in the United States between February 9, 2013 and [DATE OF PRELIM APPROVAL], along with the
other requested information in the chart below:

NAME OF
PRODUCT
PURCHASED

QUANTITY
PURCHASED

PRICE PAID

PLACE OF
PURCHASE

APPROXIMATE
MONTH AND
YEAR OF
PURCHASE

PURCHASE NOT
MADE FOR
PURPOSE OF
RESALE (Yes/No)

If you are submitting this Claim Form by mail, please mail a copy of your receipt(s) memorializing the purchase of the Class
Products along with this Claim Form to Ferrara Boxed Candy Class Action Claims Administrator, 8001 Broadway, Suite 200,
Merrillville, IN 46410.
*Submission of false or fraudulent information will result in the claim being rejected in its entirety.
PART C: ATTESTATION UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that I purchased the products listed between February 9,
2013 and [DATE OF THE PRELIMINARY APPROVAL ORDER] that all of the information on this Claim Form is true and correct to the
best of my knowledge. I understand that my Claim Form may be subject to audit, verification, and Court review and that I may be required to
provide additional information to establish that my claim is valid. I also understand that by submitting this claim, I am releasing all Released
Claims, as detailed in the Notice of the Proposed Class Action Settlement.

SIGNATURE

DATE
CLAIM FORM REMINDER CHECKLIST

1
2
3
4
5
6

Before submitting this Claim Form, please make sure you:
Complete all fields in the Claimant Information section of this Claim Form in Part A.
Complete Part B by providing the requested information.
Sign the Attestation under penalty of perjury in Part C. You must sign the Attestation to be eligible to receive benefits.
Keep a copy of your Claim Form and supporting documentation for your records.
If you desire an acknowledgment of receipt of your Claim Form, please complete the online Claim Form or mail this Claim Form
via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested.
If you move or your name changes, please email your new address, new name or contact information to
info@FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com or mail to the Ferrara Boxed Candy Class Action Claims Administrator, 8001
Broadway, Suite 200, Merrillville, IN 46410, or call toll-free at 1-877-452-8477.
Please keep a copy of your Claim Form for your records.

EXHIBIT %
&ODLP$GPLQLVWUDWRU V1RWLFH3ODQ
Settlement Agreement
7KRPDVHWDOY1HVWOH86$,QFHWDO
Case No. %&

CLASS NOTICE AND ADMINISTRATION
1.

The key purpose of this document is to provide the Court with Digital Settlement Group’s qualifications

and experience regarding this Class Action Notice Plan and to provide additional details and background on
what will be executed per the Service Agreement.
2.

As the Class Action Settlement Administrator for the Settlement, our duties and responsibilities for

administering the Settlement includes the following (1) arranging for the distribution of the Class Notice and
Claim Forms to Settlement Class Members; (2) arranging for publication of the Publication Notice; (3)
answering written inquiries from Settlement Class Members and/or forwarding such inquiries to Class
Counsel or their designee; (4) receiving and maintaining on behalf of the Court and the Parties any Settlement
Class Member correspondence regarding requests for exclusion to the Settlement; (5) establishing the
Settlement Website that posts notices, Claim Forms and other related documents; (6) establishing a toll-free
telephone number; (7) receiving and processing claims; (8) submitting a declaration attesting to the
dissemination of the Class Notice and the number of claims received; (9) providing weekly reporting to
Counsel throughout the noticing and claims process to allow for thorough oversight.
EXPERIENCE
3.

Digital Settlement Group has served as a court-approved notice provider in over dozens of state and

federal court class actions and has worked in the class action category for over ten years and provided
expertise in Internet notice to some of the largest class action administration companies in the industry,
including the following class actions: Keller v. Gaspari Nutrition, No. CV11-06158 (U.S. Dist. Ct., Central
Dist. Cal.); Taromina, v. Gaspari Nutrition, No. CV12-05424 (U.S. Dist. Ct., Central Dist. Cal.); Wike v.
HCG Platinum, LLC, No. BC451080 (Los Angeles County Superior Court). More recently, we managed
notice and administration for Garcia v. Iovate Health Sciences USA Inc. (Santa Barbara Superior Court)
(National indirect purchaser class of a consumer product at retail); Iglesias v. Ferrara Candy Company, No.
3:17-cv-00849-VC (District Court for the Northern District of California) (National purchaser class of opaque
theater candy box products at retail); and Mateski, et al. v. Just Born, Inc., Case No. CIVDS1926742,
(Superior Court of California for the County of San Bernardino) (National purchaser class of opaque theater
candy box products at retail).
4.

In approving In Re: Wellnx Marketing & Sales Practices (a national, 18 state multidistrict class action

litigation with a substantial indirect purchaser class), the Court noted: “the effort to provide notice to the class
went well beyond what due process would require at its minimum. In fact, it was both an intelligent and
effusive, if I can use that word, notification process, which has given me new some ideas for similar cases in
the future for the proper way of giving notice in a case like this where it is hard to otherwise ascertain the

identity of the class members.”
5.

Additionally, Digital Settlement Group has over twenty years of marketing experience with a

specialty in television and Internet advertising, including managing the official online sites for 20 th Century
Fox on behalf of News Corporation from 1993 to 1996. Our founders have served as a marketing consultant
to a variety of consumer product companies, where responsibilities included creative directing national
marketing campaigns and producing and directing national television commercials (which have been featured
in trade magazines, like Advertising Age, and generated hundreds of millions of dollars in retail revenue).
Digital Settlement Group personally managed tens of millions of dollars in Internet advertising for consumer
products. Due to the extensive Internet marketing experience, our area of specialty is providing class notice in
cases where the identities of individual Class Members is not known, including classes comprised of
purchasers of consumer products. See Arreguin v. Telebrands, No. CIVRS1307798 (Superior Court of
California, San Bernardino County) (Indirect purchaser class of nationwide Pocket Hose consumer product.);
and Eggnatz et al v. The Kellogg Company et al, S.D. Fla., Case No. 1:12-cv-21678. (Indirect purchaser class
of nationwide Kashi products with no direct mail component.)
OVERVIEW OF THE NOTICE PLAN
6.

This Litigation1 involves Products sold predominantly at movie theater locations and retail, so the

identity of purchasing Class Members is not readily known. In such cases, Internet and publication notice is
the best way to inform Class Members about the Settlement. Digital Settlement Group relies heavily on
recommendations from the Federal Judicial Center's Judges’ Class Action Notice and Claims Process
Checklist and Plain Language Guide (“Claims Guide”) in designing its notice plans.
7.

DSG developed a comprehensive notice program consisting of efficient media vehicles with the

objective of reaching a substantial portion of Class Members. A detailed breakout of the notice plan is
outlined in the Service Agreement. DSG believes this provides the best practicable methods to reach potential
class members and has seen successful results in similar plans with similar class members.
8.

Before any of the notices begin, DSG will review all materials and work with Counsel to help comply

with Claims Guide recommendations and timelines. All the advertisements will direct potential Class
Members to the Settlement Website, where they will be able to download all important documents, review
frequently asked questions, and file a claim either online and/or postal as stated in the agreement.

1

All defined terms contained herein shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Settlement

Agreement and Release between the parties.

Administration will notify claimants of any missing or invalid claim information after the Approval Hearing.
The print advertisements will also have address and phone in case individuals cannot access a computer. A
toll-free number with an Interactive Voice Response (“IVR”) system will also be available to answer
potential questions.
9.

One of the concerns noted in the Claims Guide is that claims administrators are “often accountants by

training and may lack personal knowledge or the training to conduct reach analyses.” Digital Settlement
Group, however, has extensive expertise in marketing and media-planning that is essential to conducting
reach analysis that has been approved by Courts in similar cases with a large indirect purchaser class.
10.

The notice plan is supported by “unbiased evidence supporting the plan's adequacy”2 as

recommended by the Claims Guide. DSG uses data from industry-standard reporting tools GfK MRI and
comScore. GfK MRI is part of the GfK Group, the fourth largest market research organization worldwide.
They’re a leader in supplying the audience data for almost all national print campaigns in the country and
their Survey of the American Consumer produces one of the country's largest and most current database of
consumer behavior, media usage and consumer motivations. comScore is the leading cross-platform
measurement company that provides independent data, metrics, products and services to clients in the media,
advertising and marketing industries. They provide digital media analytics that help advertisers understand the
composition, reach, and frequency of consumer media audiences. The accuracy of reporting from both GfK
MRI and comScore has been approved by Courts in previous notice plans we’ve developed.
11.

Our notice programs create the best practicable plan because they are designed in the same way a

company would design an advertising campaign to sell that very same product. Specifically, we used industry
standard advertising tools to identify media properties where purchasers of candy were most likely to be
located. In addition, the methods used have been approved in multiple cases with a substantial indirect
purchaser class (See Arreguin v. Telebrands and Eggnatz et al v. The Kellogg Company).
SETTLEMENT WEBSITE
12.

Digital Settlement Group will create and maintain a dedicated web site for the Class Members to

learn about the Settlement. It will feature the ability to download all relevant documents (in industry standard
PDF format), including Claim Forms, Important Dates, Frequently Asked Questions, Long Form Notice, and
the Short Form notice. The site will be designed for broad compatibility with browsers and platforms using
best practices.

2

See Claims Guide.

13.

All traffic to the site will be monitored with proprietary fraud detection systems, similar to those used

on e-commerce platforms, to help ensure legitimate Class Members receive the maximum benefit. A 3rd
party monitoring service will check the site at regular intervals to ensure the site is functioning properly and,
if required, provide an independent report on the total up-time of the site. The Settlement Web Site will be
updated in a timely manner, based upon the Court-approved schedule. For example, when the deadline for
filing a claim has passed, that option will be removed from the site.

CONSUMER PUBLICATION
14.

Print publications were selected for their efficiency and reach with the targeted class. While the Internet

has a high saturation of consumer product customers (and continues to grow), a targeted print publication
element has been proposed to ensure potential class members with limited Internet access or usage aren't
neglected. To develop the print notice, both proprietary data from previous notice plans and GfK MRI was used
to evaluate the reach to the class. As noted earlier, the goal of the campaign is to reach the defined class. In
addition to raw data, an extensive marketing analysis was performed to ensure publications targeted this class.
By targeting widely read publications with a high index the print publication portion is designed to effectively
supplement the Internet notice portion of the plan and help provide additional reach especially to consumers
that are less likely to be online.
15.

The print publications selected include: Soap Opera Digest, Life & Style, and the National Enquirer

(or similar placements depending on availability). All of these publications are more likely than average to
have “candy consumers” as readers. They will be presented in 1/3-page vertical format.
16.

DSG will also release a press release, with language to be agreed upon by Counsel, through PR

Newswire. PR Newswire is the industry’s largest content distribution network reaching more than 4,000 US
websites, nearly 3,000 media outlets, and more than 550 news content systems. The network also includes PR
Newswire for Journalists, an exclusive, media-only community with over 20,000 daily unique visitors.
INTERNET ADVERTISEMENTS
17.

The Internet is an extremely powerful tool for reaching potential class members and driving them to

the settlement website. According to Pew Research (2019), 90% of all adults in the United States use the
Internet, up from 79% in 2010. Over a decade of Internet marketing experience has been leveraged to design
the most effective plan.

18.

DSG will target Class Members with impressions on the ComScore Ranked Tier 1 websites over the

course of 30 days defined in the agreement. An impression is defined as when the internet ad is shown or loaded

on a Website. The sites selected for the Internet notice reach at least 70% or higher of the Internet population
and are the most popular on the United States Internet, based upon comScore data. This notice plan will deliver
impressions using interest, and/or behavioral targeting. Whenever possible and cost effective, behavioral and
“transactional targeting” from the site, networks or 3rd party data sources will be used to deliver advertisements
to users who have purchased the product or shown interest in a specific product or category. Digital Settlement
Group will also use targeted native ads to help provide information to those individuals that may not fall into
the other targeted segments. Unlike traditional media (like print publications), this allows a notice plan to target
potential class members more accurately with significantly less “wasted” impressions.
19.

In addition, targeted “search terms” advertisements on popular search engines and networks will be

incorporated into the plan. Per the Claims Guide, this is to help satisfy “extra effort” where the class is
“highly concentrated.” Whenever possible and cost effective, settlement notice advertisements will be
targeted based on past user behavior. In addition, contextual, in-market, topic and affinity targeting are used
to ensure the most relevant audience is reached. This type of advertising targets the right potential class
members at the right time.
20.

The notice program will consist of over 60 million targeted Internet impressions on Tier 1 properties

(e.g. Verizon, Google, Facebook), using 3rd party tools to verify reach and frequency. Targeted audiences,
behaviors, interests, and/or topics will be used to target the notice in the most efficient manner. For example,
targeting will include adults in the United States who are known to have purchased “gum or candy,” while
excluding “health and fitness” consumers.
21.

The notice advertisements are designed to “command class members' attention” and “are written in a

clear, concise and easily understood language.”3 Clicking on the links will direct the Class Member to the
Settlement Website where they will have quick access to a printable and online Claim Form. Examples of the
Internet advertisements can be seen in Exhibit 1. Digital Settlement Group will regularly report detailed
statistics to Counsel and adjust the notice plan on an as needed basis.
SUMMARY
22.

The notice plan has been designed to reach the largest target audience in a cost-efficient and timely

manner. Furthermore, the notice plan provides the best notice practicable, with similar reach to other Courtapproved notice plans in the same product category. It has been designed to reach at least 70% of the class,
allowing for duplication across medium and utilizing 3rd party-reporting tools that have been accepted in
similar cases.

3

See Claims Guide at 1, 5.

23.

Based on Digital Settlement Group’s class action notice planning experience, described above in

Paragraphs above the methods utilized in this Notice Program will be consistent with other effective class action
settlement notice plans that our team has developed. And It is my professional opinion that the Class Action
Notice Plan will provide the best notice practicable and meets the desire to actually inform. Furthermore, it
provides the same reach and frequency evidence that Courts have approved in previous settlements.

EXHIBIT 1
Internet Advertisements
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If you bought a cardboard box of Raisinets®, Buncha
Crunch®, Butterfinger Bites®, Tollhouse Semi-Sweet
Chocolate Morsels®, Rainbow Nerds®, SweeTarts®,
Spree®, Gobstopper®, Sno-Caps®, and Runts® candy
between February 9, 2013 and [DATE OF PRELIM
APPROVAL] then you could be entitled to money from
a class action settlement.
A court authorized this notice. This is not a solicitation from a lawyer.
•

A settlement has been reached between Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A. Inc.
(“Defendants”) and Jade Thomas and Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim
Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter, and Patrick Ferguson
(“Class Representatives” or “Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of the Settlement Class. The
settlement resolves class action lawsuits alleging Defendants package its boxed candy products in
oversized packaging with nonfunctional empty space. Defendants deny the allegations. The Court did
not rule in favor of either side. The parties agreed to the settlement to avoid the expense and risks of
continuing the lawsuit.

•

You are a class member if you are a resident of the United States who purchased one or more
cardboard boxes of Raisinets®, Buncha Crunch®, Butterfinger Bites®, Tollhouse Semi-Sweet
Chocolate Morsels®, Rainbow Nerds®, SweeTarts®, Spree®, Gobstopper®, Sno-Caps®, and Runts®,
candy (“Settlement Class Product(s)” or “Covered Product(s)”), between February 9, 2013 and [DATE
OF PRELIM APPROVAL].

•

Claim Forms must be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after Final Approval, and Claim Forms
submitted after that date will not be Valid Claims. On the Claim Form and Settlement Website, Class
Members must certify the truth and accuracy of the following under penalty of perjury:
(a)
(b)
(c)

The Class Member’s name and physical address;
The Class Member’s email address, if the Class Member elects to provide that
information;
For each Covered Product purchase on which a claim is submitted:
1.
The name of the Covered Product purchased;
2.
The quantity purchased;
3.
The price paid;
4.
The place of purchase;
5.
The approximate month and year of purchase; and
6.
That the claimed purchases were not made for the purposes of resale.

A Claim not complying with all of the elements listed in (c)(1)-(6) above is not a Valid Claim. Only
Valid Claims will be paid.
•

Class Members who submit a Valid Claim shall receive Fifty Cents ($0.50) per unit of Covered Product
purchased up to a maximum of sixteen units or Eight Dollars ($8.00). Each Class Member may submit
a claim either electronically through a settlement website or by mail.
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•

If the amount in the Settlement Fund is either less or more than the aggregate amount of the total Valid
Claims submitted by Class Members, the amount of the claims of each Class Member will be increased
or decreased, respectively, pro rata in the event of under-subscription or over-subscription,
respectively, of the Settlement Fund.

•

Pro rata upward adjustment of cash claims shall be capped at a multiple of five (5) times a given Class
Member’s claimed amount or $40.00, whichever is lower. A maximum of $40.00 shall be paid to any
Household for claimed purchases. Checks for Valid Claims will have a 180-day expiration from the time
of issuance. Any unused amounts from the Settlement Fund after checks for Valid Claims are issued
and cashed, including from uncashed checks, shall be disbursed cy pres to St. Jude, Make-A-Wish
Foundation, No Kid Hungry, and America’s Grow A Row.

•
Please read this Notice carefully and in its entirety. Your rights may be affected by the
settlement of this Lawsuit, and you have a choice to make now about how to act:

YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS AND OPTIONS IN THIS SETTLEMENT:
SUBMIT A VALID CLAIM BY _______2021
EXCLUDE YOURSELF FROM THE CLASS BY
_______2021

The only way to get a cash payment, if you
qualify.
You will not get any benefits under this
settlement. This is the only option that
allows you to be part of any other lawsuit
against Defendants about the legal claims
in this case.

OBJECT TO THE SETTLEMENT BY
________2021

Tell the Court about why you don’t like the
settlement.

GO TO A HEARING ON
________2021

Ask to speak in Court about the settlement.

DO NOTHING

Get no benefits. Give up rights to be part
of any other lawsuit against Defendants
about the legal claims in this case.

These rights and options—and the deadlines to exercise them—are explained in this notice.

The Court in charge of this case still has to decide whether to approve the settlement. Cash payments
for valid claims will be issued only if the Court approves the settlement and after the time for appeals has
ended and any appeals are resolved. Please be patient.
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How will the costs of the lawsuit and settlement be paid?
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How do I get more information?

BASIC INFORMATION
1. Why was this notice issued?
A Court authorized this notice because you have a right to know about the proposed settlement in this class
action lawsuit, and about all of your options, before the Court decides whether to give “final approval” to
the settlement. This notice explains the lawsuit, the settlement, and your legal rights.
The cases are known as Thomas, et al. v. Nestle, et al., Case No. BC649863, currently pending in Los
Angeles Superior Court of California, and Iglesia, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc. et al., Case No. 3:20-cv-05971BRM-DEA, currently pending in the New Jersey District Court (“Actions”). The people who sued are called
the Plaintiffs. The companies they are suing, Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A. Inc,
are called the Defendants.

2. What is the lawsuit about?
On February 9, 2017, Class Representatives Jade Thomas and Carey Hoffman 1 filed a class action lawsuit
against Defendants Nestle USA, Inc. and Ferrara Candy Co. 2 entitled Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc.,
et. al., Los Angeles Superior Court of California, Case No. BC649863, alleging that they relied on allegedly
oversized packaging of the Settlement Class products, and that such packaging violates state and federal
packaging laws and state consumer protections laws (including California’s False Advertising Law (“FAL”),
Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500, et. seq., California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”), Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code § 17200, et. seq., and California’s Consumers Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Civil Code § 1750, et
seq.), and that as a direct result of such violations Plaintiffs have been economically injured. On May 15,
1
2

Carey Hoffman was added as a Plaintiff to the litigation on August 17, 2017.
Ferrara Candy Co. was added as a Defendant to the litigation on May 15, 2018.
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2020, Class Representatives Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime
Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter, and Patrick Ferguson filed a similar class action lawsuit against
Defendants Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A. Inc. 3 entitled Iglesia, et al. v. Nestle USA,
Inc., et al., New Jersey District Court, Case No. 3:20-cv-05971-BRM-DEA.
Defendants deny any wrongdoing or liability arising out of any of the facts or conduct alleged in the Action
and believes that it has valid defenses to the allegations. The Court has not decided that Defendants did
anything wrong, and the settlement does not mean Defendants broke the law. Both the Plaintiffs and
Defendants believe that the settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable and that it is in the best interests
of the Settlement Class.

3. Why is this a class action?
In a class action one or more people called “Class Representatives” (in this case, Jade Thomas, Carey
Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren
Debeliso, Meredith Barter, and Patrick Ferguson) sue on behalf of people who have similar claims. All of
these people or entities are a “Class” or “Class Members.” One court resolves the issues for all Class
Members, except for those who exclude themselves from the Class.

4. Why is there a settlement?
Both sides agreed to the settlement to avoid the cost and risk of further litigation and trial. The settlement
does not mean that any law was broken. Defendants deny all of the legal claims in this case. The Class
Representatives and the lawyers representing them think the settlement is best for all Class Members.

WHO IS IN THE SETTLEMENT?
To see if you are affected or if you can get benefits, you first have to determine whether you are a Settlement
Class member.

5. How do I know if I am part of the settlement?
You are a member of the Settlement Class if you purchased for personal consumption, and not for re-sale,
one or more cardboard boxes of Raisinets®, Buncha Crunch®, Butterfinger Bites®, Tollhouse Semi-Sweet
Chocolate Morsels®, Rainbow Nerds®, SweeTarts®, Spree®, Gobstopper®, Sno-Caps®, and Runts®
candy in the United States between February 9, 2013 and [DATE OF PRELIM APPROVAL]. This time
period is referred to as the “Class Period”. Excluded from the Settlement Class are any officers, directors,
or employees of Defendants, and the immediate family member of any such person. Also excluded is any
judge presiding over this case.

3

Ferrero U.S.A., Inc. was added as a Defendant to the litigation on May 27, 2020.
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6. I’m still not sure if I’m included in the settlement.
If you are not sure whether you are included in the Class, call 1-877-595-9314 or go to
www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com.

THE SETTLEMENT BENEFITS—WHAT YOU GET
7. What does the settlement provide?
The parties have agreed to make available a total Settlement Fund of three million seven hundred thousand
dollars ($3,700,000) (“Total Settlement Amount). Settlement Class Members who submit a Valid Claim
shall receive Fifty Cents ($0.50) per unit of Covered Product purchased up to a maximum of sixteen units
or Eight Dollars ($8.00).
If the amount in the Settlement Fund is either less or more than the aggregate amount of the total Valid
Claims submitted by Settlement Class Members, the amount of the claims of each Settlement Class
Member will be increased or decreased, respectively, pro rata in the event of under-subscription or oversubscription, respectively, of the Settlement Fund.
Pro rata upward adjustment of cash claims shall be capped at a multiple of five (5) times a given Settlement
Class Member’s claimed amount or $40.00, whichever is lower. A maximum of $40.00 shall be paid to any
Household for claimed purchases. Any unused amounts from the Settlement Fund after checks for Valid
Claims are issued and cashed shall be disbursed cy pres to St. Jude, Make-a-Wish Foundation, No Kid
Hungry, and America’s Grow A Row.
Additionally, Defendants have agreed to either (i) include an actual size depiction of an individual piece of
the Covered Product’s candy accompanied by the term “actual size” on the product label, (ii) provide a fill
line on the product label, (iii) target a fill level for the packaging that, measured from the top of the candy,
with carton sides held rigid, would be higher than the current fill level, provided that such fill level does not
interfere with the functioning of any container reseal mechanism; or (iv) include any other label statement
or image, in addition to the net quantity of contents statement, that provides a piece count, volume or
amount. The parties have further agreed that the costs to administer this Settlement will be paid from the
Settlement Fund, that Class Counsel may request reasonable attorneys’ fees not to exceed $1,166,667
upon Court approval, plus litigation costs and expenses approved by the Court, and that the Class
Representatives may apply for an enhancement award of up to Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000) from
the Court.
More details are in a document called the Settlement Agreement, which is available at
www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com.

8. What am I giving up in exchange for the settlement benefits?
If the settlement becomes final, Class Members will be releasing Defendants and all related people and
entities for all the claims described and identified in Section 7 of the Settlement Agreement (called the
“Class Released Claims”) and is included below:
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By executing this Agreement, the Parties acknowledge that, upon the entry of the Final
Approval Order by the Court, the passing of the Effective Date, and the Settlement Amount
being fully funded, the Action shall be dismissed with prejudice, an order of dismissal with
prejudice shall be entered, and all Released Claims shall there-by be conclusively settled,
compromised, satisfied, and released as to the Released Parties. Upon the Settlement
Amount being fully funded, the Final Approval Order shall provide for and effect the full and
final release, by the Releasing Parties of all Released Claims, consistent with the terms of
this Agreement.
Notice of the Court’s final judgment will be effected by posting it on the claims administrator’s website and
by posting a copy of the final judgment and final approval order on the claims administrator’s website
The
full
Settlement
Agreement is
available
at
at www.ferraracandyboxclassaction.com.
www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com. The Settlement Agreement describes the Class Released
Claims with specific descriptions, in necessarily accurate legal terminology, so read it carefully. You can
talk to one of the lawyers listed below for free or you can, of course, talk to your own lawyer if you have
questions about the released claims or what they mean.

HOW TO GET A CASH PAYMENT—SUBMITTING A VALID CLAIM FORM
9. How can I get a cash payment?
To ask for a cash payment you must complete and submit a Valid Claim Form. You can get a Claim Form
at www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com You may also submit your claim via the website. The Claim
Form describes what information you must provide to prove your claim and receive a cash payment,
provided by you under penalty of perjury, on where any purchases took place, the quantity of Settlement
Class Products purchased, and the approximate dates of purchase. Please read the instructions carefully,
fill out the Claim Form, and either submit it online at www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com or mail it
postmarked no later than, ________2021 to:
Ferrara Boxed Candy Class Action Settlement Claims Administrator
Digital Settlement Group, LLC
PO Box 232
460 Lincolnway
Valparaiso, IN 46385
The Settlement Administrator may seek additional information to validate the Claim Form and/or disqualify
an invalid claim. If you provide incomplete or inaccurate information, your claim may be denied.

10. When will I get my check?
Checks will be mailed to Class Members who send in Valid Claim Forms on time, after the Court grants
“final approval” of the settlement, and after the time for appeals has ended and any appeals have been
resolved. If the judge approves the settlement after a hearing on _______2021 (see the section “The
Court’s Fairness Hearing” below), there may be appeals. Resolving these appeals can take time. Please
be patient.
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EXCLUDING YOURSELF FROM THE SETTLEMENT
If you want to keep the right to sue or continue to sue Defendants over the legal issues in this case, you
must take steps to get out of the settlement. This is called asking to be excluded from—sometimes called
“opting out” of—the Class.

11. If I exclude myself, can I get anything from the settlement?
If you ask to be excluded, you will not get a cash payment under the settlement, and you cannot object to
the settlement. But you may be part of a different lawsuit against Defendants in the future. You will not be
bound by anything that happens in this lawsuit.

12. If I don’t exclude myself, can I sue later?
No. Unless you exclude yourself, you give up the right to sue Defendants for the claims that this settlement
resolves. You must exclude yourself from this Class to start or continue your own lawsuit.

13. How do I get out of the settlement?
To opt out from the settlement, you must send a letter by mail saying that you want to be excluded from
Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al., Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case
No. BC649863. Be sure to include your name, address, telephone number, the approximate date of
purchase, and your signature. You can’t ask to be excluded at the website or on the phone. You must mail
your opt out request postmarked no later than _______2021 to:

Ferrara Boxed Candy Class Action Settlement Claims Administrator
Digital Settlement Group, LLC
PO Box 232
460 Lincolnway
Valparaiso, IN 46385
Requests to opt-out that do not include all required information and/or that are not submitted on a timely
basis, will be deemed null, void, and ineffective. Settlement Class Members who fail to submit a valid and
timely Request for opting out on or before the deadline above shall be bound by all terms of the settlement
and any Final Judgment entered in this Litigation if the Settlement is approved by the Court, regardless of
whether they ineffectively or untimely requested exclusion from the settlement.

OBJECTING TO THE SETTLEMENT
14. How do I tell the Court I don’t like the proposed settlement?
QUESTIONS? CALL 1-877-452-8477 OR VISIT www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com
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To object to the settlement, you or your attorney must provide a written objection to the Claims Administrator
showing the basis for your objections. Your objection must contain the following information: (i) your name,
address, and telephone number, (ii) the name, address, and telephone number of any attorney you have
hired with respect to the objection; (iii) the factual basis and legal grounds for your objection, including any
documents sufficient to establish your purchase of the Settlement Class Products at issue in this case e.g.,
receipt, or verification under oath as to the approximate date(s) and location(s) of the purchase(s) of the
Settlement Class Products; and (iv) identification of the case name, case number, and court for any prior
class action lawsuit in which you or your attorney has objected to a proposed class action settlement, the
general nature of such prior objection(s), and the outcome of said prior objection(s). You must send a copy
of your objection to the Claims Administrator at the following address: Digital Settlement Group, LLC; PO
Box 166; 460 Lincolnway; Valparaiso, IN 46384.
You or your lawyer may, but are not required to, appear at the Final Approval Hearing. If you or your
lawyer attend the Final Approval Hearing, then you have the option of filing with the Court a Notice of
Intention to Appear, but are not required to. The Court will hear from any Class Member who attends the
Final Approval Hearing and asks to speak regarding his or her objection. The requirement to submit a
written objection may be waived upon a showing of good cause.

OBJECTION AND OPT-OUT DIFFERENCES
15. What is the difference between objecting and opting out?
Objecting is simply telling the Court that you don’t like something about the settlement. You can object
only if you stay in the Class. If you stay in the Class, you will be legally bound by all orders and
judgments of the Court, and you won’t be able to sue, or continue to sue, Defendants as part of any
other lawsuit involving the same claims that are in this lawsuit. Opting out is telling the Court that you
don’t want to be part of the Class. If you opt out, you have no basis to object because the case no
longer affects you.

THE LAWYERS REPRESENTING YOU
16. Do I have a lawyer in the case?
The Court has designated the lawyers at Clarkson Law Firm, P.C., 22525 Pacific Coast Highway, Malibu,
CA 90265 and Faruqi & Faruqi, 10866 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1470, Los Angeles, CA 90024, to represent
you as “Class Counsel.” You will not be charged for these lawyers. If you want to be represented by another
lawyer, you may hire one to appear in Court for you at your own expense.

17. How will the costs of the lawsuit and settlement be paid?
The Settlement Administrator’s and Notice Provider’s costs and fees associated with administering the
Settlement, including all costs associated with the publication of the Notice of Settlement will be paid out of
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the Settlement Fund and shall not exceed $500,000. Class Counsel’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs
related to obtaining the settlement consistent with applicable law will also be paid out of the Settlement
Fund, subject to Court approval.
The Class Representatives will also request that the Court approve a payment to them of up to $20,000
total from the Settlement Fund, as incentive awards for their participation as the Class Representatives, for
taking on the risk of litigation, and for settlement of their individual claims as Class Members in the settled
Actions. The amounts are subject to Court approval and the Court may award less.

THE COURT’S FAIRNESS HEARING
The Court will hold a hearing to decide whether to approve the settlement. If you have filed an objection on
time, you may attend and you may ask to speak, but you don’t have to.

18. When and where will the Court decide whether to approve the settlement?
The Court will hold a Fairness Hearing at _____ a.m./p.m. on ______, 2021, at Superior Court of California
County of Los Angeles at 312 N. Spring St., Dept. 1, Los Angeles, CA 90012. The hearing may be moved
to a different date or time without additional notice, so please check for updates at
www.FerraraSlackFillSettlement.com. At this hearing the Court will consider whether the settlement is fair,
reasonable, and adequate. If there are objections, the Court will consider them. The judge will only listen
to people who have filed a written objection. The Court will also decide how much to pay the Class
Representatives and the lawyers representing Class Members. After the hearing, the Court will decide
whether to approve the settlement. We do not know how long these decisions will take.
The Court’s Covid-19 pandemic procedures currently require all persons, regardless of vaccination status,
to wear a face mask over both the nose and mouth while in public areas of the courthouse, including
courtrooms. Children under the age of two (2) are exempt from this requirement. Individuals with a physical
or mental health impairment or disability who seek an exemption from the face mask requirement must
contact the ADA liaison at the courthouse prior to their appearance to request a reasonable accommodation
pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act or Rule 1.100 of the California Rules of Court. A list of ADA
liaisons is available at www.lacourt.org/ada/adahome.aspx. Individuals who decline or refuse to wear a
face mask without a court order exempting them from the mask requirement will be denied entry to the
courthouse and/or courtroom. Individuals who remove their face masks after entering the courthouse or
courtroom will be reminded to wear them. If they refuse, they may be denied services, may have their legal
matters rescheduled, and/or will be asked to leave the courthouse or courtroom immediately. Persons who
refuse to leave voluntarily will be escorted out of the courthouse and/or courtroom by Los Angeles County
Sheriff’s Department personnel. While snack bars and cafeterias will reopen, over the next few weeks,
eating or drinking is prohibited in courthouse hallways.

19. Do I have to come to the hearing?
No. Class Counsel will answer any questions the judge may have. But, you are welcome to come at your
own expense. If you send an objection, you don’t have to come to Court to talk about it. As long as you
mailed your written objection on time, the Court will consider it. If you have sent an objection but do not

QUESTIONS? CALL 1-877-452-8477 OR VISIT www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com
PARA UNA NOTIFICATIÓN EN ESPAÑOL, VISITE NUESTRO SITIO DE INTERNET
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come to the Court hearing, however, you will not have a right to appeal an approval of the settlement. You
may also pay another lawyer to attend on your behalf, but it’s not required.

20. May I speak at the hearing?
You may ask the Court for permission to speak at the Fairness Hearing. To do so, you must send a letter
saying that it is your “Notice of Intent to Appear” in the Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al. litigation.
Be sure to include your name, address, telephone number, and your signature as well as the name, address
and telephone number of any lawyer representing you (if applicable). Your Notice of Intent to Appear must
be postmarked no later than _______2021, and be sent to the addresses listed in Questions 13 and 14.
You cannot speak at the hearing if you excluded yourself from the Class.

IF YOU DO NOTHING

21. What happens if I do nothing at all?
If you are a Class Member and do nothing, you will not receive a payment from this settlement. And, unless
you exclude yourself, you won’t be able to start a lawsuit, continue with a lawsuit, or be part of any other
lawsuit against Defendants about the claims in this case, ever again.

GETTING MORE INFORMATION
22. How do I get more information?
This notice summarizes the proposed settlement. More details are in the Settlement Agreement. You can
get a copy of the Settlement Agreement, download a Claim Form and review additional case information
at www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassActionSettlement.com. You may also call toll-free 1-877-595-9314.

PLEASE DO NOT TELEPHONE THE DEFENDANTS, THE COURT, OR THE
COURT CLERK’S OFFICE TO INQUIRE ABOUT THIS SETTLEMENT OR THE
CLAIM PROCESS.
DATED: Month day, 2021

BY ORDER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

QUESTIONS? CALL 1-877-452-8477 OR VISIT www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com
PARA UNA NOTIFICATIÓN EN ESPAÑOL, VISITE NUESTRO SITIO DE INTERNET
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EXHIBIT '
Short Form Notice
6HWWOHPHQW$JUHHPHQW
7KRPDVHWDOY1HVWOH86$,QFHWDO
&DVH1R%&

LEGAL NOTICE

IF YOU PURCHASED A CARDBOARD BOX OF RAISINETS®, BUNCHA CRUNCH®,
BUTTERFINGER BITES®, TOLLHOUSE SEMI-SWEET CHOCOLATE MORSELS®, RAINBOW
NERDS®, SWEETARTS®, SPREE®, GOBSTOPPER®, SNO-CAPS®, AND RUNTS® CANDY
BETWEEN FEBRUARY 9, 2013 AND [DATE OF PRELIM APPROVAL], THEN YOU COULD BE
ENTITLED TO MONEY FROM A CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT
Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al., Superior Court of CA County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC649863
Iglesia, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al., District of New Jersey, Case No. 3:20-cv-05971- BRM-DEA
WHAT IS THIS NOTICE ABOUT?
judgments of the Court, and you won’t be able to sue or
Lawsuits pending in the Superior Court of California County of
continue to sue Defendants as part of any other lawsuit
Los Angeles and District of New Jersey (“Litigation”) may affect
involving the same claims in this lawsuit.
2. You Can Object to the Settlement. You can ask the Court
your rights. The Litigation claims Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara
to deny approval by objecting with the Court. You can’t ask
Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A., Inc. (“Defendants”) deceptively
the Court to order a larger settlement; the Court can only
packaged Raisinets®, Buncha Crunch®, Butterfinger Bites®,
approve or deny the settlement. If the Court denies approval,
Tollhouse Semi-Sweet Chocolate Morsels®, Rainbow Nerds®,
no settlement payments will be sent out and the lawsuit will
SweeTarts®, Spree®, Gobstopper®, Sno-Caps®, and Runts®
continue. If that is what you want to happen, you must object.
candy products (“Covered Products”) in oversized packaging
You may hire your own lawyer to appear in Court for you if
with nonfunctional empty space. The Court did not rule in favor
you wish; however, you will be responsible for paying your
of Plaintiffs or Defendants. The parties instead agreed to settle.
lawyer. The Court will hear objections from any Class
AM I A MEMBER OF THE CLASS?
Member who attends the Final Approval Hearing and asks to
The class is defined as all persons residing in the United States
speak regarding his or her objection. Objections must be in
who purchased one or more Settlement Class Products between
writing, state your name, address, telephone number, name of
February 9, 2013 and [DATE OF PRELIMINARY
this Litigation, factual and legal grounds for your objection,
APPROVAL ORDER].
name, address and telephone number of any attorney
WHAT DOES THE SETTLEMENT PROVIDE?
representing you and any case in which you or your attorney
With Court approval, the settlement provides cash payments
has objected to a class action settlement previously and the
who submit a Valid Claim shall receive Fifty Cents ($0.50) per
result of that objection. Objections must be sent to the Claims
unit of Covered Product purchased up to a maximum of
Administrator at PO Box 166; 460 Lincolnway; Valparaiso,
sixteen units or Eight Dollars ($8.00). Checks for Valid Claims
will have a 180-day expiration from the time of issuance. If the
IN 46384 and postmarked no later than the Objection
amount in the Settlement Fund is either less or more than the
Deadline. The requirement to submit a written objection may
aggregate amount of the total Valid Claims submitted by
be waived upon a showing of good cause.
3. You Can “Opt Out” of the Settlement. If you exclude
Settlement Class Members, the amount of the claims of each
yourself from the Class – which is sometimes called “optingSettlement Class Member will be increased or decreased,
out” of the Class – you won’t get a payment from the
respectively, pro rata in the event of under-subscription or
settlement but won’t be barred from asserting claims against
over-subscription, respectively, of the Settlement Fund. Pro
Defendants in a separate lawsuit. Such notice shall include
rata upward adjustment of cash claims shall be capped at a
your name, address, telephone number, and signature and a
multiple of five (5) times a given Settlement Class Member’s
statement that you want to be excluded from the Litigation,
claimed amount or $40.00, whichever is lower. A maximum of
Thomas, et al. v. Nestle USA, Inc., et al., Superior Court of
$40.00 shall be paid to any Household for claimed purchases.
California County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC649863 and
Any unused amounts from the Settlement Fund after checks
Iglesia, et al v. Nestle USA, Inc., District of New Jersey, Case
for Valid Claims are issued and cashed, including from
No. 3:20-cv-05971- BRM-DEA. Send written notice to
uncashed checks, shall be disbursed cy pres to
Digital Settlement Group, LLC; 8001 Broadway, Suite 200;
St. Jude, Make-A-Wish Foundation, No Kid Hungry, and
Merrillville, IN 46410 by ______, 2021.
America’s Grow A Row. The Settlement also provides for
THE FAIRNESS HEARING
modification to the Covered Products’ labeling in the form of
On ________, 2021, at _____ a.m./p.m., the Court will hold a
either: (i) including an actual size depiction of an individual
hearing at the Superior Court of California County of Los
piece of the Covered Product’s candy accompanied by the term
Angeles at 312 N. Spring St., Dept. 1, Los Angeles, CA
“actual size” on the product label, (ii) providing a fill line on
90012 to approve: (1) the proposed settlement as fair,
the product label, (iii) targeting a fill level for the packaging
reasonable, and adequate; and (2) the application for
that, measured from the top of the candy, with carton sides held
Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees of up to $1,166,667, plus litigation
rigid, would be higher than the current fill level, provided that
costs and expenses, and payment of up to $20,000 in total to
such fill level does not interfere with the functioning of any
the Class Representatives. The Court’s Covid-19 pandemic
container reseal mechanism; or (iv) including any other label
procedures currently require all persons, regardless of
statement or image, in addition to the net quantity of contents
vaccination status, to wear a face mask in the courthouse.
statement, that provides a piece count, volume or amount.
Class Members who support the proposed settlement do not
WHAT ARE MY RIGHTS? You have three options:
1. You Can Accept the Settlement. Class Members who wish to
need to appear at the hearing or take any other action to
receive a Cash Payment must submit a Claim Form on or before
indicate their approval.
Month day, 2021 either online at
HOW CAN I GET MORE INFORMATION?
www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com. or by mailing it to
This is only a summary of the settlement. If you have
Digital Settlement Group, LLC; 8001 Broadway, Suite 200;
questions or want to view the detailed notice or other
Merrillville, IN 46410. If you don’t submit a timely Claim Form
documents about the Litigation, including the Settlement
and don’t exclude yourself from the settlement, you will be
Agreement visit www.FerraraBoxedCandyClassAction.com
or contact Class Counsel at info@clarksonlawfirm.com, or
bound by the settlement and will not receive a Cash Payment. If
call the Settlement Administrator at 1-877-452-8477.
you stay in the Class, you will be bound by all orders and
BY ORDER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

EXHIBIT (
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CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

10

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
Ryan J. Clarkson (SBN 257074)
rclarkson@clarksonlawfirm.com
Shireen M. Clarkson (SBN 237882)
sclarkson@clarksonlawfirm.com
Bahar Sodaify (SBN 289730)
bsodaify@clarksonlawfirm.com
Zach Chrzan (SBN 329159)
zchrzan@clarksonlawfirm.com
22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265
Tel: (213) 788-4050
Fax: (213) 788-4070
[Additional counsel on signature block]
Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Certified Class

11

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

12

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

13
14
15
16
17

JADE THOMAS, CAREY HOFFMAN,
REGAN IGLESIA, LARRY FERTEL,
NOSSON CHAIM ROSENBERG,
SUZANNE TATKOW, JAIME MAXWELL,
LAUREN DEBELISO, MEREDITH
BARTER, and PATRICK FERGUSON,
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated,

20
21
22

Case No. BC649863
FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT
1. VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA, CIVIL
CODE § 1750, et seq.

Plaintiffs,

18
19

CLASS ACTION

2. VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA
BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE §
17500, et seq.

vs.
NESTLE USA, INC., FERRARA CANDY
CO., FERRERO U.S.A., INC. and DOES 3
through 10, inclusive,

3. VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA
BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE §
17200, et seq.

Defendants.

4. COMMON LAW FRAUD

23

5. INTENTIONAL MISREPRESENTATION

24

6. NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION

25

7. UNJUST ENRICHMENT

26

8. BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

27

9. BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY

28

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT

1

Plaintiffs Jade Thomas, Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim

2

Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter, and Patrick

3

Ferguson (“Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated and by and through

4

their counsel, bring this fourth amended class action complaint against Nestle U.S.A., Inc.

5

(“Nestle”), Ferrara Candy Company (“Ferrara”), and Ferrero U.S.A., Inc. (“Ferrero”) and Does 3

6

through 10, inclusive (collectively referred to herein as “Defendants”) and allege upon personal

7

knowledge as to their own actions, and upon information and belief as to counsel’s investigation

8

and all other matters, as follows:

9

SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

10

1.

This is a consumer protection and false advertising class action lawsuit brought on

11

behalf of all purchasers of Raisinets®, Buncha Crunch®, Butterfinger Bites®, Tollhouse Semi-

12

Sweet Chocolate Morsels®, Rainbow Nerds®, SweeTarts®, Spree®, Gobstopper®, Runts®, and

13

Sno-Caps® boxed candy products (each referred to individually as the “Product” and collectively

14

as the “Products”) sold at retail outlets and movie theaters in California and Nationwide. True and

15

correct representations of the front of the Products’ packaging are set forth in the images below.

16

///
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1

Figure 1.
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Figure 3.
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Figure 5.
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Figure 7.
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Figure 9.
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1

deceptively misrepresenting the amount of candy actually contained in each opaque box of Product

3

that conceals from consumers the amount of candies inside. The Products’ packaging leads the

4

reasonable consumer to believe he or she is purchasing a box full of candies. However, Defendants

5

uniformly under-fill the opaque boxes by 33%-50% (or approximately 42%). This empty space, or

6

“slack-fill,” serves no legitimate or lawful function.
3.

Nonfunctional slack-fill, like the type employed by Defendants, allows Defendants to

8

reduce its food product costs to the detriment of unwitting consumers, who are not receiving the full

9

benefit of their bargain.

10
CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

Defendants intentionally mislead and shortchange consumers by falsely and

2

7

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

2.

4.

Plaintiffs and others have reasonably relied on Defendants’ deceptive packaging in

11

purchasing the Products, believing that the Products would be full of candies. Had Plaintiffs and

12

other consumers known that the Products were not full of candies, they would not have purchased

13

the Products or would have paid significantly less for the Products. Therefore, Plaintiffs and other

14

consumers have suffered injury in fact as a result of Defendants’ deceptive practices.

15

5.

Plaintiffs bring this class action lawsuit individually and on behalf of all others

16

similarly situated. Plaintiffs seek to represent a Nationwide Class and a California Consumer

17

Subclass (together referred to as the “Classes”).

18
19

6.

Plaintiffs seek damages, restitution, declaratory and injunctive relief, and all other

remedies available under applicable law which this Court deems appropriate.

20
21

PARTIES
7.

Plaintiff Jade Thomas (“Plaintiff Thomas”) is, and at all times relevant hereto was, a

22

citizen of California residing in the county of Alameda. Plaintiff purchased a Butterfinger Bites®

23

3.5 oz. box and a Buncha Crunch® 3.2 oz. box at United Artists Berkeley 7 in Berkeley, California

24

in 2016. Plaintiff Thomas paid approximately $4.00 for each Product, and spent a total of $8.00 on

25

both Products. In making her purchase, Plaintiff Thomas relied upon the opaque packaging,

26

including the size of the box, which was prepared and approved by Defendant and its agents and

27

disseminated statewide and nationwide, as well as designed to encourage consumers to purchase

28
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

the Product. If Plaintiff Thomas had known that the boxes contained nonfunctional slack-fill, she

2

would not have purchased the Products, let alone paid for candy product she never received.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

3

8.

Plaintiff Carey Hoffman (“Plaintiff Hoffman”) is, and at all times relevant hereto was,

4

a citizen of California. Plaintiff Hoffman currently resides in the county of Los Angeles. Plaintiff

5

Hoffman purchased the Nestle Milk Chocolate Raisinets® 3.5 oz. and Nestle Dark Chocolate

6

Raisinets® 3.5 oz. boxed candy from Ralphs in Los Angeles in 2016. Plaintiff Hoffman purchased

7

the Products relying on the size and shape of the box packaging, believing that the box packaging

8

would be full of Raisinets®. However, the Products Plaintiff Hoffman purchased contained

9

approximately 48% empty space. Plaintiff Hoffman would not have purchased the Products or

10

would have paid significantly less for them had she known that the package was only approximately

11

52% full of Raisinets®. Plaintiff Hoffman therefore suffered injury in fact and lost money as a

12

result of Defendant’s misleading, false, unfair and fraudulent practices, as described herein.

13

9.

Plaintiff Regan Iglesia is an individual residing in New Jersey. Plaintiff Iglesia

14

purchased the Products in New Jersey within the last four (4) years of the filing of this Complaint.

15

Specifically, Plaintiff Iglesia purchased Raisinets in 2018 at Albertsons in New Jersey. In making

16

his purchase, Plaintiff relied upon the opaque packaging, including the size of the box and product

17

label, which was prepared and approved by Defendants and their agents and disseminated statewide

18

and nationwide, as well as designed to encourage consumers like Plaintiff Iglesia to purchase the

19

Product. Plaintiff understood the size of the box and product label to indicate the amount of candy

20

contained therein was commensurate with the size of the box, and he would not have purchased the

21

Product, or would not have paid a price premium for the Product, had he known that the size of the

22

box and product label were false and misleading. If the Product packaging and label were not

23

misleading, then Plaintiff Iglesia would purchase the Products in the future.

24

10.

Plaintiff Larry Fertel is an individual residing in New York. Plaintiff Fertel purchased

25

the Products in New York within the last four (4) years of the filing of this Complaint. Specifically,

26

Plaintiff Fertel purchased Bunch Crunch®, Raisinets®, Nerds®, and Butterfinger Bites® at

27

Wegmans, Tops, and Walmart stores in New York in 2017-2018. In making his purchases, Plaintiff

28

Fertel relied upon the opaque packaging, including the size of the box and product label, which was
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

prepared and approved by Defendants and their agents and disseminated statewide and nationwide,

2

as well as designed to encourage consumers like Plaintiff Fertel to purchase the Products. Plaintiff

3

understood the size of the box and the product label to indicate the amount of candy contained

4

therein was commensurate with the size of the box, and he would not have purchased the Products,

5

or would not have paid a price premium for the Products, had he known that the size of the box and

6

product label were false and misleading. If the Product packaging and label were not misleading,

7

then Plaintiff Fertel would purchase the Products in the future.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

8

11.

Plaintiff Nosson Chaim Rosenberg is an individual residing in New York. Plaintiff

9

Rosenberg purchased the Products in New York within the last four (4) years of the filing of this

10

Complaint. Specifically, Plaintiff Rosenberg purchased Raisinets in 2018 at Albertsons in New

11

York. In making his purchase, Plaintiff Rosenberg relied upon the opaque packaging, including the

12

size of the box and product label, which were prepared and approved by Defendants and their agents

13

and disseminated statewide and nationwide, as well as designed to encourage consumers like

14

Plaintiff Rosenberg to purchase the Products. Plaintiff understood the size of the box and the

15

product label to indicate the amount of candy contained therein was commensurate with the size of

16

the box, and he would not have purchased the Product, or would not have paid a price premium for

17

the Product, had he known that the size of the box and product label were false and misleading. If

18

the Product packaging and label were not misleading, then Plaintiff Rosenberg would purchase the

19

Products in the future.

20

12.

Plaintiff Suzanne Tatkow is an individual residing in Florida. Plaintiff Tatkow

21

purchased the Product in Florida within the last four (4) years of the filing of this Complaint.

22

Specifically, Plaintiff Tatkow purchased Butterfinger Bites at the Cinemark Boynton Beach 14 in

23

Boynton Beach, Florida in or around 2018. In making her purchase, Plaintiff Tatkow relied upon

24

the opaque packaging, including the size of the box and product label, which were prepared and

25

approved by Defendants and their agents and disseminated statewide and nationwide, as well as

26

designed to encourage consumers like Plaintiff Tatkow to purchase the Products. Plaintiff

27

understood the size of the box and product label to indicate the amount of candy contained therein

28

was commensurate with the size of the box, and she would not have purchased the Product, or
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

would have paid a price premium for the Product, had she known that the size of the box and product

2

label were false and misleading. If the Product packaging and label were not misleading, then

3

Plaintiff Tatkow would purchase the Products in the future.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

4

13.

Plaintiff Jaime Maxwell is an individual residing in Michigan. Plaintiff Maxwell

5

purchased the Products in Michigan within the last four (4) years of the filing of this Complaint.

6

Specifically, Plaintiff Maxwell purchased Runts®, Gobstopper®, and Spree® in or around 2018 at

7

a Walmart in Commerce, Michigan. In making her purchase, Plaintiff Maxwell relied upon the

8

opaque packaging, including the size of the box and product label, which were prepared and

9

approved by Defendants and their agents and disseminated statewide and nationwide, as well as

10

designed to encourage consumers like Plaintiff Maxwell to purchase the Products. Plaintiff

11

Maxwell understood the size of the box to indicate the amount of candy contained therein to be

12

commensurate with the size of the box, and she would not have purchased the Products, or would

13

have paid a price premium for the Products, had she known that the size of the box and product

14

label were false and misleading. If the Product packaging and label were not misleading, then

15

Plaintiff Maxwell would purchase the Products in the future.

16

14.

Plaintiff Lauren Debeliso is an individual residing in Illinois. Plaintiff Debeliso

17

purchased the Product in Illinois within the last four (4) years of the filing of this Complaint.

18

Specifically, Plaintiff Debeliso purchased Sweetarts® in or around 2018 at Target in Chicago,

19

Illinois. In making her purchase, Plaintiff Debeliso relied upon the opaque packaging, including the

20

size of the box and product label, which were prepared and approved by Defendants and their agents

21

and disseminated statewide and nationwide, as well as designed to encourage consumers like

22

Plaintiff Debeliso to purchase the Products. Plaintiff Debeliso understood the size of the box and

23

the product label to indicate an amount of candy commensurate with the size of the box, and she

24

would not have purchased the Products, or would not have paid a price premium for the Products,

25

had she known that the size of the box and product label were false and misleading. If the Product

26

packaging and label were not misleading, then Plaintiff Debeliso would purchase the Products in

27

the future.

28

///
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1

15.

Plaintiff Meredith Barter is an individual residing in North Carolina. Plaintiff Barter

2

purchased the Product in North Carolina within the last four (4) years of the filing of this Complaint.

3

Specifically, Plaintiff Barter purchased Sno Caps® and Tollhouse® in or around 2018 at Walmart

4

in Charlotte, North Carolina. In making her purchases, Plaintiff Barter relied upon the opaque

5

packaging, including the size of the box and product label, which were prepared and approved by

6

Defendants and their agents and disseminated statewide and nationwide, as well as designed to

7

encourage consumers like Plaintiff Barter to purchase the Products. Plaintiff Barter understood the

8

size of the box and product label to indicate an amount of candy contained therein to be

9

commensurate with the size of the box, and she would not have purchased the Products, or would

10

have paid a price premium for the Products, had she known that the size of the box and product

11

label were false and misleading. If the Product packaging and label were not misleading, then

12

Plaintiff Barter would purchase the Products in the future.

13

16.

Plaintiff Patrick Ferguson is an individual residing in Texas. Plaintiff Ferguson

14

purchased the Products in Texas within the last four (4) years of the filing of this Complaint.

15

Specifically, Plaintiff Ferguson purchased Sweetarts® and Nerds® from Walmart in Austin, Texas

16

in or around 2019. In making his purchases, Plaintiff Ferguson relied upon the opaque packaging,

17

including the size of the box and product label, which were prepared and approved by Defendants

18

and their agents and disseminated statewide and nationwide, as well as designed to encourage

19

consumers like Plaintiff Ferguson to purchase the Products. Plaintiff Ferguson understood the size

20

of the box and product label to indicate an amount of candy commensurate with the size of the box,

21

and he would not have purchased the Products, or would have paid a price premium for the Products,

22

had he known that the size of the box and product label were false and misleading. If the Product

23

packaging and label were not misleading, then Plaintiff Ferguson would purchase the Products in

24

the future.

25

17.

Nestle U.S.A., Inc. is a corporation headquartered in Delaware. Nestle maintains its

26

principal place of business at 1812 North Moore Street, Arlington, VA 22209. Nestle, directly and

27

through its agents, has substantial contacts with and receives substantial benefits and income from

28

and through the State of California and Nationwide. Nestle is the owner, manufacturer, distributor,
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

advertiser, and seller of the Products, and is the company that created and/or authorized the false,

2

misleading, and deceptive advertisements and/or packaging and labeling for the Products.

3

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

Ferrara Candy Company is a corporation headquartered in Illinois. Ferrara maintains

4

its principal place of business at 404 W. Harrison Street, Suite 650, Chicago, IL 60607. Ferrara,

5

directly and through its agents, has substantial contacts with and receives substantial benefits and

6

income from and through the State of California and Nationwide. Ferrara is the owner,

7

manufacturer, distributor, advertiser, and seller of the Products, and is the company that created

8

and/or authorized the false, misleading, and deceptive advertisements and/or packaging and

9

labeling for the Products.

10
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18.

19.

Ferrero U.S.A., Inc. is a corporation headquartered in New Jersey. Ferrero maintains

11

its principal place of business at 7 Sylvan Way, Parsippany, NJ 07054. Ferrero, directly and through

12

its agents, has substantial contacts with and receives substantial benefits and income from and

13

through the State of California and Nationwide. Ferrero is the owner, manufacturer, distributor,

14

advertiser, and seller of the Products, and is the company that created and/or authorized the false,

15

misleading, and deceptive advertisements and/or packaging and labeling for the Products.

16

20.

The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or otherwise

17

of certain manufacturers, distributors, and/or their alter egos sued herein as DOES 3 through 10

18

inclusive are presently unknown to Plaintiffs who therefore sues these individuals and/or entities

19

by fictitious names. Plaintiffs will seek leave of this Court to amend the Complaint to show their

20

true names and capacities when the same have been ascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and believe

21

and based thereon allege that DOES 3 through 10 were authorized to do and did business in Los

22

Angeles County. Plaintiffs are further informed and believe and based thereon allege that DOES 3

23

through 10 were and/or are, in some manner or way, responsible for and liable to Plaintiffs for the

24

events, happenings, and damages hereinafter set forth below.

25
26

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
21.

This Court has jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein pursuant to the

27

California Constitution, Article VI, Section 10, because this case is a cause not given by statute to

28

other trial courts.
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

22.

2

Legal Remedies Act, Civil Code Section 1750 et seq.; California False Advertising Law, Business

3

& Professions Code Section 17500, et seq.; California Unfair Competition Law, Business &

4

Professions Code Section 17200, et seq.; and the common law.

5

23.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

The Products include all products manufactured by Defendants which are

6

substantially similar to Raisinets® 3.5 oz. boxes, Buncha Crunch® 3.2 oz. boxes, and Butterfinger

7

Bites® 3.5 oz. boxes, including all candy products within the Tollhouse Semi-Sweet Chocolate

8

Morsels®, Rainbow Nerds®, SweeTarts®, Spree®, Gobstopper®, Runts®, and Sno-Caps®

9

product lines packaged and sold in opaque boxes.

10
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Plaintiffs have standing to bring this action pursuant to the California Consumers

11

24.

Out-of-state participants can be brought before this Court pursuant to the provisions

of California Code of Civil Procedure section 395.5.

12

25.

Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in California based upon sufficient

13

minimum contacts which exist between it and California or otherwise did intentionally avail itself

14

of the markets within California, through its sale of the Products to California consumers.

15

26.

Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section

16

395, et seq. and California Civil Code section 1780(d) because Defendants conduct business in Los

17

Angeles County, Defendants receive substantial compensation from sales in Los Angeles County,

18

and Defendant made numerous misrepresentations which had a substantial effect in Los Angeles

19

County, including, but not limited to, print media, and internet advertisements, and on the Products’

20

packaging and labeling.

21
22
23

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
A.

Background
28.

At all relevant times, Defendants have manufactured, packaged, labeled, distributed,

24

marketed, advertised, and sold the Products across the United States. The Products are sold at movie

25

theatres, grocery chains, convenience stores, and other retail outlets including, but not limited to,

26

Wal-Mart, CVS Pharmacy, Pavilions, Walgreens, Rite Aid Pharmacy, Ralphs, and Target.

27
28

29.

Defendants package each of the Products in an opaque rectangular box with similar

dimensions. For example, the dimensions of Raisinets® 3.5 oz. boxes are: 6.25 inches tall by 3
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

inches wide by .5 inch deep. The dimensions of Buncha Crunch® 3.2 oz. boxes are: 6.25 inches

2

tall by 3 inches wide by .75 inches deep. The dimensions of the Butterfinger Bites®3.5 oz. box is:

3

6 inches tall by 3 inches wide by 1 inch deep.

4

B.

5

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

30.

Pursuant to California’s Business and Professions Code section 12606.2 and Federal

6

regulation 21 C.F.R Section 100.100: A container that does not allow the consumer to fully view its

7

contents shall be considered to be filled as to be misleading if it contains nonfunctional slack fill.

8

Slack fill is the difference between the actual capacity of a container and the volume of product

9

contained therein. Nonfunctional slack fill is the empty space in a package that is filled to

10
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California and Federal Slack-fill Regulations

substantially less than its capacity for reasons other than any one or more of the following:

11
(1)
(2)

12
13

(3)
(4)

14
15
16

(5)

17
18
19
(6)

20
21
22
23

31.

Protection of the contents of the package.
The requirements of the machines used for enclosing the contents in the
package.
Unavoidable product settling during shipping and handling.
The need for the package to perform a specific function, such as where
packaging plays a role in the preparation or consumption of a food, if that
function is inherent to the nature of the food and is clearly communicated to
consumers.
The fact that the product consists of a food packaged in a reusable container
where the container is part of the presentation of the food and has value that is
both significant in proportion to the value of the product and independent of
its function to hold the food, such as a gift product consisting of a food or
foods combined with a container that is intended for further use after the food
is consumed or durable commemorative or promotional packages.
Inability to increase the level of fill or to further reduce the size of the package,
such as where some minimum package size is necessary to accommodate
required food labeling exclusive of any vignettes or other nonmandatory
designs or label information, discourage pilfering, facilitate handling, or
accommodate tamper-resistant devices.

Furthermore, Congress has recognized that the law preventing misleading packaging

24

is “intended to reach deceptive methods of filling…where the package is only partly filled and,

25

despite the declaration of quantity of contents on the label, created the impression that it contains

26

more food than it does.” S. Rep. No. 493, 73d Cong., 2d sess. 9 (1934) (emphasis added).

27
28

32.

In addition, the FDA, in promulgating an identical federal regulation, 21 C.F.R §

100.100, concluded that an accurate disclosure of a product’s net weight on the product packaging
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

does not exempt a manufacturer from complying with slack-fill regulations, finding that “the

2

presence of an accurate net weight statement does not eliminate the misbranding…” Misleading

3

Containers; Nonfunctional Slack-Fill, 58 Fed. Reg. 64,123, 64,128 (Dec. 6, 1993) (codified at 21

4

C.F.R. pt. 100). Moreover, the FDA has emphasized that “[t]o rule that an accurate net weight

5

statement protects against misleading fill would render the prohibition against misleading fill…

6

redundant.” Id. at 64,129.

7

C.

8
9
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10
11

The Products Contain Non-functional Slack-fill
33.

Defendants’ Products are misleading as they contain non-functional slack-fill within

the meaning of California’s Business and Professions Code Section 12606.2 and 21 C.F.R §
100.100.
34.

The Products are in opaque containers that have no holes or slits for consumers to

12

even partially view the contents inside. Therefore, each of the Products do “not allow the consumer

13

to fully view its contents.” Cal Bus & Prof Code § 12606.2(c); 21 C.F.R § 100.100.

14

35.

The Products’ containers are “filled as to be misleading,” because the Products’ boxed

15

packaging “contain[] nonfunctional slack-fill:” a “difference between the actual capacity of a

16

container and the volume of product contained therein.” Id. In this case, the difference between the

17

Products’ maximum capacity and volume of actual candies inside is striking. Indeed, approximately

18

48% of Products’ packaging volume is empty.

19

36.

The size of the box in and of itself is a representation by Defendant as to the amount

20

of candy product contained in the box. Plaintiffs and other consumers of the Products detrimentally

21

and reasonably relied on this representation of quantity when they purchased the Products.

22

37.

Plaintiffs and other consumers of the Products made their purchase decisions based

23

upon a visual observation of the Products’ packaging through the showcase window of a movie

24

theater concession stand or retail outlet store shelf. Glass showcases are often used for the sale of

25

the Products at most movie theatre concession counters throughout California and the United States

26

as a security measure.

27
28

38.

Plaintiffs and other consumers of the Products who purchased the Products at a movie

theater displayed in the showcases did not have a reasonable opportunity to inspect the Products’
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

packaging for other representations of quantity of candy product contained therein other than the

2

size of the box itself or to view any other representations of quantity contained on the Products’

3

packaging, e.g., net weight or serving disclosures.

4

39.

5

and pointed them out to the concession counter employees. Plaintiffs then paid for the Products

6

before they took physical possession of the Products.

7
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40.

Once Plaintiffs took their seat in their respective movie theaters, Plaintiffs opened the

8

top of each Products’ box. Only then did they discover—to their disappointment—that both

9

Products’ boxes were only roughly half full, while the other half constituted nonfunctional slack-

10
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Instead, they observed the Products from a distance through the showcase window

fill.

11

41.

Prior to the point of sale, the Products’ packaging did not allow for a visual or audial

12

confirmation of the contents of the Products. The Products’ opaque packaging prevents a consumer

13

from observing the contents before opening. Even if a consumer were to “shake” the Products

14

before opening, it is impossible for the consumer to discern the presence of any nonfunctional slack-

15

fill.

16

42.

Even if Plaintiffs and other consumers of the Products had a reasonable opportunity

17

to review prior to the point of sale other representations of quantity like net weight or serving

18

disclosures because they purchased the Products at a retail outlet, they did not and would not have

19

reasonably understood or expected it to translate to a quantity of candy product meaningfully

20

different from their expectation of a quantity of candy product commensurate with the size of the

21

box.

22

43.

Furthermore, Research indicates that 90% of consumers make a purchase after only

23

visually examining the front of the packaging but without physically having the product in their

24

hands. 1

25
26

44.

Plaintiffs reasonably and detrimentally relied on the size of the box as a representation

by Defendant of the quantity of candy product contained in the Products’ containers.

27
28

1

Clement, J., Visual influence on in-store buying decisions: an eye-track experiment on the visual
LQIOXHQFHRISDFNDJLQJGHVLJQ-RXUQDORI0DUNHWLQJ0DQDJHPHQWí  
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1

45.

2

label and back label of the Products does not enable the reasonable consumer to form any

3

meaningful understanding about how to gauge the quantity of contents of the Products as compared

4

to the size of the box itself.

5

46.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

Consumers often do not consult quantity indications on packages but use alternative

6

methods, such as visual impressions of the package size, total package price, or previous purchase

7

experience, to judge product quantity and to calculate product value. 2

8
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The other information that Defendant provides about content quantity on the front

47.

The front label of the Products indicates a net weight of 3.5 ounces (99.2 grams) or

9

3.2 ounces (90.7 grams). The nutrition panel on the back of Raisinets® reports a serving size of ¼

10

cup (45 grams) and total of 2 servings per container. The nutritional panel on the back of the Buncha

11

Crunch® reports a serving size of 1/3 cup (37 grams) and total of 2.5 servings per container. The

12

nutritional panel on the back of Butterfinger Bites® reports a serving size of 8 pieces (40 grams)

13

and total of 2 servings per container. True and correct representations of the Products’ front and

14

back labels with annotations of other quantity disclosures are set forth below.

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

2

Gupta K, O. et al., Package downsizing: is it ethical? 21 AI & Society 239-250 (2007).

Error! Unknown document property name.
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1
2
3
4
5
6
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Disclosures of net weight and serving sizes in measurements of ounces, grams, candy

7

pieces or cups do not allow the reasonable consumer to make any meaningful conclusions about the

8

quantity of candy product contained in the Products’ boxes that would be different from the

9

reasonable consumer’s expectation that the quantity of candy product is commensurate with the size

10
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48.

11
12
13

of the box.
49.

Plaintiffs would not have purchased the Products had they known the Products

contained slack-fill which serves no functional or lawful purpose.
50.

During Plaintiffs’ investigation, Plaintiffs confirmed that Defendant uniformly under-

14

fills the Products’ boxes, nearly all of which serves no functional or lawful purpose. True and correct

15

representations of the insides of each Product is pictured below in the following order: Buncha

16

Crunch®, Raisinets®, and Butterfinger Bites®.

17
18
19

Buncha Crunch®

20
21
22
23
24
25

Raisinets®

26
27
28
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1
2

Butterfinger Bites®

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
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10
11

51.

The Products are made, formed, and filled as to be misleading. The Products are

therefore misbranded.
52.

Furthermore, the slack-fill in the Products is non-functional as it does not fit into any

of the safe-harbor provisions included in California’s Business and Professions Code Section
12606.2 and 21 C.F.R. 100.100:
(1)

Pursuant to Cal Bus & Prof Code § 12606.2(c)(1) and 21 C.F.R. 100.100(a)(1), the

12

slack-fill does not protect the contents inside the Products’ packaging. For instance,

13

the Raisinets candies are raisins coated with a hard chocolate finish. Therefore, the

14

Raisinets candies are not susceptible to cracking, breaking, or crumbling like potato

15

chips in a bag would be. The Raisinets candies are also not sticky due to the

16

chocolate being coated with confectioner’s glaze (lac-resin), which protects the

17

candies and makes the candies smooth. Therefore, any concern for the safety of the

18

contents inside the Products has been or should be alleviated by both the nature of

19

the Raisinets candies. Any suggestion by Defendant that the Products’ roomy box

20

packaging protects the contents inside is inconsistent with Defendant’s

21

manufacturing and packaging practices for their other Raisinets products, which are

22

packaged in tightly fitting, flimsy plastic bags. If anything, if more Raisinets candies,

23

just as all the other Products described herein, were filled into the Products’

24

packaging or the packaging size was reduced to the volume of the candies inside, the

25

contents inside would be protected further, as the candies would be given less room

26

to move around during transport. Accordingly, the use of smaller packaging or an

27

increase in fill would offer the same, if not more, protection for the contents inside.

28

(2)

Pursuant to Cal Bus & Prof Code § 12606.2(c)(2) and 21 C.F.R. 100.100(a)(2), no

Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

packaging or machine enclosure requirements would require that the Products be

2

packaged with only approximately 58% candies. According to a statement released

3

by Defendant, the empty space is to “avoid spillage and product loss during high

4

speed filling.” 3 (Emphasis added). It is certainly not “required” that Defendant fill its

5

Products’ packaging at such a high speed. Such practices increase profits for

6

Defendant to the detriment of unsuspecting class members.

7

(3)

8

slack-fill is not necessary to accommodate how candies “settle” inside the box. The

9

Products consist of candies that are not pliable so as to be subject to settling or

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

10
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Pursuant to Cal Bus & Prof Code § 12606.2(c)(3) and 21 C.F.R. 100.100(a)(3), the

compressing in the Products’ packaging over time.

11

(4)

Pursuant to Cal Bus & Prof Code § 12606.2(c)(4) and 21 C.F.R. 100.100(a)(4), the

12

Products’ packaging does not “perform a specific function,” such as playing a role in

13

the preparation and consumption of the candies. The boxed packaging is simply used

14

to hold the candies inside and display information about the Products.

15

(5)

Pursuant to Cal Bus & Prof Code § 12606.2(c)(5) and 21 C.F.R. 100.100(a)(5), the

16

Products are not packaged in a container that is meant to be reused or otherwise used

17

after consumption of the candies inside. Once the consumer finishes the candies, the

18

packaging is useless. Accordingly, the container does not have “value that is…

19

independent of its function to hold the food.” Id. Moreover, as evidenced herein, even

20

if Defendants had designed the packaging to allow consumers to reseal the packaging,

21

the resealing mechanism can be implemented in the same manner regardless of the

22

packaging size or the fill of the box.

23

(6)

Pursuant to Cal Bus & Prof Code § 12606.2(c)(6) and 21 C.F.R. 100.100(a)(6),

24

Defendant does have the ability to increase the level of fill or to reduce the size of the

25

Products’ packaging. (A) A significant number of additional candies can be added to

26

the current Products without causing any protrusions or toppling over as shown,

27
28

3

http://www.today.com/video/candy-companies-are-under-filling-their-boxes-class-actionlawsuits-allege-882338371546 (last visited on May 20, 2021).
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1

supra, where the box lids are open to reveal approximately 42% empty space. (B) The

2

addition of candies would enhance the weight of the Products and prevent any tipping

3

on shelves or stands. In the alternative, Defendant can reduce the size of the package

4

as to hold the same amount of candies inside, without any non-functional slack-fill.

5
6

53.

The Products are packaged in a box and sealed with heated glue. A true and correct

representation of the heated glue is shown in the image below.

7
8
9
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10
11
12

54.

The equipment used to seal the carton does not breach the inside of the Products’

13

containers during the packaging process. The heated glue is applied to an exterior flap of the box,

14

which is then sealed over the top by a second exterior flap.

15

55.

Neither the heated glue application nor the sealing equipment require slack-fill during

16

the manufacturing process. Even if there were no slack-fill present in the Products’ boxes, the

17

machines used for enclosing the contents in the package would work without disturbing the

18

packaging process.

19

56.

The slack-fill present in the Products’ container is not a result of the candy product

20

settling during shipping and handling. Given the Products’ density, shape, and composition, any

21

settling occurs immediately at the point of filling the box. No additional product settling occurs

22

during subsequent shipping and handling.

23

57.

Contrary to a powder product, for example, the contents of the Products are of a great

24

enough density such that any slack-fill present at the point of sale was present at the time of filling

25

the containers and packaging the contents.

26

58.

The side of the Products’ boxes bear a perforated tab .75 inches in length labeled

27

“Press In Pull Up,” “Press Top Here,” or “Press to Open.” True and correct representations are

28

shown below.
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

9

59.

The perforated tabs apparently are intended to conveniently dispense the contents of

10

the Products instead of having to unseal the glued flaps at the top. However, the size, placement,

11

color, and (lack of) functionality of the perforated tab, inter alia, evidence Defendant knows or

12

should know that the reasonable consumer does not actually use said perforated tabs to dispense the

13

candy product. The true purpose behind Defendant’s inclusion of the perforated tabs is to conceal

14

the nonfunctional slack-fill contained in the Products.

15

60.

The perforated tab of the Raisinets® box takes up approximately 1 inch of its 6.25-

16

inch height, even though the actual opening of the tab is .75 inches long. The perforated tab of the

17

Buncha Crunch® box takes up approximately 1.25 inches of its 6.25-inch height, even though the

18

actual opening of the tab is .75 inches long.

19
20
21

61.

The perforated tab of the Butterfingers Bites® box takes up approximately 2.5 inches

of its 6.0-inch height, even though the actual opening of the tab is 1.75 inches long.
62.

Defendant has no reason to place the perforated tab towards the middle of the

22

Products’ boxes, and take up an extra ¼ to ¾ inch of space. By indenting the side tab of each Product

23

¼ to ¾ of an inch, Defendant creates at least 4% to 12.5% of nonfunctional slack-fill.

24

63.

The perforated tab of each Product’s box is the same color as the packaging of the

25

Product. Therefore, it is hidden and difficult to see in broad daylight. Undoubtedly, a reasonable

26

consumer cannot see the side tab while watching a movie in a dark theater.

27
28

64.

The size of the tabs relative to the size of the candies makes it cumbersome to dispense

the candy product through the perforated tabs. Further, a consumer who elects to depress the
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

perforated tab which folds inside the box is faced with the cumbersome task of dispensing the candy

2

product past the internalized depressed tab. Opening the glued seals located at the end of the box

3

and bending the flaps outward allows the candy product to be dispensed without obstruction.

4

65.

Reasonable consumers instinctually open the Products by undoing the Products’ glued

5

seal. Neither one of the Products’ glued seals direct the consumer to a perforated side tab. Before

6

consumers break the glue seal of the Products to open the packaging, they do not encounter any

7

instructions about dispensing the contents from the side of the package.

8

representations of the top and bottom glued seals are shown below.

True and correct

9
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

66.

Defendant can reasonably foresee that consumers open the Products by undoing one

21

of the glued seals of the packaging. Thus, Defendant knows that any perforated side tab it places on

22

the Products’ packaging must have conspicuous colors and marking. The fact that Defendant blends

23

the side tabs into the Products’ packaging, instead of designing it to stand out or take up the least

24

amount of space necessary, demonstrates that Defendant does not genuinely intend for the

25

perforated tab to be used, and that the reasonable consumer does not actually use them.

26

67.

The perforated side tab on the Products’ packaging does not perform any specific

27

function that is inherent to the nature of the contents. Nor is it clearly communicated to consumers.

28

A reasonable consumer can easily dispense the Products from the top of their packaging, without
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1

any side tab. Therefore, the Products’ packaging does not require any functional slack-fill to

2

accommodate a perforated side tab.

3
4

68.

package the Products in boxes without any perforated side tab, as Defendant has done in the past.

5
6

69.

significant value to the Products independent of its function to hold the candy product.
70.

For example, the Products’ containers are not commemorative items.

8

71.

The Products’ containers are boxes intended to be discarded into the recycling bin

immediately after the contents have been completely consumed.

10
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The Products do not use packaging that is part of a reusable container with any

7

9
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Defendant has reasonable alternative designs available to package its Products. It can

11

72.

Defendant can easily increase the quantity of candy product contained in each Product

container (or, alternatively, decrease the size of the containers) by approximately 42%.

12

73.

The “Nutrition Facts” panel on the back of each box states “Servings Per Container

13

about 2 or 2.5.” By arithmetic, each serving would be the equivalent of the following: 100%

14

expected total fill, divided by 2 or 2.5 servings, yielding a value of 40% to 50% of volume per

15

serving. Given the Products can accommodate an additional 42% of candy product, consumers are

16

being shortchanged roughly at least 1 serving per box.

17

D.

18
19
20
21
22

The Products’ Packaging is Misleading to Reasonable Consumers
74.

Defendant’s Products’ packaging is misleading to reasonable consumers, including

Plaintiffs and the class members, and only serves the profit maximizing interests of Defendant.
75.

Defendant knows, knew or should have known how the Products are filled and

packaged because it and its agents manufacture, fill, and packaged the Products.
76.

Additionally, Defendant knows, knew or should have known that Plaintiffs and other

23

consumers did and would rely on the size and style of their packaging in purchasing the Products,

24

and would reasonably believe that the Products’ packaging is full of candies:

25

a.

According to Congress, “[c]onsumers develop expectations as to the amount of

26

product they are purchasing based, at least in part, on the size of the container.”

27

Misleading Containers; Nonfunctional Slack-Fill, 58 Fed. Reg. 64,123, 64,131

28

(emphasis added). Moreover, because “[p]ackages have replaced the salesman,”
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1

“packaging becomes the ‘final salesman’ between the manufacturer and the consumer,

2

communicating information about the quantity and quality of product in a container.”

3

Id.

4

b.

5

spends approximately 12 seconds purchasing a product in-store and approximately 19

6

seconds purchasing a product online. 4 Furthermore, according to peer reviewed

7

journal article analyzing the effects container size and shape on consumer perception,

8

“[p]ackages that appear larger will be more likely to be purchased.” 5

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

9
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Furthermore, according to a peer reviewed journal article, an average consumer

c.

Moreover, research has consistently demonstrated that consumers rarely read details

10

beyond the final price of the product and, often, not even that. 6 Consumers often do

11

not consult quantity indications on packages but use alternative methods (e.g., visual

12

impressions of the package size, total package price, or previous purchase experience)

13

to judge product quantity and to calculate product value. 7

14

77.

Plaintiffs did not expect that the Products would contain nonfunctional slack-fill,

15

especially given that nonfunctional slack-fill, as opposed to functional slack-fill, is prohibited by

16

California law and federal law.

17
18

78.

In reasonable reliance on the size and style of the packaging, and believing that the

Products would be full of candies, Plaintiffs and members of the Classes purchased the Products.

19

79.

Plaintiffs and members of the Classes do not know, did not know, and have no reason

20

to know, that the Products actually contained a significant amount of empty space, lacking candies,

21

because the containers are opaque with no view of the contents inside, at the time of purchase. A

22

reasonable consumer cannot accurately determine the fill of the Products by shaking or squeezing

23
24
25
26
27
28

4

C.J. Gobb & W.D. Hoyer, Direct observation of search behavior in the purchase of two
nondurable products, Psychology & Marketing 2: 161–179 (1985).
5
Priya Raghubir & Aradhna Krishna, Vital Dimensions in Volume Perception: Can the Eye Fool
the Stomach?, 36 Journal of Marketing Research, No. 3, 313-326 (1999).
6
Peter R Dickson & Alan G. Sawyer, Point of Purchase Behavior and Price Perceptions of
Supermarket Shoppers, Marketing Science Institute Report No. 86-102. Cambridge, MA:
Marketing Science Institute (1986).
7
Omprakesh K. Gupta et al., Package downsizing: is it ethical? 21 AI & Society, No. 3, 239250 (2007).
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packaging, and is certainly not expected to do so prior to purchasing the Products:

2

a.

3

examining the front of the packaging but without physically having the product in

4

their hands. 8

5

80.

Plaintiffs and consumers, Defendant’s uniform practice of filling and packaging the Products in the

7

foregoing manner was and continues to be misleading and deceptive, and cheats consumers.

9
10
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Because the Products do not contain the amount of candies reasonably expected by

6

8
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Research indicates that 90% of consumers make a purchase after only visually

81.

Each consumer has been exposed to the same or substantially similar deceptive

practice as each of the Products (1) contain the same misleading size and style of packaging, and
(2) contain approximately 42% non-functional slack-fill.

11

82.

Plaintiffs and other consumers have paid an unlawful premium for the Products. More

12

specifically, they paid for candies they expected but never received. Plaintiffs and other consumers

13

would have paid significantly less for the Products had they known that the Products were filled

14

with only approximately 58% candies. In the alternative, Plaintiffs and other consumers would not

15

have purchased the Products at all had they known that the Products were filled with only

16

approximately 58% candies. Therefore, Plaintiffs and other consumers purchasing the Products

17

suffered injury in fact and lost money as a result of Defendant’s false, unfair, and fraudulent

18

practices, as described herein.

19

83.

As confirmed by Plaintiffs’ economics experts and large-scale, randomized conjoint

20

consumer study, fill level and box size have a causal impact on consumers’ willingness to pay for

21

the Products. These experts were able to calculate the price premia attributable to the slack-fill

22

contained in each one of the Products’ packaging. These premia are in the range of 9.5 percent to

23

19.6 percent for the Retail channel, and 6.4 percent to 13.5 percent for the Movie Theater channel.

24
25

84.

Defendant’s conduct threatens California consumers by using intentionally deceptive

and misleading slack-filled containers. Defendant’s conduct also threatens other companies, large

26
27
28

8

Jesper Clement, Visual influence on in-store buying decisions: an eye-track experiment on the
YLVXDOLQIOXHQFHRISDFNDJLQJGHVLJQ-RXUQDORI0DUNHWLQJ0DQDJHPHQWí  
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1

and small, who “play by the rules.” Defendant’s conduct stifles competition and has a negative

2

impact on the marketplace, and reduces consumer choice.

3

85.

4

other consumers, Defendant should be enjoined from inadequately filling its packaging of the

5

Products. Furthermore, Defendant should be required to pay for all damages caused to misled

6

consumers, including Plaintiff.

7

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

86.

Despite being misled by Defendant, Plaintiffs would likely purchase the Products in

8

the future if the Products were full of candies.

9

E.

10
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As a result of its misleading business practice, and the harm caused to Plaintiffs and

11

Defendants’ Competitors Have Remedied Slack-Fill Violations
87. Defendants’ major competitors have modified their labeling and/or packaging and/or

manufacturing processes to dispel consumer deception and confusion.

12

88. Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc. modified its labeling of Junior Mints® and Sugar

13

Babies® to dispel consumer deception and confusion by adding to the front label an actual size

14

depiction accompanied by the words “actual size” and a piece count.

15

89. Taste of Nature, Inc. modified its labeling and manufacturing processes of Cookie

16

Dough Bites®, Chocolate Chip Cookie Dough Bites®, Fudge Brownie Cookie Dough Bites®,

17

Santa's Village Chocolate Chip Cookie Dough Bites®, Cookies N' Cream Cookie Dough Bites®,

18

Cinnamon Bun Bites®, Red Velvet Cupcake Bites®, Moon Pie Bites®, Strawberry Dream Bites®,

19

Birthday Cake Cookie Dough Bites®, Peanut Butter Cookie Dough Bites®, Muddy Bears®, Shari

20

Candies Cherry Sour Balls®, Despicable Me 2 Sour Gummies®, Sqwigglies®, and Hello Kitty

21

Treats® to dispel consumer deception and confusion by agreeing to include an actual size depiction

22

accompanied by the words “actual size” and/or increase its fill levels.

23

90. Just Born, Inc. modified its labeling of Hot Tamales® and Mike and Ike® to dispel

24

consumer deception and confusion by agreeing to add a fill level line and/or an actual size depiction

25

to help dispel consumer deception and confusion.

26

91. Even Defendant Nestle’s own parent company, Defendant Ferrara Candy Company,

27

agreed to modify its manufacturing processes of Jujyfruits®, Jujubes®, Now & Later®,

28

Lemonhead®, Applehead®, Cherryhead®, Grapehead®, RedHots®, Trolli®, Chuckles®, Black
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1

Forest®, Jawbuster®, Jawbreaker®, Brach’s®, Boston Baked Beans®, Super Bubble®, Rainblo®,

2

and Atomic Fireball to dispel consumer deception and confusion by increasing the fill levels of

3

those products.

4

92. Rather than following the industry trend and ceasing its unfair business practice,

5

Defendants continue to prioritize its own bottom line over consumer protection and deceive

6

consumers as to the amount of candy contained in the Products.

7

F.

Courts Around The Country Find Slack-Fill Violations Meritorious And Appropriate

8

For Class Treatment

9

93.

Several state and federal courts have found that cases involving nearly identical

10

claims are meritorious and appropriate for class treatment. See Iglesias v. Ferrara Candy Co., Case

11

No. 3:17-cv-00849-VC (N.D. Cal.) (defendant’s FRCP 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss slack-filled

12

Jujyfruits® and Lemonhead® candy box claims denied and nationwide settlement class certified);

13

Tsuchiyama v. Taste of Nature, Inc., Case No. BC651252 (L.A.S.C.) (defendant’s motion for

14

judgment on the pleadings involving slack-filled Cookie Dough Bites® candy box claims denied

15

and nationwide settlement subsequently certified through Missouri court); Gordon v. Tootsie Roll

16

Industries, Inc., Case No. 2:17-cv-02664-DSF-MRW (C.D. Cal.) (defendant’s FRCP 12(b)(6)

17

motion to dismiss slack-filled Junior Mints® and Sugar Babies® candy box claims denied); Escobar

18

v. Just Born, Inc., Case No. 2:17-cv-01826-BRO-PJW (C.D. Cal.) (defendant’s FRCP 12(b)(6)

19

motion to dismiss slack-filled Mike N’ Ike® and Hot Tamales® candy box claims denied and

20

California class action certified); Thomas v. Nestle USA, Inc., Cal. Sup. Case No. BC649863 (April

21

29, 2020) (certifying as a class action slack-fill claims brought under California consumer protection

22

laws).

23

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

24

94.

Plaintiffs bring this action individually and on behalf of a class of all other persons

25

similarly situated. The “Classes” which Plaintiffs seek to represent comprise: “All persons who

26

purchased the Products in in the United States during the time period February 9, 2013, through the

27

present.”

28

///
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Plaintiffs also seek to represent a subclass defined as: All persons who purchased the

2

Products in California during the time period February 9, 2013, through the present” (“California

3

Consumer Subclass”).

4
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95.

96.

Excluded from the Classes are: Defendants, Defendants’ officers, directors,

5

employees, members of their immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors

6

or assigns, any individual who received remuneration from Defendants in connection with that

7

individual’s use or endorsement of the Products, and any entity which Defendants have or had a

8

controlling interest. Any judge and/or magistrate judge to whom this action is assigned and any

9

members of such judges’ staffs and immediate families are also excluded from the Classes. Further

10

excluded from the Classes are persons or entities that purchased the Products for the sole purpose

11

of resale.

12

97.

On April 29, 2020, the Court certified a California class action against these

13

Defendants Nestle USA, Inc. and Ferrara Candy Co. for the same claims involving the same

14

products under California law and Plaintiffs Thomas and Hoffman. See Thomas v. Nestle USA, Inc.,

15

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC 649863 (Apr. 29, 2020).

16
17

98.

In Thomas, supra, these Defendants admitted the following about the Products at issue

in the instant case:

18

a. “The package for each individual candy Product measures the same length and width

19

as all of the other packages for that individual type of candy Product. In other words,

20

the length and width of all of the Raisinets boxes are the same.”

21

b. “The package for each individual candy Product is intended to contain the same net

22

weight of candy as all of the other packages for that individual type of candy Product.

23

In other words, the net weight of the candy in all of the Raisinets boxes is intended to

24

be the same.”

25

c. “All of the candy products within a brand (i.e., all Raisinets) are packaged in the same

26

manner. Accordingly, the existence and/or amount of functional slack-fill (if any) is

27

consistent among all of the packages within a particular brand. Specifically, the basis

28

for asserting that a particular brand of candy Product contains functional slack-fill
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

would be consistent among all packages within a particular brand, i.e., the basis for

2

non-functional slack-fill in the packaging for Raisinets would be the same as to all

3

packages of Raisinets.”

4

California certified a class action against one of Defendants’ highly visible competitors involving

6

nearly identical claims and products under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23. See Escobar v. Just

7

Born, Inc., Case No. 2:17-cv-01826-BRO-PJW (C.D. Cal. Mar. 25, 2019).

9
10
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On March 25, 2019, the United States District Court for the Central District of

5

8
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99.

100.

Plaintiffs hereby reserve the right to amend or modify the class definitions with greater

specificity or division.
101.

Numerosity: Members of the Classes are so numerous that their individual joinder

11

herein is impracticable. On information and belief, the class members number in the hundreds of

12

thousands or more throughout California and the United States. The Classes are sufficiently

13

numerous because hundreds of thousands of units or more of the Products have been sold in

14

California and the United States during the time period February 9, 2013, through the present (the

15

“Class Period”). The Products are available for sale at movie theatres, grocery chains, convenience

16

stores, and other retail outlets including, but not limited to, Wal-Mart, CVS Pharmacy, Pavilions,

17

Walgreens, Rite Aid Pharmacy, Ralphs, and Target.

18

102.

Common Questions Predominate: There is a well-defined community of interest in

19

the questions of law and fact involved affecting the Plaintiffs and Classes. The questions of law

20

and fact common to the Classes predominate over questions which may affect individual class

21

members. Common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to, the following:

22
23
24

a.

Whether Defendants’ conduct constitutes an unfair method of competition, or

unfair or deceptive act or practice, in violation of Civil Code Section 1750, et seq.;
b.

Whether Defendants misrepresented the approval of the FDA, United States

25

Congress, and California Legislature that the Products’ packaging complied with federal and

26

California slack-fill regulations and statutes in violation of Civil Code Section 1750, et seq.;

27
28

c.

Whether Defendants used deceptive representations in connection with the

sale of the Products in violation of Civil Code Section 1750, et seq.;
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1
2
3
4
5

quantities that they do not have in violation of Civil Code Section 1750, et seq.;
e.

Whether Defendants advertised the Products with intent not to sell them as

advertised in violation of Civil Code Section 1750, et seq.;
f.

Whether Defendants represented that the Products have been supplied in

accordance with a previous representation of quantity of candy product contained therein by way of

7

its packaging when it has not, in violation of Civil Code Section 1750, et seq.;

9
10
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Whether Defendants represented the Products have characteristics or

6

8
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d.

g.

Whether Defendants’ packaging is untrue or misleading in violation of

Business and Professions Code Section 17500, et seq.;
h.

Whether Defendants knew or by the exercise of reasonable care should have

11

known its packaging was and is untrue or misleading in violation of Business and Professions Code

12

Section 17500, et seq.;

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

i.

Whether Defendants’ conduct is an unfair business practice within the

meaning of Business and Professions Code Section 17200, et seq.;
j.

Whether Defendants’ conduct is a fraudulent business practice within the

meaning of Business and Professions Code Section 17200, et seq.;
k.

Whether Defendants’ conduct is an unlawful business practice within the

meaning of Business and Professions Code Section 17200, et seq.;
l.

Whether Defendants’ packaging is false or misleading and therefore

misbranded in violation of California Health and Safety Code sections 110660, 110665, or 110670;
m.

Whether the Products’ packaging contains nonfunctional slack-fill in violation

of 21 C.F.R. 100.100, et seq.;
n.

Whether the Products’ packaging contains nonfunctional slack-fill in violation

of California Business and Professions Code Section 12606.2, et seq.;
o.

Whether Plaintiffs and the Classes paid more money for the Products than they

actually received;
p.

How much money Plaintiffs and the Classes paid for the Products than they

actually received;
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1

q.

Whether Defendants’ conduct constitutes breach of express warranty;

2

r.

Whether Defendants’ conduct constitutes breach of implied warranty;

3

s.

Whether Defendants’ engaged in intentional misrepresentation of the

5

t.

Whether Defendants’ engaged in negligent misrepresentation of the Products;

6

u.

Whether Defendants’ engaged in fraudulent behavior;

7

v.

Whether Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to equitable and/or injunctive

9

w.

Whether Defendant was unjustly enriched by its unlawful conduct;

10

x.

Whether Plaintiffs and the Class have sustained damages as a result of

4

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
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8

11

Products;

relief;

Defendants’ unlawful conduct; and

12

y.

13

103.

The proper measure of damages sustained by Plaintiffs and Class Members.

Typicality: Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the Classes they seek to

14

represent in that Plaintiffs and members of the Classes were exposed to Defendant’s misleading

15

packaging, purchased the Products relying on the misleading packaging, and suffered losses as a

16

result of such purchases.

17

104.

Adequacy: Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of

18

the Classes. Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the Classes because their interests do not

19

conflict with the interests of the members of the Classes they seek to represent. Plaintiffs each

20

intend to prosecute this action vigorously. Plaintiffs have retained competent and experienced

21

counsel in class action and other complex litigation. The interests of the class members will be

22

fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiffs and their counsel.

23

105.

Plaintiffs and the Classes have suffered injury in fact and have lost money as a result

24

of Defendants’ false representations. Plaintiffs purchased the Products under the false belief that the

25

Products contained an amount of candy product commensurate with the size of each box. Plaintiffs

26

relied on Defendants’ packaging and would not have purchased the Products if they had known that

27

the Products contained nonfunctional slack-fill.

28

///
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1

106.

2

adjudication of this controversy. The size of each claim is too small to pursue individually and each

3

individual class member will lack the resources to undergo the expense and burden of individual

4

prosecution of the complex and extensive litigation necessary to establish Defendants’ liability.

5

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

107.

The trial and litigation of Plaintiffs’ claims are manageable. Individual litigation of

6

the legal and factual issues raised by Defendants’ conduct would increase delay and expense to all

7

parties and the court system. The class action device presents far fewer management difficulties

8

and provides the benefits of a single, uniform adjudication, economies of scale, and comprehensive

9

supervision by a single court. The class action mechanism is designed to remedy harms like this

10
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Superiority: A class action is superior to other available methods for fair and efficient

one, which is too small in value, although not insignificant, to file individual lawsuits for.

11

108.

Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class

12

members, thereby making final injunctive relief and/or corresponding declaratory relief appropriate

13

with respect to the Classes as a whole. The prosecution of separate actions by individual class

14

members would create the risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual

15

class members that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants.

16
17

109.

Absent a class action, Defendants will likely retain the benefits of its wrongdoing, and

will be allowed to continue these violations of law and to retain the proceeds of their ill-gotten gains.

18

110.

Questions of law and fact common to the class members predominate over any

19

questions that affect only individual members, and because the class action mechanism is superior

20

to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.

21

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

22

Violation of California Consumers Legal Remedies Act,

23

California Civil Code § 1750, et seq.

24

(for the California Consumer Subclass only)

25

111.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege all the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs

26

and incorporate the same as if set forth herein at length.

27

///

28

///
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1

Consumers Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), on their own behalf and on behalf of all other persons

3

similarly situated of the proposed California Consumer Subclass against Defendants.

5
6

113.

The Class consists of hundreds of thousands of persons, the joinder of whom is

impracticable.
114.

There are questions of law and fact common to the California Consumer Subclass,

7

which questions are substantially similar and predominate over questions affecting the individual

8

class members, including but not limited to those questions listed above.

9
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Plaintiffs bring this cause of action pursuant to Civil Code Section 1750, et seq., the

2

4
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112.

115.

The Products are “goods” within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(a), and the

10

purchases of such products by Plaintiffs and members of the California Consumer Subclass

11

constitute “transactions” within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(e).

12

116.

The practices described herein, specifically Defendants’ packaging, advertising, and

13

sale of the Products, were intended to result in the sale of the Product to the consuming public and

14

violated and continue to violate the CLRA by (1) misrepresenting the approval of the Products as

15

compliant with 21 C.F.R §100.100, California Business and Professions Code Section 12606.2, and

16

the Sherman Law; (2) using deceptive representations in connection with the Products; (3)

17

representing the Products have characteristics and quantities that they do not have; (4) advertising

18

and packaging the Products with intent not to sell them as advertised and packaged; and (5)

19

representing that the Products have been supplied in accordance with a previous representation as

20

to the quantity of candy product contained within each box, when it has not. See CLRA §

21

1770(a)(5), (a)(9).

22

117.

Defendants fraudulently deceived Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass by

23

representing that the Products’ packaging which includes 42% nonfunctional slack-fill actually

24

conforms with federal and California slack-fill regulations and statutes including the Sherman Law,

25

California Business and Professions Code Section 12606.2, and 21 C.F.R. 100.100.

26

118.

Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. Section 100.100 and California Business and Professions Code

27

Section 12606.2: “A container that does not allow the consumer to fully view its contents shall be

28

considered to be filled as to be misleading if it contains nonfunctional slack-fill.”
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Defendants knowingly packaged the Products in boxes which contain approximately

2

42% nonfunctional slack-fill by making material misrepresentations to fraudulently deceive

3

Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass, or Defendants reasonably should have known that

4

the Products were not full of candies and contained a significant amount of nonfunctional slack-fill,

5

and that Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass would reasonably and justifiably rely on

6

the size and style of the Products’ packaging in purchasing the Products.

7
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119.

120.

Defendants fraudulently deceived Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass

8

by misrepresenting the Products as having characteristics and quantities which they do not have,

9

e.g., that the Products are free of nonfunctional slack-fill when they are not. In doing so, Defendants

10

intentionally or reasonably should have known it misrepresented and concealed material facts from

11

Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass.

12

deceived Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass and deprived them of their legal rights

13

and money.

14

121.

Said misrepresentations and concealment

Defendants fraudulently deceived Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass by

15

packaging and advertising the Products with intent not to sell them as advertised, by intentionally

16

or reasonably should have known it was under-filling the Products’ containers and instead replaced

17

candy product with nonfunctional slack-fill. In doing so, Defendants misrepresented and concealed

18

material facts from Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass. Said misrepresentations and

19

concealment deceived Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass and deprived them of their

20

legal rights and money.

21

122.

Defendants fraudulently deceived Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass by

22

representing that the Products’ packaging was supplied in accordance with an accurate

23

representation as the quantity of candy product contained therein when they were not. Defendants

24

presented the physical dimensions of the Products’ packaging to Plaintiffs and the California

25

Consumer Subclass before the point of purchase and gave Plaintiffs and the California Consumer

26

Subclass a reasonable expectation that the quantity of candy product contained therein was

27

commensurate with the size of packaging. In doing so, Defendants misrepresented and concealed

28

material facts from Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass. Said misrepresentations and
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1

concealment deceived Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass and deprived them of their

2

legal rights and money.

3
4
5
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Defendants knew or should have known, through the exercise of reasonable care, that

the Products’ packaging was misleading.
124.

Defendants’ actions as described herein were done with disregard of Plaintiffs’ and

6

the California Consumer Subclass’s rights, and Defendants was wanton and malicious in its

7

concealment of the same.

8
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123.

125.

Defendants’ Product packaging was a material factor in Plaintiffs’ and the California

9

Consumer Subclass’s decisions to purchase the Products. Based on Defendants’ Product packaging,

10

Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass reasonably relied on Defendants’ misleading

11

packaging and fraudulent conduct believing that they were getting more candy product than they

12

actually received. Had they known the truth of the matter, Plaintiffs and the California Consumer

13

Subclass would not have purchased the Products or would have paid significantly less for the

14

Products had they known that Defendant’s conduct was misleading and fraudulent.

15

126.

Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass have suffered injury in fact and have

16

lost money as a result of Defendant’s unfair, unlawful and fraudulent conduct. Specifically,

17

Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass paid for candy product they never received.

18

Plaintiffs and the California Consumer Subclass would not have purchased the Products had they

19

known the boxes contained nonfunctional slack-fill or would have paid significantly less for the

20

Products.

21

127.

Under Cal. Civ. Code section 1780(a), Defendants’ false and misleading packaging

22

should be enjoined due to the false and misleading, and/or deceptive nature of Defendants’

23

packaging. In addition, Defendants should be compelled to provide declaratory relief, restitution,

24

damages, and all other remedies the Court deems appropriate for Defendants’ violations of the

25

CLRA to consumers who paid for candy product they never received due to Defendants’

26

representation that it contained a commensurate amount of candy product for a box of its size.

27
28

128.

By a letter dated September 12, 2016, Plaintiff Gordon advised Defendants of its false

and misleading claims pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code section 1782(a).
Error! Unknown document property name.

37

FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT

1
2
3
4

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

5

129.

By a letter dated November 23, 2016, Plaintiff Hafer advised Defendants of its false

and misleading claims pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code section 1782(a).
130.

On August 11, 2017, the Parties stipulated to substitute Plaintiff Hafer in this matter

with Plaintiff Hoffman pursuant to Cal. Rule of Court 3.770(a)-(c) and CCP 473(a)(1).
131.

Because Defendants failed to fully rectify or remedy the damages caused after waiting

6

more than the statutorily required 30 days after it received the notice and demand letters, Plaintiffs

7

timely filed their class action complaints, and are properly filing this Fourth Amended Complaint

8

on behalf of themselves individually and all members of the Classes.

9

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

10

Violation of California False Advertising Law,

11

Business and Professions Code § 17500, et seq.

12

(for the California Consumer Subclass only)

13
14
15

132.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege all the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs

and incorporate the same as if set forth herein at length.
133.

Plaintiffs bring this cause of action pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section

16

17500, et seq., on their own behalf and on behalf of the members of the proposed California Class

17

and California Consumer Subclass against Defendants.

18

134.

California’s False Advertising Law, California Business and Professions Code

19

Section 17500, et seq., makes it “unlawful for any person to make or disseminate or cause to be

20

made or disseminated before the public in this state, in any advertising device or in any other manner

21

or means whatever, including over the Internet, any statement, concerning personal property or

22

services, professional or otherwise, or performance or disposition thereof, which is untrue or

23

misleading and which is known, or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to

24

be untrue or misleading.”

25

135.

Defendants manipulated the physical dimensions of the Products’ boxes, or stated

26

another way, under-filled the amount of candy product in each of the Products, by including

27

approximately 42% nonfunctional slack-fill as a means to mislead the public about the amount of

28

candy product contained in each package, and did so knowingly or reasonably should have known.
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1

through the exercise of reasonable care that its representations about the quantity of candy product

3

contained in the Products were untrue and misleading.
137.

The general public bases its purchasing decisions on the dimensions of a product’s

5

packaging. Consumers generally do not look at any label information, such as net weight or serving

6

disclosures. Instead, the general public chooses a larger box because it leads them to believe they

7

are receiving a better value.

8
9
10
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Defendants controlled the packaging of the Products. It knew or should have known,

2

4
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136.

11
12
13

138.

Defendants’ conduct of packaging the Products with approximately 42%

nonfunctional slack-fill instead of including more candy product or smaller boxes deceives the
general public.
139.

Defendants’ actions in violation of Section 17500 were false and misleading such that

the general public is and was likely to be deceived.
140.

Pursuant to Business and Professions Code Sections 17535, Plaintiffs and the Classes

14

seek an order of this Court enjoining Defendants from continuing to engage, use, or employ their

15

practice of under-filling the Products’ containers. Likewise, Plaintiffs and the Classes seek an order

16

requiring Defendants to disclose such misrepresentations, and additionally request an order

17

awarding Plaintiff and the Classes restitution of the money wrongfully acquired by Defendants by

18

means of responsibility attached to Defendants’ failure to disclose the existence and significance of

19

said misrepresentations in an amount to be determined at trial.

20

141.

Plaintiffs and the Classes have suffered injury in fact and have lost money as a result

21

of Defendants’ false representations. Plaintiffs purchased the Products in reliance upon the claims

22

by Defendants that the Products were of the quantity represented by Defendants’ packaging and

23

advertising. Plaintiffs would not have purchased the Products if they had known that the claims and

24

advertising as described herein were false.

25

142.

Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege that at all times relevant

26

herein each of these individuals and/or entities was the agent, servant, employee, subsidiary,

27

affiliate, partner, assignee, successor-in-interest, alter ego, or other representative of each of the

28
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1

remaining Defendants and was acting in such capacity in doing the things herein complained of and

2

alleged.

3

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

In committing the wrongful acts alleged herein, Defendants planned and participated

4

in and furthered a common scheme by means of false, misleading, deceptive, and fraudulent

5

representations to induce members of the public to purchase the Products. Defendants participated

6

in the making of such representations in that it did disseminate or cause to be disseminated said

7

misrepresentations.

8
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143.

144.

Defendants, upon becoming involved with the manufacture, advertising, and sale of

9

the Products, knew or should have known that the Products were being under-filled, and thus the

10

packaging of the Products was misleading. Defendants affirmatively misrepresented the quantity

11

of the Products’ contents in order to convince the public and the Products’ consumer to purchase

12

and use the Products, resulting in profits of millions of dollars or more to Defendants, all to the

13

damage and detriment of the consuming public.

14

145.

Plaintiffs request that this Court cause Defendants to restore this money to Plaintiffs

15

and members of the Classes, to disgorge the profits Defendants made on these transactions, and to

16

enjoin Defendants from violating the FAL or violating it in the same fashion in the future as

17

discussed herein. Otherwise, Plaintiffs and members of the Classes may be irreparably harmed

18

and/or denied an effective and complete remedy if such an order is not granted.

19

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

20

Violations of California Unfair Competition Law

21

Business and Professions Code§ 17200, et seq.

22

(for the California Consumer Subclass only)

23
24
25

146.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege all the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs

and incorporate the same as if set forth herein at length.
147.

Plaintiffs bring this cause of action pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section

26

17200, et seq., on their own behalf and on behalf of the members of the proposed California Class

27

and California Consumer Subclass against Defendants.

28

148.

Congress passed the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), and in so
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1

doing established the Federal Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to “promote the public

2

health” by ensuring that “foods are safe, wholesome, sanitary, and properly labeled.” 21 U.S.C. §

3

393.

4
5

149.

§ 101.1 et seq.

6

150.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

The legislature of California has incorporated 21 C.F.R. Section 100.100, which

7

prohibits nonfunctional slack-fill, into California’s Business and Professions Code Section 12606.2,

8

et seq.

9
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The FDA has implemented regulations to achieve this objective. See, e.g., 21 C.F.R.

151.

The FDA enforces the FDCA and accompanying regulations; “[t]here is no private

10

right of action under the FDCA.” Ivie v. Kraft Foods Global, Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25615,

11

2013 WL 685372, at *1 (internal citations omitted).

12

152.

In 1990, Congress passed an amendment to the FDCA, the Nutrition Labeling and

13

Education Act (“NLEA”), which imposed a number of requirements specifically governing food

14

nutritional content labeling. See, e.g., 21 U.S.C. § 343 et. seq.

15

153.

Plaintiffs are not suing under the FDCA, but under California state law.

16

154.

The California Sherman Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“Sherman Law”), Cal.

17

Health & Safety Code § 109875 et seq., has adopted wholesale the food labeling requirements of

18

the FDCA and NLEA as the food regulations of California. Cal. Health & Safety Code § 110100.

19

155.

The Sherman Law declares any food to be misbranded if it is false or misleading in

20

any particular, if the labeling does not conform with the requirements for nutrition labeling set forth

21

in certain provisions of the NLEA. Cal. Health & Safety Code §§ 110660, 110665, 110670.

22

156.

The UCL prohibits and provides, in pertinent part, that “unfair competition shall

23

mean and include unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business practices and unfair, deceptive, untrue or

24

misleading advertising….” Cal. Bus & Prof. Code § 17200.

25

A.

26

“Unfair” Prong
157.

Under California’s False Advertising Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code Section 17200, et

27

seq., a challenged activity is “unfair” when “any injury it causes outweighs any benefits provided

28

to consumers and the injury is one that the consumers themselves could not reasonably avoid.”
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1
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4

Defendants’ action of leaving 42% nonfunctional slack-fill in its Products does not

confer any benefit to consumers.
159.

Defendants’ action of leaving 42% nonfunctional slack-fill in its Products causes

injuries to consumers because they do not receive a quantity of candy commensurate with their

6

reasonable expectation.
160.

Defendants’ action of leaving 42% nonfunctional slack-fill in its Products causes

8

injuries to consumers because they do not receive a level of hunger satiety commensurate with their

9

reasonable expectation.

10
CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

158.

5

7
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Camacho v. Auto Club of Southern California, 142 Cal. App. 4th 1394, 1403 (2006).

161.

Defendants’ action of leaving 42% nonfunctional slack-fill in its Products causes

11

injuries to consumers because they end up overpaying for the Products and receiving a quantity of

12

candy less than what they expected to receive.

13
14
15
16
17

162.

Consumers cannot avoid any of the injuries caused by the 42% nonfunctional slack-

fill in Defendants’ Products.
163.

Accordingly, the injuries caused by Defendants’ activity of including 42%

nonfunctional slack-fill in the Products outweighs any benefits.
164.

Some courts conduct a balancing test to decide if a challenged activity amounts to

18

unfair conduct under California Business and Professions Code Section 17200. They “weigh the

19

utility of the defendant’s conduct against the gravity of the harm to the alleged victim.” Davis v.

20

HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A., 691 F.3d 1152, 1169 (9th Cir. 2012).

21

165.

Here, Defendants’ conduct of including 42% nonfunctional slack-fill in the Products’

22

packaging has no utility and financially harms purchasers. Thus, the utility of Defendants’ conduct

23

is vastly outweighed by the gravity of harm.

24

166.

Some courts require that “unfairness must be tethered to some legislative declared

25

policy or proof of some actual or threatened impact on competition.” Lozano v. AT&T Wireless

26

Servs. Inc., 504 F. 3d 718, 735 (9th Cir. 2007).

27
28

167.

The California legislature maintains a declared policy of prohibiting nonfunctional

slack-fill in consumer goods, as reflected in California’s Business and Professions Code Section
Error! Unknown document property name.

42

FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT

1
2

The approximately 42% of nonfunctional slack-fill contained in the Products is

tethered to a legislative policy declared in California according to California Business and

4

Professions Code Section 12606.2 and California Health & Safety Code Section 110100.

6

169.

Defendants’ packaging of the Products, as alleged in the preceding paragraphs, is

false, deceptive, misleading, and unreasonable, and constitutes unfair conduct.

7

170.

Defendants knew or should have known of its unfair conduct.

8

171.

As alleged in the preceding paragraphs, the misrepresentations by Defendants detailed

9
10
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168.

3

5
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12606.2 and California Health and Safety Code Section 110100.

11

above constitute an unfair business practice within the meaning of California Business and
Professions Code Section 17200.
172.

There were reasonably available alternatives to further Defendants’ legitimate

12

business interests, other than the conduct described herein. Defendants could have used packaging

13

appropriate for the amount of candy product contained within the Products.

14

173.

All of the conduct alleged herein occurs and continues to occur in Defendants’

15

business. Defendants’ wrongful conduct is part of a pattern or generalized course of conduct

16

repeated on approximately thousands of occasions daily.

17

174.

Pursuant to Business and Professions Code Sections 17203, Plaintiffs and the Classes

18

seek an order of this Court enjoining Defendants from continuing to engage, use, or employ its

19

practice of under-filling the Products’ boxes. Likewise, Plaintiffs and the Classes seek an order

20

requiring Defendants to disclose such misrepresentations, and additionally request an order

21

awarding Plaintiffs and the class members restitution of the money wrongfully acquired by

22

Defendant by means of responsibility attached to Defendants’ failure to disclose the existence and

23

significance of said misrepresentations in an amount to be determined at trial.

24

175.

Plaintiffs and the Classes have suffered injury in fact and have lost money as a result

25

of Defendants’ unfair conduct. Plaintiffs paid an unwarranted premium for these products.

26

Specifically, Plaintiffs paid for 42% of candy product they never received. Plaintiffs would not

27

have purchased the Products if they had known that the Products’ packaging contained

28

nonfunctional slack-fill or would have paid significantly less for the Products.
Error! Unknown document property name.

43

FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT

1
2

176.

California Business and Professions Code Section 17200, et seq., considers conduct

fraudulent and therefore prohibits said conduct if it is likely to deceive members of the public. Bank

4

of W v. Superior Court, 2 Cal. 4th 1254, 553 (1992). Also, a business practice is “fraudulent” if it

5

actually deceives members of the consuming public. See UCL.
177.

Members of the public base their purchasing decisions on the dimensions of a

7

product’s packaging. They generally do not view label information or net weight and serving

8

disclosures. Members of the public choose a larger box because they automatically assume it has

9

better value.

10
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“Fraudulent” Prong

3

6
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B.

11
12
13

178.

Defendants’ conduct of packaging the Products with 42% nonfunctional slack-fill is

likely to deceive members of the public.
179.

Defendants’ packaging of the Products, as alleged in the preceding paragraphs, is

false, deceptive, misleading, and unreasonable, and constitutes fraudulent conduct.

14

180.

Defendants knew or should have known of its fraudulent conduct.

15

181.

As alleged in the preceding paragraphs, the misrepresentations by Defendants detailed

16

above constitute a fraudulent business practice in violation of California Business & Professions

17

Code Section 17200.

18

182.

There were reasonably available alternatives to further Defendants’ legitimate

19

business interests other than the conduct described herein. Defendants could have used packaging

20

appropriate for the amount of Products contained therein.

21

183.

All of the conduct alleged herein occurs and continues to occur in Defendants’

22

business. Defendants’ wrongful conduct is part of a pattern or generalized course of conduct

23

repeated on thousands of occasions daily.

24

184.

Pursuant to Business and Professions Code Sections 17203, Plaintiffs and the Classes

25

seek an order of this Court enjoining Defendants from continuing to engage, use, or employ their

26

practice of under-filling the Products’ containers. Likewise, Plaintiffs and the Classes seek an order

27

requiring Defendants to disclose such misrepresentations, and additionally request an order

28

awarding Plaintiffs restitution of the money wrongfully acquired by Defendants by means of
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1

responsibility attached to Defendants’ failure to disclose the existence and significance of said

2

misrepresentations in an amount to be determined at trial.

3
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Plaintiffs and the Classes have suffered injury in fact and have lost money as a result

4

of Defendants’ unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent conduct. Plaintiffs paid an unwarranted premium

5

for these products. Specifically, Plaintiffs paid for 42% of candy product they never received.

6

Plaintiffs would not have purchased the Products or would have paid significantly less for the

7

Products if they had known that the boxes contained nonfunctional slack-fill.

8

C.

9
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185.

“Unlawful” Prong
186.

California Business and Professions Code Section 17200, et seq., identifies violations

10

of any state or federal law as “unlawful practices that the unfair competition law makes

11

independently actionable.” Velazquez v. GMAC Mortg. Corp., 605 F. Supp. 2d 1049, 1068 (C.D.

12

Cal. 2008).

13

187.

Defendants’ packaging of the Products, as alleged in the preceding paragraphs,

14

violates California Civil Code Section 1750, et. seq., California Business and Professions Code

15

Section 17500, et. seq., California’s Sherman Law, California Business and Professions Code

16

Section 12606.2, et seq., the FDCA, and 21 C.F.R section 100.100.

17
18

188.

Defendants’ packaging of the Products, as alleged in the preceding paragraphs, is

false, deceptive, misleading, and unreasonable, and constitutes unlawful conduct.

19

189.

Defendants knew or should have known of its unlawful conduct.

20

190.

As alleged in the preceding paragraphs, the misrepresentations by Defendants detailed

21

above constitute an unlawful business practice within the meaning of California Business and

22

Professions Code section 17200.

23

191.

There were reasonably available alternatives to further Defendants’ legitimate

24

business interests, other than the conduct described herein. Defendant could have used packaging

25

appropriate for the amount of candy product contained therein.

26

192.

All of the conduct alleged herein occurred and continues to occur in Defendants’

27

business. Defendants’ wrongful conduct is part of a pattern or generalized course of conduct

28

repeated on thousands of occasions daily.
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Pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 17203, Plaintiffs and the Classes

2

seek an order of this Court enjoining Defendants from continuing to engage, use, or employ their

3

practice of under-filling the Products’ boxes. Likewise, Plaintiffs and the Classes seek an order

4

requiring Defendants to disclose such misrepresentations, and additionally request an order

5

awarding Plaintiffs restitution of the money wrongfully acquired by Defendants by means of

6

responsibility attached to Defendants’ failure to disclose the existence and significance of said

7

misrepresentations in an amount to be determined at trial.

8
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193.

194.

Plaintiffs and the Classes have suffered injury in fact and have lost money as a result

9

of Defendants’ unlawful conduct. Plaintiffs paid an unwarranted premium for these products.

10

Specifically, Plaintiffs paid for 42% candy product they never received. Plaintiffs would not have

11

purchased the Products or would have paid significantly less for the Products if they had known that

12

the Products contained nonfunctional slack-fill.

13

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

14

Common Law Fraud

15

(for the Classes)

16
17
18
19
20

195.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege all the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs

and incorporate the same as if set forth herein at length.
196.

Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the members of the

Classes against Defendants.
197.

Defendants have willfully, falsely, and knowingly filled and packaged the Products in

21

a manner indicating that the Products are full of candies. However, the Products contain only

22

approximately 58% candies and instead contain significant amounts of non-functional slack-fill.

23

Therefore, Defendants have made misrepresentations as to the Products.

24

198.

Defendants’ misrepresentations are and were material (i.e., the type of

25

misrepresentations to which a reasonable person would attach importance and would be induced to

26

act thereon in making purchase decisions), because they relate to the quantity of Products the

27

consumer is receiving.

28

199.

Defendants knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that the Products contained a
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1
2
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200.

Defendants intended and intend that Plaintiffs and other consumers rely on these

3

representations, as evidenced by Defendants intentionally manufacturing packaging that is

4

significantly larger than the volume of the contents inside.

5
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significant amount of non-functional slack-fill.

201.

Plaintiffs and members of the Classes have reasonably and justifiably relied on

6

Defendants’ misrepresentations when purchasing the Products and had the correct facts been known,

7

would not have purchased the Products or would not have purchased them at the prices at which

8

they were offered.

9

202.

Therefore, as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ fraud, Plaintiffs and

10

members of the Classes have suffered economic losses and other general and specific damages,

11

including but not limited to the amounts paid for the Products, and any interest that would have

12

accrued on those monies, all in an amount to be proven at trial.

13

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

14

Intentional Misrepresentation

15

(for the Classes)

16
17
18
19
20

203.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege all the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs

and incorporate the same as if set forth herein at length.
204.

Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the members of the

Classes against Defendants.
205.

Defendants have filled and packaged the Products in a manner indicating that the

21

Products are full of candies. However, the Products contain only approximately 58% candies and

22

instead contain a significant amount of non-functional slack-fill. Therefore, Defendants have made

23

misrepresentations as to the Products.

24

206.

Defendants’ misrepresentations regarding the Products are material to a reasonable

25

consumer because they relate to the quantity of product received by consumers. A reasonable

26

consumer would attach importance to such representations and would be induced to act thereon in

27

making purchase decisions.

28

207.

At all relevant times when such misrepresentations were made, Defendants knew that

Error! Unknown document property name.

47

FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT

1

the representations were misleading, or has acted recklessly in making the representations, without

2

regard to the truth.

3

208.

4

and style of the Products’ packaging, as evidenced by Defendants’ intentionally manufacturing,

5

marketing, and selling packaging that is significantly larger than the volume of the contents inside.

6
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209.

Plaintiffs and members of the Classes have reasonably and justifiably relied on

7

Defendants’ intentional misrepresentations when purchasing the Products, and had the correct facts

8

been known, would not have purchased the Products or would not have purchased them at the prices

9

at which they were offered.

10
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Defendants intended and intends that Plaintiffs and other consumers rely on the size

210.

Therefore, as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ intentional

11

misrepresentations, Plaintiffs and members of the Classes have suffered economic losses and other

12

general and specific damages, including but not limited to the amounts paid for the Products, and

13

any interest that would have accrued on those monies, all in an amount to be proven at trial.

14

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

15

Negligent Misrepresentation

16

(for the Classes)

17
18
19
20
21

211.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege all the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs

and incorporate the same as if set forth herein at length.
212.

Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the members of the

Classes against Defendants.
213.

Defendants filled and packaged the Products in a manner indicating that the Products

22

are full of candies. However, the Products contain only approximately 58% candies and instead

23

contain a significant amount of non-functional slack-fill.

24

misrepresentations as to the Products.

25

214.

Therefore, Defendants made

Defendants’ misrepresentations regarding the Products are material to a reasonable

26

consumer because they relate to the quantity of product received by the consumer. A reasonable

27

consumer would attach importance to such representations and would be induced to act thereon in

28

making purchase decisions.
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1

has been negligent in not knowing that that the Products are not full of candies and instead contain

3

a significant amount of non-functional slack-fill. Defendants had no reasonable grounds for

4

believing its misrepresentation is not false and misleading.
216.

Defendants intended and intend that Plaintiffs and other consumers rely on the size

6

and style of the Products’ packaging, as evidenced by Defendants’ packaging that is significantly

7

larger than the volume of the contents inside.

8

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

At all relevant times when such misrepresentations were made, Defendants knew or

2

5
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215.

217.

Plaintiffs and members of the Classes have reasonably and justifiably relied on

9

Defendants’ negligent misrepresentations when purchasing the Products, and had the correct facts

10

been known, would not have purchased the Products or would not have purchased them at the prices

11

at which they were offered.

12

218.

Therefore,

as

a

direct

and

proximate

result

of

Defendants’

negligent

13

misrepresentations, Plaintiffs and members of the Classes have suffered economic losses and other

14

general and specific damages, including but not limited to the amounts paid for the Products, and

15

any interest that would have accrued on those monies, all in an amount to be proven at trial.

16

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

17

Unjust Enrichment

18

(for the Classes)

19
20

219. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations of the preceding paragraphs as if fully
set forth herein.

21

220. Plaintiffs brings this claim individually and on behalf of the Classes.

22

221. By purchasing the Products, Plaintiffs and members of the Class conferred a benefit

23

on Defendants in the form of the purchase price of the Products in exchange for candy product they

24

never received.

25

222. Defendants had knowledge of such benefit. Defendants appreciated the benefit

26

because, were consumers not to purchase the Products, Defendant would not generate revenue from

27

the sales of the Products.

28

223. Defendants’ acceptance and retention of the benefit is inequitable and unjust because
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1

the benefit was obtained by Defendants’ fraudulent and misleading representations and omissions.

2

Therefore, restitution and/or disgorgement of such economic enrichment is required. Plaintiffs and

3

the Classes seek said monetary damages.

4

EIGHT CAUSE OF ACTION

5

Breach of Express Warranty

6

(for the Classes)

7
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22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

8

224.

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the

preceding paragraphs of this complaint, as though fully set forth herein.

9

225.

Plaintiffs bring this claim individually and on behalf of the Classes.

10

226.

By advertising and selling the Products at issue, Defendants made promises and

11

affirmations of fact on the Products’ packaging and labeling, and through its marketing and

12

advertising, as described herein. This labeling and advertising constitutes express warranties that

13

became part of the basis of the bargain between Plaintiffs and members of the Classes, on the one

14

hand, and Defendants, on the other hand.

15

227.

Defendants, through the Products’ packaging, labeling, and advertising, created

16

express warranties that the Products contain candy product commensurate with the size of the

17

Product box. Despite Defendant’s express warranties about the nature of the Products, the Products

18

were unlawfully underfilled, and the Products are, therefore, not what Defendants represented them

19

to be. Accordingly, Defendants breached express warranties about the Products and their qualities

20

because the Products do not conform to Defendants’ representations, affirmations, and/or promises.

21

228.

As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breach of express warranty, Plaintiffs

22

and members of the Classes were financially harmed. Further, Plaintiffs and members of the Classes

23

have suffered and continue to suffer economic losses and other damages.

24

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

25

Breach of Implied Warranty

26

(for the Classes)

27
28

229.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set forth above, and incorporates the

same as if set forth herein at length.
Error! Unknown document property name.
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1
2
3
4
5
6
7

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

Unless excluded or modified, a warranty that a good shall be merchantable is

implied in a contract for their sale, if the seller is a merchant with respect to goods of that kind.
231.

Defendants are merchants with respect to the Products, as they manufacture,

distribute, and sell the Products nationwide.
232.

In order to be merchantable, goods must conform to the promises or affirmations of

fact made by or on the container or labeling.
233.

Defendants breached the implied warranty of merchantability to Plaintiffs and the

8

Classes in its representations that the purchased products provided candy product commensurate

9

with the size of the product packaging.

10
22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

230.

11

234.

As a result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs and the Classes did not receive

merchantable goods as impliedly warranted by Defendants.

12

235.

13

merchantability.

14

236.

Defendants did not exclude or modify the Products’ implied warranty of

As a proximate result of Defendants breach of its implied warranty, Plaintiffs and

15

members of the Classes incurred damages. Plaintiffs and members of the Classes were damaged as

16

a result of Defendants’ failure to comply with its obligations under the implied warranty, since

17

Plaintiffs and members of the Classes paid for a Product that did not have the promised quality and

18

nature, did not receive the product that they bargained for, paid a premium for the Product when

19

they could have instead purchased other less expensive alternative products, and lost the

20

opportunity to purchase other similar products.

21
22

237. Plaintiffs and the Classes are therefore entitled to recover all available remedies for
breach.

23
24
25
26

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and on behalf of the Classes defined
herein, pray for judgment and relief on all causes of action as follows:
A.

27
28

For an order certifying the Classes, appointing Plaintiffs as class representatives, and
designating Plaintiffs’ counsel as counsel for the Classes;

B.

For all forms of relief set forth above;

Error! Unknown document property name.
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1

C.

2
3

referenced herein;
D.

4
5

asserted herein;
E.

For an order awarding all damages, including punitive damages and damages in an
amount to be determined by this Court and/or jury at trial, together with pre- and post-

7

judgment interest at the maximum rate allowable by law on any amounts awarded;
F.

9
10
CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

For an order finding in favor of Plaintiffs and the Classes on all causes of action

6

8

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

For an order declaring that Defendants’ conduct violates the statutes and laws

forms of equitable monetary relief;
G.

11
12

An order enjoining Defendant from continuing to engage in the unlawful conduct and
practice described herein or as this Court may deem proper;

H.

13
14

Restitution and/or disgorgement in an amount to be determined at trial and all other

Awarding Plaintiff and the Classes their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit,;
and,

I.

Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

15
16
17

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Plaintiffs reiterate their jury demand on all triable issues.

18
19

DATED: August 9, 2021

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

20

_____________________________
Ryan J. Clarkson, Esq.
Shireen M. Clarkson, Esq.
Bahar Sodaify, Esq.
Zach Chrzan, Esq.

21
22
23

FARUQI & FARUQI, LLP
Benjamin Heikali, Esq.
10866 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1470
Los Angeles, CA 90024
Tel: (424) 256-2884
Fax: (424) 256-2885

24
25
26
27

Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Certified Class

28
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Exhibit )

2

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORINA

3

FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

4
5
6

JADE THOMAS and CAREY HOFFMAN,
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,

7

STIPULATION REGARDING
UNDERTAKING RE ATTORNEYS’
FEES AND COSTS

vs.

8
9

Case No. BC649863

NESTLE USA, INC., FERRARA CANDY
CO. and DOES 1 through 10, inclusive

10

Hon. Daniel J. Buckley

Defendants.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

3DFLILF&RDVW+Z\
0DOLEXCA 90

11
12
13
14
15

Plaintiffs Jade Thomas and Carey Hoffman (“Plaintiffs”), and Defendants Nestle USA,
Inc. and Ferrara Candy Co. (“Defendants”), by and through their undersigned counsel stipulate
and agree as follows:

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

WHEREAS, Class Counsel (as defined in the underlying Settlement Agreement) and their
law firm desire to give an undertaking (the “Undertaking”) for repayment of their award of
attorneys’ fees and costs, as is required by the Settlement Agreement and approved by the Court,
and
WHEREAS, the Parties agree that this Undertaking is in the interests of all Parties and in
service of judicial economy and efficiency.
NOW, THEREFORE, each of the undersigned Class Counsel, on behalf of themselves as
individuals and as agents for their law firm, hereby submit themselves and their law firm to the
jurisdiction of the Court for the purpose of enforcing the provisions of this Undertaking.
Capitalized terms used herein without definition have the meanings given to them in the
Settlement Agreement.
By receiving any payments pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Clarkson Law Firm,
P.C. and its shareholders, members, and/or partners submit to the jurisdiction of the Superior
STIPULATION REGARDING UNDERTAKING RE ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS

\DC - 041145/000009 - 12221444 v1

1

Court of California for the County of Los Angeles for the enforcement of and any and all disputes

2

relating to or arising out of the reimbursement obligation set forth herein and the Settlement

3

Agreement.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

3DFLILF&RDVW+Z\
0DOLEX, CA 90

4

Clarkson Law Firm, P.C., Ryan J. Clarkson, Esq., Shireen Clarkson, Esq., jointly and

5

severally liable for Class Counsel’s obligations to return such payments pursuant to this

6

Undertaking and Paragraph 9.2. of the underlying Settlement Agreement.

7

Defendants will pay Class Counsel attorneys’ fees of up to One Million One Hundred

8

Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven Dollars ($1,166,667), plus litigation costs and

9

expenses as provided in the Settlement Agreement and as approved by the Court within thirty (30)

10

days after the Court’s Final Order and Judgment approving the settlement and fee award,

11

notwithstanding any appeal, subject to Class Counsel providing applicable tax I.D. number(s),

12

providing payment routing information, and executing this stipulated Undertaking.

13

If the Final Approval Order and Judgment or any part of it is vacated, overturned, reversed,

14

or rendered void as a result of an appeal, or the Settlement Agreement is voided, rescinded, or

15

otherwise terminated for any other reason, or the Court’s award of attorney fees, costs or expenses

16

is reduced on appeal or otherwise prior to the Effective Date, then within forty-five (45) days of

17

such event, Class Counsel shall return to Defendants the attorneys’ fees, costs, and other payments

18

received by Class Counsel under this paragraph, in the amounts and according to the procedures

19

set forth herein. The terms set forth herein are expressly incorporated into this Class Action

20

Settlement Agreement and shall be binding as if fully set forth herein.

21
22
23

This Undertaking and all obligations set forth herein shall expire upon finality of all direct
appeals of the Final Order and Judgment.
In the event Class Counsel fails to repay to Defendants any attorneys’ fees and costs that

24

are owed pursuant to this Undertaking, the Court shall, upon application of Defendants, and notice

25

to Class Counsel, summarily issue orders, including but not limited to judgments and attachment

26

orders against Class Counsel for the unpaid sum.

27
28

2

STIPULATION REGARDING UNDERTAKING RE ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS
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2

1
2

authority to enter into this stipulation, agreement, and undertaking on behalf of their respective

3

law firms and client-parties to this action.

4

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

This Undertaking may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be

5

deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

6

Signatures by facsimile or PDF shall be as effective as original signatures.

7

3DFLILF&RDVW+Z\
0DOLEX, CA 9

The undersigned stipulate, warrant, and represent that they have both actual and apparent

The undersigned declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California

8

and the United States that they have read and understand the foregoing and that it is true and

9

correct.

10
11

IT IS SO STIPULATED THROUGH COUNSEL OF RECORD:

12
13
14

DATED: __, 2021

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

15

____________________________
Ryan J. Clarkson, Esq., individually and on
behalf of Clarkson Law Firm, P.C.

16
17

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Certified Class

18
19

DATED: __, 2021

MAYER BROWN LLP

20

22

____________________________
Dale J. Giali, Esq.
Keri E. Borders, Esq.

23

Attorneys for Defendants

21

24
25
26
27
28

3
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COVERED PRODUCTS
PRODUCT NAME/DESCRIPTION
BIG CHEWY NERDS ASSORTED FRUIT
FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY
4.25 OZ 1 CT - 0079200774471
BIG CHEWY NERDS SOUR ASSORTED SOUR
FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY
4.25 OZ 1 CT - 0079200773801
NERDS ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY THEATER
BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT - 0000007155262
NERDS ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY THEATER
BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT - 0079200558332
NERDS ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY THEATER
BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT - 2715611153371
NERDS ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY THEATER
BOX EVERYDAY 6 OZ 1 CT - 0079200587781
NERDS ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY THEATER
BOX EVERYDAY 6 OZ 1 CT - 2700710428381
NERDS CHERRY AND WATERMELON FRUITY
CHEWY CHRISTMAS 5 OZ 1 CT 0079200498191
NERDS GUMMY CLUSTERS ASSORTED
FRUITY CHEWY EASTER 3 OZ 1 CT 0079200051221
NERDS GUMMY CLUSTERS ASSORTED
FRUITY CHEWY VALENTINES 3 OZ 1 CT 0079200051101
NERDS GUMMY CLUSTERS SWEET AND
TANGY FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX
EVERYDAY 3 OZ 1 CT - 0079200049031
NERDS GUMMY CLUSTERS SWEET AND
TANGY FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX
EVERYDAY 3 OZ 1 CT - 0079200249031
NERDS STAR WARS LIGHT SIDE RASPBERRY
AND DARK SIDE CHERRY FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT 0079200532381
NERDS STRAWBERRY AND GRAPE FRUITY
CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT
- 0079200616001
NERDS STRAWBERRY PUNCH FRUITY
CHEWY VALENTINES 5 OZ 1 CT 0079200689901
NERDS TANGY FRUITY CHEWY THEATER
BOX EVERYDAY 7 OZ 1 CT - 0079200313223
NERDS TANGY FRUITY CHEWY THEATER
BOX EVERYDAY 7 OZ 1 CT - 2715600004041
SWEETARTS ALL OTHER ASSORTED TANGY
FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY
4.5 OZ 1 CT - 0079200874121
SWEETARTS GIANT CHEWY ASSORTED
TANGY FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX
EVERYDAY 4.5 OZ 1 CT - 2715600920561
SWEETARTS MINI CHEWY ASSORTED FRUIT
FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY
3.75 OZ 1 CT - 0079200504581

741663771.1 19-May-21 18:17

UPC CODE
007920077447
007920077380
000000715526
007920055833
271561115337
007920058778
270071042838
007920049819
007920005122
007920005110
007920004903
007920024903

007920053238
007920061600
007920068990
007920031322
271560000404
007920087412
271560092056
007920050458

COVERED PRODUCTS
SWEETARTS MINI CHEWY ASSORTED FRUITY
CHEWY CHRISTMAS 3.75 OZ 1 CT 0079200928771
SWEETARTS MINI CHEWY ASSORTED FRUITY
CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT
- 0000003964072
SWEETARTS MINI CHEWY BERRIES &
CHERRIES FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX
EVERYDAY 3.75 OZ 1 CT - 0079200513761
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUIT
FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY
3.75 OZ 1 CT - 2715611150351
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY
CHEWY CHRISTMAS 5 OZ 1 CT 0079200127161
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY
CHEWY EASTER 4.5 OZ 1 CT - 0079200128361
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY
CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT
- 2715611429362
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY
CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 6 OZ 1 CT
- 0079200158861
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL ORIGINAL FRUITY
CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT
- 0079200928393
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL ORIGINAL FRUITY
CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT
- 2715600920541
SWEETARTS ORIGINAL STRAWBERRY
FRUITY CHEWY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY
3.5 OZ 1 CT - 0079200952871
SWEETARTS ROPES BITES ASSORTED FRUIT
FRUITY CHEWY CHRISTMAS 3 OZ 1 CT 0041420047941
SWEETARTS CONVERSATION HEARTS
ASSORTED CONVERSATION HEARTS
VALENTINES 4.5 OZ 1 CT - 0079200425661
SPREE ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT 0079200983712
SPREE ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT 2700717354682
SPREE ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT 2715611153441
SPREE ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 12 CT 0079200696961
SPREE ORIGINAL ASSORTED FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 6 OZ 1 CT 0079200150391

741663771.1 19-May-21 18:17

007920092877
000000396407
007920051376
271561115035
007920012716
007920012836
271561142936
007920015886
007920092839
271560092054
007920095287
004142004794
007920042566
007920098371
270071735468
271561115344
007920069696
007920015039

COVERED PRODUCTS
RUNTS ASSORTED FRUIT FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 4 OZ 1 CT 0079200051621
RUNTS ASSORTED FRUIT FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT 0079200472142
RUNTS ASSORTED FRUIT FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 6 OZ 1 CT 0079200989871
RUNTS ASSORTED FRUIT FRUITY CHEWY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 7 OZ 1 CT 0079200311021
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
CHRISTMAS 5 OZ 1 CT - 0079200179841
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 3.75 OZ 1 CT 0079200370381
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT 0079200619092
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 5 OZ 1 CT 2715611429351
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 6 OZ 1 CT 0079200955572
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 6 OZ 1 CT 2715600490651
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 7 OZ 1 CT 0079200310421
GOBSTOPPER ASSORTED HARD CANDY
THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 7.7 OZ 1 CT 0079200340692
GOBSTOPPER CHEWY ASSORTED HARD
CANDY THEATER BOX EVERYDAY 3.75 OZ 1
CT - 0079200370181
GOBSTOPPER HEART BREAKERS ASSORTED
HARD CANDY VALENTINES 4 OZ 1 CT 0079200424271
BUTTERFINGER - BTF PNB/MK OZ 3.50X9 BOX
CR BIT B 20
SNO CAPS CHO OZ 3.10X15 BOX CR B USA 20
RAISINETS DARK CHOCOLATE - DK/C OZ
3.10X15 BOX B 21
RAISINETS MILK CHOCOLATE - RAIS MLK/C
OZ 3.10X15 BOX B 21
BUNCHA CRUNCH - BU CRU C RI/MK OZ
3.20X12 BOX B 21
GOOBERS - GOOB MLC/N/N&PR OZ 3.50X15
BOX B 21
RAISINETS MILK CHOCOLATE - RAIS MLK/C
OZ 3.10X15 BOX HALL2 USA 21

741663771.1 19-May-21 18:17

007920005162
007920047214
007920098987
007920031102
007920017984
007920037038
007920061909
271561142935
007920095557
271560049065
007920031042
007920034069
007920037018
007920042427
099900100651
099900447275
099900722884
099900722730
099900159413
099900178902
099900722952

COVERED PRODUCTS
RAISINETS MILK CHOCOLATE - RAIS MLK/C
OZ 3.10X15 BOX CHR USA 21
RAISINETS MILK CHOCOLATE - MLK/C OZ
3.10X15 BOX CHR/WAL USA 21
BUTTERFINGER - BTF PNB/MK OZ 2.80X9 BOX
B USA 22

741663771.1 19-May-21 18:17

099900723140
099900723140
099900723515
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6
7
8

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA

9

FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

10

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

11
12

JADE THOMAS and CAREY HOFFMAN,
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,

13
14
15
16
17
18

vs.
NESTLE USA, INC. and FERRARA CANDY
CO. and DOES 2 through 10, inclusive,
Defendants.

Case No. BC649863
[CLASS ACTION]
[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING
PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF
SETTLEMENT
Judge:
Dept.:
Date:
Time:
Complaint Filed:

Daniel J. Buckley
1
August 23, 2021
10:30 AM
February 9, 2017

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF SETTLEMENT

1

WHEREAS, Plaintiffs Jade Thomas, Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel,

2

Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter,

3

and Patrick Ferguson (“Plaintiffs”), Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and Ferrero U.S.A.

4

Inc. (“Defendants”) (collectively, the “Parties”) have reached a proposed settlement and

5

compromise of the disputes between them in the above actions as set forth in the Class Action

6

Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement”);

7
8

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
9255 Sunset Blvd., Ste. 804
Los Angeles, CA 90069

9

WHEREAS, the Parties have applied to the Court for preliminary approval of the
Settlement;
AND NOW, the Court, having read and considered the Settlement and accompanying

10

documents and the Motion for Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement and supporting

11

papers, and all capitalized terms used herein having the meaning defined in the Settlement, IT IS

12

HEREBY ORDERED AS FOLLOWS:

13
14
15

1.

The Court, for purposes of this Order, adopts all defined terms as set forth in the

Settlement.
2.

Subject to further consideration by the Court at the time of the Final Approval

16

Hearing, the Court preliminarily approves the Settlement as fair, reasonable, and adequate to the

17

Settlement Class, as falling within the range of possible final approval, and as meriting

18

submission to the Settlement Class for its consideration.

19

3.

For purposes of the Settlement only, the Court certifies the Settlement Class, as

20

described below:

21

All persons in the United States of America who purchased

22

one or more RAISINETS®, BUNCHA CRUNCH®,

23

RUNTS®, BUTTERFINGER BITES®, TOLLHOUSE

24

SEMI-SWEET CHOCOLATE MORSELS®, RAINBOW

25

NERDS®, SWEETARTS®, SPREE®, GOBSTOPPER®,

26

and/or SNO-CAPS® candy products manufactured by

27

Defendants and packaged in an opaque cardboard box and

28

purchased by consumers from February 9, 2013 through the
1
ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF SETTLEMENT

1

date when the Court enters the Preliminary Approval Order

2

of the Settlement. Excluded from the Settlement Class are:

3

(1) the Honorable Daniel J. Buckley; (2) any member of his

4

immediate family; (3) Defendants; (4) any of Defendants’

5

subsidiaries, parents, affiliates, and officers, directors,

6

employees, legal representatives, heirs, successors, or

7

assigns; (5) counsel for the Parties; and (6) any persons

8

who timely opt-out of the Settlement Class.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
9255 Sunset Blvd., Ste. 804
Los Angeles, CA 90069

9

4.

The Court preliminary finds for purposes of considering this Settlement, that the

10

requirements of Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 382 are satisfied, including requirements for the existence

11

of an ascertainable class, a community interest, and manageability of the Settlement Class, that

12

common issues of law and fact predominate, and that a settlement class is superior to alternative

13

means of resolving the claims and disputes at issue in this action.

14

5.

The Court orders that Jade Thomas, Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel,

15

Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter,

16

and Patrick Ferguson are appointed as the Representative Plaintiffs. The Court also orders that

17

Clarkson Law Firm, P.C. and Faruqi & Faruqi, LLP is appointed Class Counsel. The Court

18

preliminarily finds that the Representative Plaintiffs and Class Counsel fairly and adequately

19

represent and protect the interests of the absent Settlement Class Members in accordance with

20

Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 382.

21

6.

A Final Approval Hearing shall be held before this Court in Department 1 of the

22

Los Angeles Superior Court – Spring Street Courthouse, to address: (a) whether the proposed

23

Settlement should be finally approved as fair, reasonable and adequate, and whether the Final

24

Approval Order and Judgment should be entered; and (b) whether Class Counsel’s application

25

for attorneys’ fees, costs, expenses and service award should be approved. Consideration of any

26

application for an award of attorneys’ fees, costs, expenses and service award shall be separate

27

from consideration of whether or not the proposed Settlement should be approved, and from each

28
2
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1

other, and shall be embodied in separate orders. The Court will not decide the amount of any

2

service award or Class Counsel’s attorneys’ fees until the Final Approval Hearing.

3

With the exception of such proceedings as are necessary to implement, effectuate,

4

and grant final approval to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, all proceedings are stayed in

5

this Action and all Settlement Class Members are enjoined from commencing or continuing any

6

action or proceeding in any court or tribunal asserting any claims encompassed by the Settlement

7

Agreement, unless the Settlement Class Member timely files a valid Request for Exclusion as

8

defined in the Settlement Agreement.

9
10
11
CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
9255 Sunset Blvd., Ste. 804
Los Angeles, CA 90069

7.

8.

The Court approves, as to form and content, the notices and claim form

substantially in the form attached to the Settlement Agreement.
9.

The Court finds that the Parties’ plan for providing notice to the Settlement Class

12

(the “Notice Plan”) described in the Settlement Agreement constitutes the best notice practicable

13

under the circumstances and constitutes due and sufficient notice to the Settlement Class, the

14

terms of the Settlement Agreement, and the Final Approval Hearing, and complies fully with the

15

requirements of the California Rules of Court, the California Code of Civil Procedure, the

16

California Civil Code, the Constitution of the State of California, the United States Constitution,

17

and any other applicable law.

18

10.

The Court further finds that the Notice Plan adequately informs members of the

19

Settlement Class of their right to exclude themselves from the Settlement Class so as not to be

20

bound by the terms of the Settlement Agreement. Any member of the Class who desires to be

21

excluded from the Settlement Class, and therefore not bound by the terms of the Settlement

22

Agreement, must submit a timely and valid written Request for Exclusion pursuant to the

23

instructions set forth in the Notice.

24

11.

The Court appoints Digital Settlement Group, LLC as the Claims Administrator.

25

12.

Any member of the Class who elects to be excluded shall not be entitled to

26

receive any of the benefits of the Settlement Agreement, shall not be bound by the release of any

27

claims pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, and shall not be entitled to object to the Settlement

28
3
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1

Agreement or appear at the Final Approval Hearing. The names of all Persons timely submitting

2

valid Requests for Exclusion shall be provided to the Court.

3

Service of all papers on counsel for the Parties shall be made as follows: for Class

4

Counsel, to Ryan J. Clarkson at Clarkson Law Firm, P.C., 9255 Sunset Blvd., Suite 804, Los

5

Angeles, California 90069 and Benjamin Heikali at Faruqi & Faruqi, LLP, 10866 Wilshire Blvd.,

6

Suite 1470, Los Angeles, California 90024. Only Settlement Class Members who have submitted

7

valid and timely written objections to the Settlement, together with supporting papers, shall be

8

entitled to be heard at the Final Approval Hearing.

9

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
9255 Sunset Blvd., Ste. 804
Los Angeles, CA 90069

13.

14.

Any Settlement Class Member who does not make a valid written objection as set

10

forth by the Settlement shall be deemed to have waived such objection and forever shall be

11

foreclosed from making any objection to the fairness or adequacy of the proposed settlement as

12

incorporated in the Settlement Agreement, the payment of attorneys’ fees and costs, service

13

award or the Final Approval Order and Judgment.

14
15
16
17
18

15.

Any Settlement Class Member who does not submit a valid Opt Out as forth by

the Settlement shall not be excluded from the Settlement Class.
16.

Any Settlement Class Member who is not excluded from the Settlement Class

shall be deemed to have released the Settled Claims.
17.

The Claims Administrator shall post the Settlement on the Settlement Website.

19

The Settlement shall include the approved class definition set forth in Paragraph 3 above and the

20

final notices and claim form.

21

18.

In the event that the proposed Settlement is not approved by the Court, or in the

22

event that the Settlement becomes null and void pursuant to its terms, this Order and all orders

23

entered in connection therewith shall become null and void, shall be of no further force and

24

effect, and shall not be used or referred to for any purposes whatsoever in this civil action or in

25

any other case or controversy; in such event the Settlement and all negotiations and proceedings

26

directly related thereto shall be deemed to be without prejudice to the rights of any and all of the

27

Parties, who shall be restored to their respective positions as of the date and time immediately

28

preceding the execution of the Settlement.
4
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19.

1

The Court may, for good cause, extend any of the deadlines set forth in this Order

2

without further notice to the Settlement Class Members. The Final Approval Hearing may, from

3

time to time and without further notice to the Settlement Class, be continued by order of the

4

Court.

5

20.

The following events shall take place on the below timeline chart:

6
7
8
9
10

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.
9255 Sunset Blvd., Ste. 804
Los Angeles, CA 90069

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

Event
Deadline for Settlement Website to go live
Deadline to commence Notice Plan
Deadline for Claim Forms to be postmarked or
submitted online
Deadline for Objections to be postmarked
Deadline for Opt-Out Requests to be
postmarked
Deadline for Plaintiffs’ application for
attorneys’ fees and costs and Plaintiffs’
incentive awards
Deadline for Plaintiffs to file motion for final
approval of class action settlement
21.

Date
20 calendar days following notice of this Court’s
preliminary approval of class action settlement
30 calendar days following notice of this Court’s
preliminary approval of class action settlement
60 calendar days following commencement of the
Notice Program
60 calendar days following commencement of the
Notice Program
60 calendar days following commencement of the
Notice Program
16 court days prior to Final Approval Hearing
16 court days prior to Final Approval Hearing

The Final Approval Hearing may be adjourned or continued without further

notice to the Class.

19
20

IT IS SO ORDERED.

21
22
23

Dated: ________________

____________________________________
Honorable Daniel J. Buckley

24
25
26
27
28
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Attorneys for Defendants
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13
14

17

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

18

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

19
20

JADE THOMAS and CAREY HOFFMAN,
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated,

21
22
23
24
25

Plaintiffs,

Case No. BC649863
[CLASS ACTION]
AMENDMENT NO. 1 RE CLASS
ACTION SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

vs.
NESTLE USA, INC., FERRARA CANDY
CO. and DOES 2 through 10, inclusive,
Defendants.
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This Amendment No. 1 to Class Action Settlement Agreement (the “Amendment”), dated
the date last signed below, is made and entered into by and between Class Representatives Jade
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1

Thomas, Carey Hoffman, Regan Iglesia, Larry Fertel, Nosson Chaim Rosenberg, Suzanne

2

Tatkow, Jaime Maxwell, Lauren Debeliso, Meredith Barter, and Patrick Ferguson, on behalf of

3

themselves and the Settlement Class, and Defendants Nestle USA, Inc., Ferrara Candy Co., and

4

Ferrero U.S.A. Inc. This Amendment supersedes and replaces Section 2.32 of the Parties’

5

Settlement Agreement and Release.

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

22525 Pacific Coast Highway
Malibu, CA 90265

6

2.32 “Released Claims” means any and all actual, potential, filed, known or unknown,

7

fixed or contingent, claimed or unclaimed, suspected or unsuspected, asserted or unasserted,

8

claims, demands, liabilities, rights, debts, obligations, liens, contracts, judgments, actions, or

9

causes, whether in law or equity, whether seeking restitution, damages or any other relief

10

(including attorneys’ fees), of any kind or character, known or unknown, that are now recognized

11

by law or that may be created or recognized in the future by statute, regulation, judicial decision,

12

or in any other manner, based upon any federal or state statutory or common law, including,

13

without limitation, claims sounding in tort, contract, and the consumer protection laws of the

14

United States or of any other state, territory or jurisdiction within the United States, as well as

15

under the unfair or deceptive trade practices, trade regulation, consumer fraud, misrepresentation,

16

and false advertising law of the United States or any state, territory or other jurisdiction within the

17

United States that relate to any conduct prior to the date of the Settlement and arise out of the facts

18

alleged in the Action, including the marketing, advertising, labeling, packaging, and filling of the

19

Covered Products. Excluded from the Released Claims are any and all claims for personal injury,

20

wrongful death, and/or emotional distress arising from personal injury. With respect to the claims

21

released pursuant to this paragraph, only the named Plaintiffs, not other settlement class members,

22

shall be deemed to have waived and relinquished, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the

23

provisions, rights and benefits of California Civil Code section 1542 (and equivalent, comparable,

24

or analogous provisions of the laws of the United States of America or any state or territory

25

thereof, or of the common law or civil law). Section 1542 provides that:

26
27
28

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE
CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER
FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF
KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR
HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.
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1

The named Plaintiffs understand and acknowledge the significance of these waivers of California

2

Civil Code Section 1542 and any other applicable federal or state statute, case law, rule, or

3

regulation relating to limitations on releases. In connection with such waivers and relinquishment,

4

the named Plaintiffs acknowledge that they are aware that they may hereafter discover facts in

5

addition to, or different from, those facts that they now know or believe to be true with respect to

6

the subject matter of the Settlement, but that it is their intention to release fully, finally, and

7

forever all Released Claims with respect to the Released Parties and in furtherance of such

8

intention, the release of the Released Claims will be and remain in effect notwithstanding the

9

discovery or existence of any such additional or different facts. Each and every term of this

10

paragraph shall inure to the benefit of each and all of the Released Parties and Released Persons

11

and each and all of their respective successors and personal representatives, which persons and

12

entities are intended to be beneficiaries of this paragraph.

13
14

9/8/2021

DATED: September ___, 2021

15
16
17
18
19

____________________________
Jade Thomas

9/8/2021

DATED: September ___, 2021

____________________________
Carey Hoffman

9/8/2021

DATED: September ___, 2021

20

____________________________
Regan Iglesia

9/8/2021

21

DATED: September ___, 2021

22
23

9/9/2021

DATED: September ___, 2021
24
25
26

____________________________
Larry Fertel
____________________________
Nosson Chaim Rosenberg

9/7/2021

DATED: September ___, 2021

____________________________
Suzanne Tatkow

27
28
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9/8/2021

1
2
3

DATED: September ___, 2021

____________________________
Jaime Maxwell

9/7/2021

DATED: September ___, 2021

4

____________________________
Lauren Debeliso

9/7/2021

5

DATED: September ___, 2021

6
7

____________________________
Meredith Barter

9/9/2021

DATED: September ___, 2021

____________________________
Patrick Ferguson

DATED: September ___, 2021

____________________________
Nestle USA, Inc.

8
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9
10
11
12
By:_________________________

13

Its:_________________________

14
15
16
17

DATED: September ___, 2021

____________________________
Ferrara Candy Company

18
19

By:_________________________

20

Its:_________________________

21
22
23

DATED: September ___, 2021

____________________________
Ferrara Candy Company

24
25
26

By:_________________________
Its:_________________________

27
28
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1

DATED: September ___, 2021

2
3

____________________________
Ferrero U.S.A., Inc.
By:_________________________

4
Its:_________________________

5
6
7
8
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9
10

APPROVED AS TO FORM:
9/7/2021

DATED: September __, 2021

CLARKSON LAW FIRM, P.C.

11
__________________________
Ryan J. Clarkson, Esq.
Shireen M. Clarkson, Esq.
Bahar Sodaify, Esq.
Zach Chrzan, Esq.

12
13
14
9/8/2021

15
16

DATED: September __, 2021

FARUQI & FARUQI, LLP

17

___________________________

18

Benjamin Heikali, Esq.

19

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed
Settlement Class

20
21
22
23

DATED: September __, 2021

MAYER BROWN LLP
___________________________
Dale J. Giali, Esq.
Keri E. Borders, Esq.
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25

Attorneys for Defendants
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28
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